Biological control pre-release studies on the ecological impacts and biotic interactions of *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. (Black locust) with indigenous fauna and flora in South Africa

Gerald Chikowore

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN ENTOMOLOGY (Ph.D)

to the Department of Zoology and Entomology Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences University of the Free State Bloemfontein Republic of South Africa

2021

UNIVERSITY OF THE FREE STATE UNIVERSITEIT VAN DIE VRYSTAAT YUNIVESITHI YA FREISTATA



List of Supervisors

- Frank Chidawanyika (PhD): Associate Researcher, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa & Scientist, International Center for Insect Physiology and Ecology (Icipe), Nairobi, Kenya.
- Grant D. Martin (PhD): Deputy Director, Center for Biological Control (CBC), Rhodes University, Grahamstown 6140, South Africa.

Student Declaration

I, Gerald Chikowore declare that the Doctorate research thesis that I herewith submit at the University of the Free State, is my independent work and that I have not previously submitted it for qualification at another institution of higher education.

gribe

Gerald Chikowore

28 May 2021 Date

Supervisor Declaration



International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology

P. O. Box 30772-00100 Nairobi, Kenya Tel: +254 20 8632000; Fax: +254 20 8632001 icipe@icipe.org — www.icipe.org

24 May 2021 To Whom It May Concern

I, Frank Chidawanyika in my capacity as the supervisor for Gerald Chikowore (student number: 2018446340) hereby approve the submission of his PhD thesis titled *Biological control pre-release* studies on the ecological impacts and biotic interactions of Robinia pseudoacacia L. (Black locust) with indigenous fauna and flora in South Africa for assessment and I confirm that the submitted work has not previously, either in part or its entirety, been submitted to the examiners or moderators.

Yours faithfully

Dr Frank Chidawanyika

Associate Researcher, External Supervisor Department of Zoology and Entomology, UFS









Abstract

The growing invasion of Afromontane grassland ecosystems of South Africa by Robinia pseudoacacia, a tree from North America is threatening this fragile and fast disappearing biome. Despite numerous studies on the species in the northern hemisphere, a serious lack of information in the southern hemisphere was noted. With the species targeted for biological control in South Africa, there is a need to understand its impacts in a local context and set baseline indicators for future evaluation of management interventions. Thus, multi-scaled studies to determine and quantify the impacts of this IAP were undertaken in the eastern Free State Province of South Africa. These included interactions between the invasive alien tree, biotic and abiotic components of the ecosystem, and implications of control on human wellbeing. Robinia pseudoacacia functional traits such as phenology, canopy cover, tree diameter and population demographics such as population density were measured including how these influence abiotic components of the ecosystem such as temperature and light availability (microclimatic conditions). Furthermore, the cascading effects of environmental modification on native vegetation and grassland arthropods as well as interruption of key ecosystem services such as rangeland condition and pollination in agro-ecological ecosystems were evaluated. Contributions of the invasive alien tree to livelihoods of invaded communities were also assessed inorder to avoid any conflict of interest that may arise from its management.

Results showed that invasion by *R. pseudoacacia* significantly transforms understory microclimatic conditions. Temperatures were at least 2°C lower under *R. pseudoacacia* stands as compared to uninvaded grassland while light availability differed by at least 1200 lumens⁻ ft². Grass communities subsequently differed by 96% between invaded plots and adjacent uninvaded grassland. Species richness was significantly lower in the understory where there was a dominance of exotic grasses . Furthermore, these habitat conditions differentially affect

grassland arthropod assemblages, with grasshoppers in the family Acrididae, the most common grassland taxa to be excluded from invaded sites. Apart from the absence of thier main host plants, invasion mediated differences in microenvironments appeared to be the main driver of this shift in arthropod assemblages.

This study also provided evidence that important ecosystem services such as grazing and pollination, are affected by *R.pseudoacacia* invasion. Apart from the reduction in available rangeland, changes in grass communities also significantly lowers the grazing capacity of rangelands. Differences in grass species composition between invaded and uninvaded rangeland resulted in a reduction in range condition especially under smaller and dense *R. pseudoacacia* stands. Furthermore, results from paired flower visitation rates in an agro-ecological system showed that *R. pseudoacacia* shares pollinators with apples. Since the two plants develop flowers during the same period, there is competition for key pollinators such as *Apis mellifera*. Hence, successful pillonation of apples is compromised with a potential reduction in fruit yield and quality.

A survey conducted in this study showed that while the tree is currently being utilised by periurban dwellers, it is not the preferred species for several functions. Several respondents cited harvesting difficulties (due to thorns) and poor firewood qualities (production of bad smoke) as the major reasons for the underutilisation of *R. pseudoacacia*. Moreover, its contribution to household incomes is very insignificant while several negative impacts such as reduction in building space and uncontrollable spreading were noted.

Information generated from this study shows that *R. pseudoacacia* is negatively affecting grassland ecosystems and subsequent ecosystem services. Therefore, there is a need to find a sustainable management solution for the species. Considering the limited success achieved by current management efforts, biological control is expected to be the major technique

implemented for the species. Several impacts quantified in this study can be used to prioritise the species for management as well as a baseline for evaluation of future management interventions.

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and Environment through the Centre for Biological Control, Rhodes University – University of the Free State research partnership. Their generosity is acknowledged and greatly appreciated.

I am grateful to my supervisors, Dr Frank Chidawanyika and Dr Grant D. Martin for offering me the opportunity to undertake this study and their excellent supervision.

My sincere gratitude to Dr Reyard Mutamiswa, Abigal Wolmarans, Sara Salgado Astudillo, Dr Kim Canavan and Serero Modise who assisted with various aspects of data collection during the course this study. Dr Guy Sutton is acknowledged for assistance with data analyses while Prof. Sue Milton-Dean is thanked for her assistance with research material on grazing indices. Kim Weaver provided expert advice in the design of the questionnaire used in this study for which she is enourmously thanked. The various editors and anonymous reviewers for articles published from this research are acknowledged for their contributions to this work.

Thanks to the Clarens Village Conservancy, Lothar Vogl, The Martin family, George Moulsely, Coen Scheeper, Jede Kruger and Dylan Botha for availing their properties for this research.

Lastly, I would like to thank my siblings, friends and relatives for their constant encouragement. To my wife, Tinotenda, kids Tinevimbo and Tinodaishe thank you for your patience, endurance and loving support.

Table of Contents

List of S	upervisorsi
Student]	Declarationi
Supervis	or Declarationi
Abstract	ii
Acknow	ledgementsv
Table of	Contentsvi
List of F	iguresxi
List of T	ablesxv
Chapter	11
General	Introduction1
1.1	Biological invasions
1.2	Invasive Alien Plants
1.3	Invasion of grassland ecosystems4
1.4	Biotic and abiotic interactions7
1.5	Impacts on ecosystem services
1.6	Economic impacts of invasive alien plants9
1.7	Invasive alien trees and rural livelihoods10
1.8	Management of invasive alien plants11
1.8.	1 Mechanical Control11

1.8.	2.2 Chemical Control	12
1.8.	3.3 Biological Control	12
1.8.	8.4 Control of invasive trees in South Africa	13
1.9	Evaluation of IAP control programmes with a biological control component	13
1.10	Study species: Robinia pseudoacacia (Black locust)	16
1.11	Aims	21
Chapter	r 2	23
An asse	essment of the invasive alien tree, Robinia pseudoacacia canopy traits and its	effect on
grasslan	nd microclimates and subsequent arthropod assemblages	23
2.1	Introduction	24
2.2	Materials and methods	28
2.2.	2.1 Study area	28
2.2.	2.2 Robinia pseudoacacia <i>phenology</i>	29
2.2.	2.3 Temperature and light measurements	30
2.2.	2.4 Arthropod assemblages	31
2.2.	2.5 Statistical Analyses	31
2.3	Results	33
2.3.	2.1 Robinia pseudoacacia <i>phenology</i>	33
2.3.	2.2 Thermal and illumination environments	34
2.3.	3.3 Invertebrate assemblages	36
2.4	Discussion	
2.4.	1.1 Conservation implications	43

Chapter 344
Reduction of grazing capacity in high elevation rangelands following Black locust invasion in
South Africa44
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and Methods47
3.2.1 Study site
3.2.2 Robinia pseudoacacia stand characteristics
3.2.3 Understory vegetation composition
3.2.4 Invaded and uninvaded rangeland condition similarities
3.2.5 Statistical analyses
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Robinia pseudoacacia population demographics and canopy characteristics53
3.3.2 Effects of invasion on grass and forb species community composition55
3.3.3 Effects of invasion on rangeland grazing index values
3.4 Discussion61
3.4.1 Robinia pseudoacacia population demographics and canopy characteristics61
3.4.2 Effects of R. pseudoacacia invasion on grass species composition
3.4.3 Effects of invasion on grazing quality64
3.4.1 Implications65
Chapter 467
Integration of invasive tree, Black locust, into agro-ecological flower visitor networks induces
competition for pollination services67

4.1	Introduction	68
4.2	Materials and methods	71
4.2.	.1 Study Area	71
4.2.	.2 Study plant species	72
4.2.	.3 Plant-pollinator interaction and flower visitation	73
4.2.	.4 Statistical Analyses	74
4.3	Results	75
4.3.	.1 Diversity and abundance of flower visitors	75
4.3.	.2 Pollinator visitation rate	78
4.3.	.3 Plant-pollinator visitation network	80
4.4	Discussion	
Chapter	· 5	
Contrib	utions of Black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia L.) to livelihoods of peri-un	ban dwellers
in the Fi	ree State Province of South Africa	86
5.1	Introduction	
5.2	Materials and methods	92
5.2.	.1 Study area	92
5.2.	.2 Sampling approach	
5.2.	.3 Data analysis	94
5.3	Results	94
5.3.	.1 Botanical knowledge	94
5.3.	.2 Utilisation of forest products	96

5.3.3 Management)9
5.4 Discussion)0
hapter 610)3
eneral discussion10)3
6.1 Ecological impacts10)4
6.2 Ecosystem services and disservices10)5
6.3 Conclusion and recommendations10)6
6.3.1 Management considerations10)7
6.3.2 Further research11	0
eferences11	1
ppendices15	50

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Map of South Africa, showing the Grassland Biome (Brown) and Drakensberg
Grassland or High Altitude bioregion (Green). Biome map is derived from Mucina &
Rutherford (2006). WC = Western Cape, EC = Eastern Cape, KZ = KwaZulu-Natal, MP =
Mpumalanga, LMP = Limpopo, GT = Gauteng, FS = Free State, NW = North West, and NC =
Northern Cape provinces
Figure 1.2: A variety of northern temperate weeds invading the grassland biome in eastern
Free State Province, South Africa- Poplar, Pine and Pyracantha species. Photo: Martin G,
2020
Figure 1.3: Stages in the assessment of the success of invasive alien plants using biological
control agents. (redrawn from Cock et al., 2015)15
Figure 1.4: Distribution of Robinia pseudoacacia L. (Fabaceae) based on Global Biodiversity
Information Facility (GBIF) 2019 records17
Figure 1.5: Aerial photography showing reduction in grassland (circled areas) due to Robinia
pseudoacacia invasion over a 50-year period in Clarens, eastern Free State Province, South
Africa. Imagery Source: National Geo-Spatial Information (NGI), Department of Rural
Development and Land Reform, South Africa
Figure 1.6: A Robinia pseudoacacia infestation near Clarens town in eastern Free State South
Africa. Note the escape from the gully and density of the infestation. <i>Photo: Martin G.</i> 19
Figure 1.7: Robinia pseudoacacia resprouting (Top and Bottom) following mechanical
clearance followed by herbicide application in Clarens, eastern Free State, South Africa.
<i>Photos: Martin G, 2019.</i>
Figure 1.8: Thematic areas addressed by the thesis and how they contribute to the broad aim
of establishing a biological control agent post-release evaluation framework

Figure 3.2: Sampling saturations curves based on Mao tau sample-based rarefaction method
(number of species \pm 95% confidence limit) for grasses (A) and forbs (B) at Clifton and
Sunnyside properties in eastern Free State, South Africa
Figure 3.3: Differences in canopy cover (CaCo) (A), densities (B) and diameter at breast height
(DBH) (C) of <i>Robinia pseudoacacia</i> across sites (mean \pm 95% confidence limits). Means with
the same letter are not significantly different from each other
Figure 3.4: Two-dimensional non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) plot showing
grass species composition in plots invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia and adjacent uninvaded
rangeland based on Bray-Curtis distance
Figure 3.5: Grass species abundance in uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by Robinia
pseudoacacia in eastern Free State, South Africa57
Figure 3.6 : Differences in grass (A) and forb (B) diversity (Shannon-Weiner index) (mean ±
95% confidence limits) between uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by Robinia
pseudoacacia in eastern Free State, South Africa. Means with the same letter are not
significantly different from each other
Figure 3.7: Differences in vegetation cover (mean \pm 95% confidence limits) between
uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia in eastern Free State,
South Africa. Means with the same letter are not significantly different from each other60
Figure 4.1: Map of the study area showing location of the apple orchards (<i>Malus domestica</i>)
in relation to the Black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia) patches at Ionia in the eastern Free State,
South Africa74
Figure 4.2: Some of the flower visitors observed on Malus domestica (top row) and Robinia
pseudoacacia (bottom row) belonging to Diptera (A, D & E), Lepidoptera (B & F),
Hymenoptera (C & G) and Coleoptera (H). <i>Photos: Chikowore G., 2019</i> 76

Figure 4.3: Abundance of flower visitors in Malus domestica orchard and adjacent Robinia
pseudoacacia patches at Ionia Farm in Eastern Free State, South Africa. Note difference in
scale when comparing visitor abundance to each plant species
Figure 4.4: Flower visitation rates (visitors flower ⁻¹ hour ⁻¹) (median) on Malus domestica
(Apple) in light grey and Robinia pseudoacacia (Black locust) in dark grey. The visitors were
grouped into (A) Hymenoptera, (B) Diptera and (C) other orders. Boxplots with different letters
indicate significant differences in visitation rates between plant species
Figure 4.5: Bipartite interaction network for Malus domestica (Apple) and Robinia
pseudoacacia (Black locust) visitors. Black boxes represent flower-visiting insects in the upper
level, and plants in the lower level, their widths indicate the number of visits recorded. Grey
links indicate plant-flower visitor interactions, and the breadth of the links represent visitation
frequency
Figure 5.1: Distribution of invasive alien plants in the eastern Free State, South Africa. Data
sources: The South African Plant Invaders Atlas (SAPIA) and iNaturalist
Figure 5.2: Tree species mentioned by respondents in eastern Free State, South Africa. Species
names are given with native Sotho names in brackets. Native species are marked by an asterisk.
Figure 5.3: Perceptions of respondents to densities of Robinia pseudoacacia in eastern Free
State, South Africa95
Figure 5.4: Frequency of Robinia pseudoacacia and R. pseudoacacia products use by peri-
urban inhabitants in eastern Free State, South Africa96
Figure 5.5: Uses of common alien invasive trees by peri-urban dwellers in eastern Free State,
South Africa97
Figure 5.6: Perceived negative effects of <i>Robinia pseudoacacia</i> by peri-urban communities in
eastern Free State, South Africa

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Minimum and maximum temperatures and maximum light intensity recorded at microhabitats in eastern Free State. Data represents the extreme recording for each site......35 Table 2.2: Summary of ANOVA on temperature and light intensity of sampled Robinia Table 2.3: Multivariate analysis for arthropod abundance in habitats invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia and adjacent uninvaded grassland at Clifton and Sunnyside Farms, South Africa Table 3.1: Summary of ANOVA on canopy cover, tree densities and Diameter at Breast Height (DBH) of sampled Robinia pseudoacacia stands......54 Table 3.2: Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) on grass Table 3.3: Similarity percentages for grasses between open rangeland and under Robinia

Table 3.4: Linear Mixed Model selection matrix based on semi-parametric bootstrapping of

 parameter estimates for Veld Condition Index (VCI) values in open rangeland and habitats

 invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia at Clifton and Sunnyside properties in eastern Free State,

 South Africa.
 61

Table 4.2: Rank sum pair-wise Kruskal –Wallis comparison test with p-values adjusted with
the Bonferroni method results for variation in visitation rates (visitors flower ⁻¹ hour ⁻¹) between
Robinia pseudoacacia and Malus domestica flowers. Significant effects are denoted by a bold
font
Table 4.3: Network level metrics for plant - flower visitor interactions in <i>Malus domestica</i> and
Robinia pseudoacacia81
Table 5.1: Uses frequently cited by respondents for common invasive alien plants in eastern
Free State grasslands

1	CHAPTER 1
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
10	Concred Introduction
12 13	General Introduction
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	

27 **1.1 Biological invasions**

Globalization brought and continues to bring numerous societal benefits, among them 28 29 increased trade and improved access to food for deficient areas (Hynes, 2014). This movement 30 has resulted in the exchange of biological material between regions (Le Maitre *et al.*, 2004). This exchange can be either deliberate, for example, the introduction of edible species, 31 32 ornamental plants, and plantation crops or accidental where weeds and pests are transported as 'hitchhikers' (Mack, 2003). While not all introduced species turn out to be invasive, those that 33 34 do have an impact on ecosystems (Pysek & Richardson, 2008). There is evidence that they 35 threaten native biological diversity, ecosystem function and human wellbeing (Le Maitre et al., 2004; Moore, 2005; Van Wilgen et al., 2014; Shackleton et al., 2019) as well as having 36 significant economic implications (Diagne *et al.*, 2020). Bioregions are reportedly losing their 37 ecological distinctiveness due to a reduction in biodiversity and there are fears of 38 homogenization of global ecosystems as a result of biological invasions (Olden et al., 2011). 39

An understanding of the drivers of invasion such as propagule pressure and disturbance has 40 grown substantially (Richardson et al., 2007; van Wilgen et al., 2020). At local scales, 41 anthropogenic activities and climate change are some of the factors aiding the establishment 42 and success of invasive alien species (Mack et al., 2000; Le Maitre, 2004; Moore, 2005; 43 44 Richardson & Pysek, 2008). However, some invaders do not necessarily need disturbance in order to establish in new ranges. For example, privet (Ligustrum robustum subsp. walker 45 (Roxb.) Blume: Oleaceae), described as an 'ideal' invader in the Indian Ocean Islands of 46 Reunion and Mauritius largely thrives in undisturbed habitats (Lavergene et al., 1999). This 47 explains the importance of understanding invader traits in order to anticipate their success, 48 spread and impacts in invaded environments. 49

50 While invasive alien species are generally defined in terms of negative impacts on native 51 biodiversity, it is difficult to generalize between species and regions (Chytry *et al.*, 2005). There is evidence that impacts of invasive alien species vary across spatial scales where they 52 53 depend on the interaction of the species and the environment. For instance, South Africa has diverse environmental conditions in its nine terrestrial biomes hence the impacts of invasive 54 alien species vary across biomes. For example, a biome scale assessment of the impacts of 55 invasive alien species on biodiversity was found to be more severe in the fynbos than other 56 biomes assessed (van Wilgen et al., 2008a). 57

58 **1.2 Invasive Alien Plants**

59 Plants constitute a significant proportion of invasive alien species and have been widely studied (Moran et al., 2013). Invasive alien plants (IAPs) have been reported to adversely affect plant 60 and animal communities (Sitzia et al., 2012), reduce water availability (Le Maitre et al., 2016; 61 Preston et al., 2018) and alter soil chemical properties (Ehrenfeld, 2003) among other vital 62 ecosystem components. In addition, they also pose a threat to agricultural ecosystems, as they 63 compete with crops, potentially reducing food quality and quantity (Westbrooks, 1998). 64 Although woody plants constitute a small proportion of introduced plants, they have the largest 65 spatial coverage with the worst ecological impacts while presenting more conflict of interest 66 67 than any other taxa (van Wilgen et al., 2008b). Of the 100 worst invasive taxa listed globally by the Invasive Species Specialist Group (ISSG) an unequal percentage are invasive tree 68 species (Lowe, 2000). According to Tyler et al. (2020), woody invasive species have in recent 69 70 years been outcompeting other invasive species in several countries in Europe, this is also apparent in South Africa (Van Wilgen et al., 2020). 71

73 In South Africa, woody IAPs are estimated to cover more than 10 million hectares, translating to over 8% of the total land area (Van Wilgen et al., 2001; Nyoka, 2003). In addition, South 74 Africa has more invasive trees per square kilometre than any other country (Henderson, 2001). 75 76 For example, Eucalyptus camaldulensis Dehnh (Myrtaceae) reportedly covers over 500 000 ha in South Africa alone (Hirsch et al., 2020). While efforts to curtail further spread are underway, 77 the list of invading trees and areas under invasion continues to change due to new introductions, 78 spread of existing species and control efforts (Henderson & Wilson, 2007). These invasive 79 trees are distributed across all the nine biomes of South Africa, although some such as the 80 81 fynbos and grassland biome have been more affected than others.

82

1.3 Invasion of grassland ecosystems

Grassland ecosystems are the largest worldwide representing 40.5% of terrestrial land area 83 84 (Suttie *et al.*, 2005). These assume different names such as prairies, steppes, savannahs, veldts or veld, rangelands, pampas, llanos and cerrados, depending on geographical region (WWF, 85 https://www.worldwildlife.org/habitats/grasslands). In South Africa, grasslands make up 30% 86 of the total land surface area, making them the second largest biome in the country (SANBI, 87 2013) (Fig. 1.1). They provide several key ecosystem services, among them grazing for both 88 domestic and wild animals. In South Africa, grasslands support 60% of commercial agriculture, 89 90 of which 44% is range-based cattle production (SANBI, 2013; O'Connor & van Wilgen, 2020). Further, services such as thatching grass and traditional medicines which are key to livelihoods 91 in rural populations in South Africa, are also obtained from this biome (Kobisi et al., 2019). 92 Moreover, montane grasslands of South Africa are the major source of the country's fresh water 93 as most rivers have their heads in this biome (Taylor et al., 2016). 94



Figure 1.1: Map of South Africa, showing the Grassland Biome (Brown) and Drakensberg
Grassland or High Altitude bioregion (Green). Biome map is derived from Mucina &
Rutherford (2006). WC = Western Cape, EC = Eastern Cape, KZ = KwaZulu-Natal, MP =
Mpumalanga, LMP = Limpopo, GT = Gauteng, FS = Free State, NW = North West, and NC =
Northern Cape provinces.

101 The Grassland biome of South Africa is dominated by herbaceous, short and simple structured 102 vegetation and is regarded as a biodiversity hotspot with several endemic plant species (Mucina et al., 2006; Clark et al., 2011). However, grasslands, including the South African grassland 103 biome, are increasingly becoming fragmented by among other factors such as anthropogenic 104 disturbances, global change and woody plant invasions (Archer et al., 2017). In South Africa, 105 106 this biome is under threat from several disturbances such as habitat transformation from agriculture, mining, plantations, changing fire regimes, human habitation as well as invasive 107 alien plants (Henderson & Wilson, 2007; SANBI, 2013; Martin, 2019). Thus, grasslands are 108

losing their native diversity and associated services such as pollination services and grazing
capacity (Hansen *et al.*, 2018; Yapi *et al.*, 2018; O'connor & van Wilgen, 2020).

South African grasslands have been invaded by more than 320 invasive alien plants dominated 111 by Fabaceae, Rosaceae, Salicaceae, Myrtaceae and Cactaceae families (Henderson, 2001, 112 2007). Woody alien plants in particular are successful invaders of grasslands as they use their 113 aerial dominance to alter microhabitats, leading to displacement of native grassland vegetation 114 (Hejda et al., 2009). While some IAPs in the montane grasslands have a control programme 115 against them (Klein, 2011), several do not, despite having evident impacts on the environment. 116 The majority of those species which currently do not have co-ordinated control programmes, 117 originate in the northern hemisphere. Examples include Salix spp; Poplar spp, Pyracantha 118 angustifolia, Marsh (Rosaceae), Robinia pseudoacacia L. (Fabaceae), Rubus spp., Rosa 119 rubiginosa L. (Rosaceae) and Gleditsia triacanthos L. (Fabaceae) (Fig. 1.2) (Martin, 2021). 120 121 However, some of these species such as Australian Acacias and Eucalyptus species have been on the priority list of the South African government for some time due to their current or 122 anticipated impacts (Van Wilgen et al., 2008b). 123



124

Figure 1.2: A variety of northern temperate weeds invading the grassland biome in eastern
Free State Province, South Africa- *Poplar*, *Pine* and *Pyracantha* species. *Photo: Martin G*,
2020.

128 **1.4 Biotic and abiotic interactions**

Invasive alien plants can modify ecological communities and ultimately ecosystem function
(Van Wilgen *et al.*, 2008a; Clusella-Trullas & Garcia 2017). For example, Livingstone *et al.*(2020) showed that the invasive vine, *Vincetoxicum rossicum* (Kleopow) Barbar.
(Apocynaceae), reduced plant community diversity and altered trophic interactions. While,
these findings are not unique to this study as there is abundant literature on the impacts of IAPs
on community structure and function (Hejda *et al.*, 2009; Lazzaro *et al.*, 2019; Pysek *et al.*,
2012), the manner in which they occur is highly dependent on local environmental conditions

and the invading species' functional traits (Milanovic *et al.*, 2020). These traits include size,
fitness, high growth rates, high reproductive capacity among others (van Kleunen *et al.*, 2010).

138 The mechanism by which IAPs alter both above- and below-ground biophysical components of the ecosystem determines the nature and direction of responses by ecosystems. For instance, 139 140 microclimates are a key determinant of ecological niches for various plant and animal 141 assemblages and the resultant interactions (Vallés et al., 2011). However, mechanisms such as shading and, shifts in temperature and light regimes modify habitat structure and physiological 142 requirements of dependent organisms. For example, in the Nama-Karoo biome of South Africa, 143 144 Yelenik et al. (2004) found a reduction in the abundance of native grasses due to the shading effect of Acacia saligna (Labill.) H.L.Wendl. (Fabaceae) whilst promoting the weedy, shade 145 tolerant Erharta calycina Sm. (Poaceae). Furthermore, some IAPs have been found to alter soil 146 physicochemical properties through mechanisms such as biological nitrogen fixation and 147 allelopathy, an effect more pronounced for leguminous trees from the Fabaceae family 148 149 (Ehrenfeld, 2003; Marchante et al., 2008). Several IAPs also alter the water budget, encouraging the proliferation of species which are adapted for water scarce environments 150 (Gorgens & van Wilgen 2004). Alteration in fire regimes has also been associated with alien 151 152 plants and has the effect of destroying seedbanks for native vegetation (Brooks et al., 2014).

153

1.5 Impacts on ecosystem services

Key ecosystem services such as grazing and water provision across all biomes in South Africa are likely to be impacted by invasive alien plants by up to 71% in the future (van Wilgen *et al.*, 2008a). Despite widespread assessments of environmental impacts of invasive alien plants and services derived therein, agroecological systems have received less attention (Pratt *et al.*, 2017). In South Africa, particularly the grasslands of eastern Free State Province, there is a mixture of range-based livestock production, cropping and horticulture (Hensley *et al.*, 2006). 160 Thus they form an important agro-ecological system. Key ecosystem service requirements for this system include pollination for crops as well as grazing for both domestic and wild fauna. 161 However, the introduction of novel resources in the form of invasive alien plants potentially 162 affects the provision of ecosystem services. While, Hansen et al. (2018) reported a reduction 163 in pollination of native grassland vegetation due to invasion mediated fragmentation, there is 164 little information on how cropping systems are affected. However, judging from the increasing 165 hire of bee colonies for pollination services there is a decline in natural pollinators or the 166 available pool is overstretched. Similarly, the capacity of grasslands to provide grazing has 167 168 reportedly been affected by Australian Acacia and Prosopis species (Ndhlovu et al., 2011; Yapi et al., 2018). While these two ecosystem services are easy to quantify due to their economic 169 significance, the same is not true for other services such as cultural. However, this does not 170 171 signify their triviality, hence the need for a holistic approach in quantifying the impacts of invasive alien plants on ecosystem structure and function. 172

173 **1.6 Economic impacts of invasive alien plants**

Economic impacts of IAPs arise from their direct effects on ecosystems leading to losses in 174 175 critical services such as pollination, grazing and water provisioning among others. Pimentel et al. (2005), estimated the costs of invasion by more than 25 000 plants at US\$35 billion annually 176 in the United States. In South Africa, various sector specific losses have been documented for 177 specific species. For example, Humphrey et al. (2019), quantified potential loses in the 178 livestock sector due to invasion of grasslands by Robinia pseudoacacia L. (Fabaceae) at ~ 179 US\$39 million. These losses were attributed to reduced grazing as the cover of the IAP 180 181 increases. Prior to biological control of the invasive aquatic weed, Azolla filiculoides Lam. (Azollaceae), economic impacts were estimated at US\$58 million (de Wit et al., 2001). These 182 were as a result of disrupted irrigation and reduced access to water for livestock. Economic 183

184 impacts of invasion not only arise from environmental damage, but also from costs of managing invasions. For example, South Africa spent approximately US\$100 million to manage invasive 185 alien plants between 1995 and 2000 (de Wit et al., 2001) while the costs of managing cacti 186 187 were estimated at US\$45 million prior to the introduction of biological control agents. Similarly, the economic costs of controlling four aquatic weeds, Pista stratiotes L. (Araceae), 188 Salvinia molesta D.S. Mitch. (Salviniaceae), A. filiculoides and Myriophyllum aquaticum 189 190 (Vell.) Verdc. (Haloragaceae) were estimated at R1 billion if mechanical and chemical means were to be applied (Maluleke et al., 2020). These are funds that could have been used elsewhere 191 192 to improve the livelihoods of people.

193

3 1.7 Invasive alien trees and rural livelihoods.

194 Rural inhabitants in most developing countries including the grasslands of South Africa rely on ecosystems and the services they provide for their livelihoods (Adams et al., 2018; Wisely 195 et al., 2018). For instance, grassland inhabitants obtain some of their house construction 196 materials (thatching grass), sweeping brooms and medicines from the diverse plants of this 197 ecosystem. However, the introduction of alien plants affects the relationship between society 198 199 and ecosystems. While there is evidence of negative impacts of these alien species on 200 ecosystems and societies in general, there are some species which are being used in invaded communities (Shackleton et al., 2015). Control of such species often results in conflicts as they 201 202 variably impact on different sections of the society. Examples of such tree species include 203 Eucalyptus globulus Labill. (Myrtaceae), Acacia mearnsii De Wild. (Fabaceae), A. saligna, and *Pinus pinaster* Aiton (Pinaceae) which were largely introduced as plantation trees for 204 205 timber. It has also been argued that perceptions of invasive alien species are based on prejudices as focus is directed more towards negative rather than positive impacts (Bonanno, 2016). 206 Seastedt (2014) postulated that some invasive plant species are gaining recognition in the 207

208 mitigation of global environmental change. There is also the realization that it might not be possible to restore native vegetation (Ruwanza & Tshililo, 2019) and invasive plants may 209 provide some of the services derived from natives (Walther et al., 2009; Erviner et al., 2012; 210 Seastedt, 2014). In some instances, some invasive alien plants offset their impact through 211 provision of other services beneficial to society. Given these conflicting views from local to 212 scientific communities on the role of certain invasive alien species, there is a need to harmonize 213 214 divergent views in the design of IAP control programmes and attempt to find a balance between the negative and positive impacts. 215

216

1.8 Management of invasive alien plants

Knowledge of invasive alien species and their impacts has grown exponentially over the last 217 218 decades which has culminated in improved management strategies which are often reliant on understanding the ecology of the invading species (Ramírez-Albores, 2019). Local ecological 219 interactions play a role in the responses of different species to management (Blackburn et al., 220 2011; Bartz & Kowarik, 2019; Robertson et al., 2020). Environmental variability on a spatial 221 scale also shapes the response of alien plants to control (Vicente et al., 2019). Management of 222 223 biological invasions need to have both ecological and social considerations if they are to be successful. In addition, there are growing demands for quantifiable success indicators for 224 management initiatives. 225

226

1.8.1 Mechanical Control

Invasive alien plants can be controlled manually by felling, ring barking or hand pulling. These measures constitute mechanical control. In South Africa, mechanical control forms the backbone of the Working for Water, a programme aimed at clearing invasive alien plants while providing employment to marginalised communities (Turpie *et al.*, 2008). Mechanical clearing has further been incorporated into wide-scale expanded public works programmes awarded to organized entities. However, regrowth is always a challenge hence the need for continuous
follow-ups. Furthermore, the costs of clearing are very high and implementation in difficult
terrain is often a challenge.

235

1.8.2 Chemical Control

Herbicides may be applied against targeted plants. These can be used singly or as part of an 236 integrated approach. In many terrestrial plant control programmes, herbicides are applied as a 237 follow-up to mechanical control to prevent coppicing. While wide coverage might be achieved 238 239 through aerial applications, there are concerns over non-target effects. Moreover, where there is targeted application, areas covered are minimal and access is usually a concern. Efficacy is 240 also dependent on the ability of the applicator to detect even the smallest plants. For example, 241 242 juvenile Opuntia stricta Haworth. (Cactaceae) plants were often missed during chemical control in Kruger National Park (Lotter & Hoffmann, 1998). Thus, the demand for 243 reapplication drives costs high. In recent years, there has been a drive towards improved 244 environmental safety. Hence, biological control is one of the options which has been 245 highlighted globally and in South Africa as a cost effective, safe and sustainable management 246 247 option.

248 1.8.3 Biological Control

Biological control against invasive alien plants involves the use of introduced, highly selective herbivorous arthropods and/or pathogens (Zachariades *et al.*, 2017). This is typical of classical biological control of pests as the natural enemies (biological control agents) are sourced from the origin of the invasive plants and have co-evolved with their host (Cock *et al.*, 2015). For IAPs, biological control has been adopted by 85 countries and the general consensus is that it has minimal impact on the environment and relatively lower costs compared with other methods such as chemical and mechanical control (Winston *et al.*, 2014; Hill *et al.*, 2020). In South Africa, 87 agents have been released against 66 IAPs (Zachariades *et al.*, 2017). In some
instances, more than one agent has been released for a single IAP. South Africa has had
significant success in managing invasive tree species using integrated control measures.

259

1.8.4 Control of invasive trees in South Africa

Despite the difficulty of controlling invasive alien trees, notable successes have been reported 260 for several species in South Africa (Marais et al., 2004; Moran et al., 2013; Hill et al., 2020). 261 While huge sums of money have been spent on mechanical and chemical control in the past, 262 263 the majority of successful programmes integrate biological control (Zachariades et al., 2017). Examples include the successful control of Sesbania punicea (Cav.) Benth. (Fabaceae) in South 264 Africa using three biological control agents (Hoffmann & Moran, 1991). These authors 265 266 reported that the three agents, Trichapion lativentre Beguin- Billcorcq (Coleoptera) (florivorous), Rhyssomatus *marginatus* (Coleoptera) Fahraeus (seed feeder) 267 and Neodiplogrammus quadrivittatus (Coleoptera) Olivier (stem borer) managed to reduce the 268 growth, phenology and fecundity of the host, S. punicea leading to a reduction in population 269 densities in as little as two years. Another example is the control of Australian acacias using a 270 271 combination of flower galling wasps and seed attacking agents (Melenterius species) that have successfully reduced the reproductive capacity of the target species (Richardson et al., 2015; 272 Impson *et al.*, 2021). This strategy to induce reproductive sterility has been applied mainly on 273 274 species with the potential to generate conflicts where halting further landscape spread rather than population reduction is desired (Impson et al., 2011). 275

276

1.9 Evaluation of IAP control programmes with a biological control component

277 Many attempts have been made to assess the success of invasive alien control programmes 278 (Morin *et al.*, 2009). However, approaches tend to vary from one region to the other. In South 279 Africa, notable attempts have been made to evaluate the control of invasive alien plants in the 280 Cape Floristic Region (CFR) (van Wilgen et al., 2020). The most common measure of success in all these attempts was the reduction in the cover of alien plants as an indicator of success. 281 Hoffmann (1995) categorised success of biological control programmes on a qualitative scale 282 283 based on costs and the need for further interventions. However, this system has since been revised and an improved evaluation system has been conceptualized and is now being 284 implemented (Hoffmann et al., 2019; Moran et al., 2021). This approach defines parameters 285 286 and categories of success based on plant population dynamics measurable approximately 10 years post agent release. In general, including Hoffmann et al. (2019) the key consideration in 287 288 the control of IAPs is the return to ecosystem functioning. To measure success at ecosystem level, Paterson et al. (2010) established native diversity linked benchmarks for the control of 289 290 Pereskia aculeata Miller (Cactaceae) in South Africa. Similar parameters were used to evaluate 291 biological control of two aquatic weeds P. stratiotes and S. molesta (Coetzee et al., 2020; Motitsoe et al., 2020). In both cases, the authors found significant recovery of 292 macroinvertebrate communities following the release and action of biological control agents. 293 294 Thus, this highlights the importance of both pre-release and post-release studies especially for biological control programmes (McFadyen, 1998). 295

296 The restoration of ecosystem structure and function following invasive alien plants control is 297 often a complex process. In many instances passive restoration has failed because of a number of factors. Some IAPs have legacy effects such as nitrogen fixation which results in a lag phase 298 between effective population control and ecosystem recovery. For example, while Ndhlovu et 299 300 al. (2011) believed natural restoration was taking place following the removal of *Prosopis* from 301 rangelands, they acknowledged the absence of a representative pre-intervention site to benchmark their findings. Clearing invasive alien plants may also create a niche for secondary 302 invasion thus compromising ecosystem restoration (Ruwanza, 2019). In addition, several 303 invaders have assumed provisioning services to invaded communities hence the need to strike 304

305 a balance between control and these services. Cock et al. (2015), differentiated between biological control success and impact with the former dealing with processes of agent 306 establishment and action on target pests and the later dealing with societal and environmental 307 308 benefits ensuing from control of the pest (Fig. 1.3). However, the underlying requirement for all approaches is the need for quantifiable and comprehensive baseline data to remove 309 ambiguity in post-control evaluations (Blossey et al., 2018). Not only is this data critical in the 310 evaluation of success, but it also aids the selection of agents which with a likelihood of success 311 (McFadyen, 1998). 312



313

Figure 1.3: Stages in the assessment of the success of invasive alien plants using biological



317 **1.10 Study species:** *Robinia pseudoacacia* (Black locust)

Robinia pseudoacacia L. (Black locust), a tree species native to North America, is one of the 318 319 most widely distributed species outside its native range as it covers greater parts of Europe, Asia, temperate South America, Africa, Australia and New Zealand (Sitzia et al., 2016; 320 321 Vítková et al., 2017). Its deliberate introduction and propagation was driven by various societal 322 needs including timber production, land reclamation, as an ornamental plant as well as 323 apiculture (Cierjacks et al., 2013; Vítková et al., 2017). Although R. pseudoacacia is regarded as a pioneer species in abandoned agricultural fields and pastures (Czarapata, 2005; Von Holle 324 325 & Motzkin, 2007), it can spread to undisturbed sites such as forests, woodlands, riparian zones, thickets and grasslands replacing native vegetation (Rehounkova & Prach, 2008). Its ability to 326 propagate rapidly through root suckers and abundant seed banks (Call & Nilsen, 2003) renders 327 it highly invasive. Vegetative regeneration has been identified as key to R. pseudoacacia 328 establishment, spread, and persistence (Stone, 2009). In South Africa, R. pseudoacacia is 329 330 considered a category 1b invasive species which is prohibited but exempted if in possession or under control (DEA, 2016). Records from the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF) 331 show presence in 32 other countries including South Africa (Fig. 1.3). According to Redei et 332 333 al. (2017), R. pseudoacacia covers approximately 4 million hectares globally, 63% of which are in Europe. There is a strong possibility that the current distribution is wider than reported 334 335 as in some cases information is scanty especially in Africa as limitations have been noted on invasive species studies on both taxonomic and geographic scales (Nel et al., 2004; Pyšek & 336 337 Richardson, 2010; Martin, 2019).



Figure 1.4: Distribution of *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. (Fabaceae) based on Global Biodiversity
Information Facility (GBIF) 2019 records.

339

In South Africa, all the nine provinces have been invaded by R. pseudoacacia and its 342 detrimental effects are becoming evident (Fig 1.4 & 1.5) (Henderson & Wilson, 2007). Despite 343 extensive studies on *R. pseudoacacia* in the northern hemisphere, a review by Martin (2019) 344 345 showed that its impacts on native biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in South Africa and the southern hemisphere in general are not well documented. In addition, both its positive and 346 negative contributions to livelihoods of poor rural populations of the country are unknown. 347 Localized efforts to control this invasive alien tree using mechanical and chemical methods 348 have resulted in intense coppicing and root sprouting (Fig. 1.6) as also reported around the 349 world (Jackson & Strait, 1987; Vitkova et al., 2017). Martin (2019) highlighted a number of 350 chemical options available for the control of *R. pseudoacacia*. While variable levels of success 351
were recorded, the major concern is regeneration of stands especially from root suckers. Besides the limited success achieved with mechanical and chemical methods, their labour intensive nature and occurrence of the tree in terrain which is difficult to access makes them less desirable. Given its detrimental impacts and management difficulties, *R. pseudoacacia* has been prioritized for biological control in South Africa under the recently developed Biological Control Target Selection (BCTS) system (Canavan *et al.*, 2021; Martin, 2019).



358

Figure 1.5: Aerial photography showing reduction in grassland (circled areas) due to *Robinia pseudoacacia* invasion over a 50-year period in Clarens, eastern Free State Province, South
Africa. Imagery Source: National Geo-Spatial Information (NGI), Department of Rural
Development and Land Reform, South Africa.



363

Figure 1.6: A *Robinia pseudoacacia* infestation near Clarens town in eastern Free State South

365 Africa. Note the density of the infestation. *Photo: Martin G.*



Figure 1.7: *Robinia pseudoacacia* resprouting (Top and Bottom) following mechanical
clearance followed by herbicide application in Clarens, eastern Free State, South Africa. *Photos: Martin G, 2019.*

372 **1.11 Aims**

The aim of this thesis was to establish impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* on grassland ecosystems
which might act as baseline data for future management of the species in South Africa (Fig.
1.8).

The first objective was to ascertain the canopy traits of *R. pseudoacacia* in South African grasslands and related changes in understory microclimates. The effect of these changes on endemic grassland arthropod community assembly were further evaluated. These three components constitute Chapter 2 and establish the functional traits that need to be monitored in order to conserve the functional diversity of grasslands. In addition, they give an indication of plant-based measurements of successful control of *R. pseudoacacia*.

The impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* invasion on biodiversity were further followed up in Chapters 382 3 and 4 where effects on key ecosystem services were explored. Grazing is a key grassland 383 384 ecosystem service which is dependent on the diversity, quality and cover of grasses. Thus any reduction in the grass diversity can potentially affect economic livestock production. Similarly, 385 pollination is important in maintaining natural plant diversity as well as improving yields in 386 387 agroecosystems. In view of the increasing expenses on hired bee colonies for pollination services by farmers, the return to natural pollination is therefore desirable. These two 388 ecosystem level parameters form the long term success indicators of control measures. 389

Some invasive alien species have been integrated into the livelihoods of local communities especially in developing countries. This necessitates the evaluation of interactions between the invasive alien tree and invaded communities. Information on how communities are using the resource, its perceived values and negative impacts inform management goals and strategies. These aspects are explored in Chapter 5 where potential valuable contributions of *R*. *pseudoacacia* to vulnerable communities in South Africa are assessed.



Figure 1.8: Thematic areas addressed by the thesis and how they contribute to the broad aim

399 of establishing a biological control agent post-release evaluation framework.

407	CHAPTER 2
408	
409	
410	
411	
412	
413	
414	
415	
416	An assessment of the invasive alien tree, <i>Robinia pseudoacacia</i> canopy traits
417	and its effect on grassland microclimates and subsequent arthropod
418	assemblages*
419	
420	
120	
421	
422	
425	
424	
425	
426	
427	* Published as: Chikowore, G., Martin, G.D. & Chidawanyika F. (2021) An assessment of the
428	invasive alien tree, Robinia pseudoacacia canopy traits and its effect on grassland
429	microclimates and subsequent arthropod assemblages. Journal of Insect Conservation.

431 **2.1 Introduction**

Habitat transformation, climate change and invasive alien species are the major threats to 432 433 ecosystem structure, integrity and function (Erviner et al., 2012; Walther et al., 2009). By interfering with coevolved interactions between biotic and abiotic components, invasive alien 434 435 species modify ecosystems, to the detriment of their integrity and human wellbeing (Shackleton 436 et al., 2019; Walther, 2010). Impacts of invasive alien species on ecological interactions can be direct or indirect. For example, dietary shifts have been observed especially in pollinators 437 following invasion by plants with showy inflorescences (Gibson et al., 2013) or increased 438 439 dominance of canopy dwelling arthropods when grasslands are invaded by woody trees (Andersen et al., 2019). Of interest, is how invasive plants can alter ecosystem structure, 440 community assembly and subsequent trophic interactions such as predation and competition. 441

Plants have the highest number of taxa invading terrestrial and aquatic environments and as 442 such, many studies have been conducted to quantify their impacts (van Wilgen et al., 2020). 443 444 For example, there is ample evidence to show that invasive alien plants (IAPs) modify 445 ecosystems through reduction of water availability and quality (Le Maitre et al., 2002), change soil chemical composition (Marchante et al., 2008) and reduce native plant and animal diversity 446 447 (Hejda et al., 2009). These impacts result from complex interaction between the invaded environment and IAP functional traits (Yelenik et al., 2007). Thus, IAPs, through their 448 functional traits, which include canopy characteristics, seed production rates, water use and 449 biological nitrogen fixation can alter microclimates and microhabitats (van Kleunen et al., 450 2010; Milanovic et al., 2020). Furthermore, the release of root and leaf leachates may have 451 452 inhibitory effect on the growth of competing plants (Thiébaut et al., 2019). Alteration of the physical environment by changing thermal regimes and illumination due to the shading effect 453 of IAPs may also result in the creation of novel environments in which natives fail to adapt or 454

455 compete (Lazzaro *et al.*, 2018). This can lead to a gradual change in plant succession trends,
456 an effect that cascades through trophic levels (Schirmel *et al.*, 2016).

Grasslands are the largest biome covering over 40% of the global surface area, making them 457 habitat to many endemic plant and animal species worldwide (Suttie et al., 2005). Moreover, 458 grasslands provide natural grazing as a service to both wildlife and range-based livestock 459 460 production systems (Palmer & Ainslie, 2005; Humphrey et al., 2019; O'Connor & van Wilgen, 2020). Unfortunately, this biome is rapidly being transformed due to natural and anthropogenic 461 disturbances (van Wilgen et al., 2008). For example, highland grasslands in South Africa are 462 becoming fragmented due to agricultural activity as well as invasion by a number of alien plants 463 (Wigley et al., 2010; Carbutt, 2012). Woody plants, in particular, have been successful invaders 464 in grasslands as they have superior traits such as high canopy cover which alter habitat 465 466 conditions for native grassland flora (Hejda et al., 2009; Chikowore et al., 2021).

To fully understand the influence of invasive alien plant traits on invaded communities, it is 467 468 necessary to study the ecology of the species in their native and invaded ranges. This includes knowledge of the growth season and characteristics of the plants. The growth season of plants 469 is defined by their phenology, which in turn influences certain ecological processes 470 471 (Richardson et al., 2018). For instance, plant productivity, carbon storage, evapotranspiration and trophic interactions such as predation and pollination all depend on plant phenology 472 (Brown et al., 2016; Richardson et al., 2019). Spatio-temporal variability in phenology also 473 offers an opportunity to monitor forest health as it is linked to climatic variation and other 474 stresses such as pest damage (Richardson et al., 2009). For example, the impact of late spring 475 frost on the deciduous tree, American buckeye, Aesculus glabra Wild. (Sapindaceae), induced 476 stresses which persisted beyond the year of occurrence (Augspurger, 2011). Therefore, 477 monitoring the timing and intensity of canopy greenness enables the tracking of critical plant 478 479 growth phases and helps to predict key ecological processes.

480 Temperatures also have a direct impact on plant and animal growth processes (Sendall et al., 2015). At the centre of the climate change debate temperature fluctuations are at the core. This 481 is particularly important for endemic ectotherms, which rely on ambient temperature for their 482 483 thermoregulation. Forest shelters modulate microclimates creating conditions that are unique and differentially suitable for other organisms. For instance, in a study to quantify the effect of 484 canopy openness and seasonality on microclimates in France, Gaudio et al. (2017) found 485 minimum temperatures to be higher and maximum temperatures to be lower under tree 486 canopies than in open lands especially in summer. Microclimates also tend to vary significantly 487 488 at very fine spatio-temporal scales (Pincebourde et al., 2016). In grassland ecosystems, the introduction of trees creates wetter and cooler conditions, which are novel to resident biota 489 490 (von Arx et al., 2013). The growth of understory vegetation under these conditions will 491 therefore depend on the incident solar radiation which influences temperatures. Moreover, 492 invasive alien trees are associated with the homogenization of understory habitats, reducing food resources and habitats for specialist organisms (Andersen et al., 2019; Kadlec et al., 2018; 493 494 Chikowore et al., 2021).

495 For ectotherms, body temperature is dependent on the environment (Chown & Nicolson 2004; 496 Chidawanyika et al., 2017, 2020). Thus, invasion-mediated modification of vegetative 497 structure can affect behavioural thermoregulation among ectotherms and ultimately their 498 assemblages (Clusella-Trullas & Garcia, 2017). For example, Watling et al. (2011) reported 499 that alteration of microclimates by the invasive alien shrub, Lonicera maackii (Rupr.) Maxim. (Caprifoliaceae) the Amur honeysuckle negatively impacted amphibian species richness and 500 501 composition in Missouri, USA. This was despite the absence of a direct trophic linkage 502 between the two taxa. Similarly, heterogeneity on alpine plant assembly was recently shown 503 as a mediating factor among flower visitation rates (Ohler et al., 2020), underlying the importance of vegetative structure on arthropod assemblages. 504

505 Arthropods, being poikilothermic are highly sensitive to changes in thermal environments (Chown & Terblanche, 2006; Chidawanyika et al., 2020). Hence, fluctuations in ambient 506 temperatures have a direct bearing on life history traits such as survival, reproduction and 507 508 development (Jaworski & Hilszczanski, 2013, Ahn et al., 2016; Chidawanyika et al., 2017). Their sensitivity and assemblages thus make them good indicators of changes in microclimatic 509 conditions (Strobl et al., 2019). Their trophic association with plants as primary consumers 510 511 also makes them suitable as model organisms for studying IAP impact (Mooney et al., 2010). Species diversity has been found to be conditioned by vegetation structure, with dominant plant 512 513 species playing a larger role (Farrell et al., 2015) where a decline in arthropod populations could be used as indicators of natural ecosystem degradation (Lister & Garcia, 2018). 514

Robinia pseudoacacia, a deciduous tree originating from North America which is currently 515 516 widely distributed across the globe is one of the alien trees invading Afromontane grasslands in South Africa where it is regarded as an IAP (Henderson & Wilson, 2017; Martin, 2019). 517 Among its functional traits is the ability to change soil chemical properties and high growth 518 rates especially in forest gaps (Cierjacks et al., 2013). The tree has been reported to alter micro-519 arthropod, soil microbial and plant communities in invaded areas (Lazzaro et al., 2018). 520 521 Furthermore, in Central Europe, Kadlec et al. (2018) linked R. pseudoacacia to reduced richness in canopy arthropods, particularly lepidopterans due to lack of adaptation to feed on 522 523 the tree.

Given the rapid expansion of *R. pseudoacacia* in South Africa (Martin, 2019), this study aimed to determine the species phenology, particularly in highland grasslands, in order to ascertain its influence on the microclimates below the canopy and its impact on the grassland arthropods in this biome. Specifically, we asked. 1. What are the seasonal growth characteristics of *R. pseudoacacia* in the southern hemisphere and South Africa? 2. What is the impact of *R*. *pseudoacacia* canopies on understory temperature and light in highland grasslands? and, 3.
How *R. pseudoacacia* mediated habitat changes influence invertebrate assemblages?

- 531 **2.2 Materials and methods**
- 532 **2.2.1** Study area

The study was conducted between February 2019 and October 2020 (21 months) on the 533 Northern Slopes of the Maluti- Drakensberg Mountains in South Africa (28° 32' 33.08" S; 28° 534 29' 30.91"E). Climate for the area according to the Köppen-Geiger classification is subtropical 535 highland (Cwb) with annual temperatures and rainfall averaging 13.7 °C and 693 mm 536 respectively (Beck et al., 2018). Due to the high altitudes >1600m sub-zero temperatures, 537 frequent frost and snow are also common in winter. The area falls within the high altitude or 538 Drakensberg grassland biome where the native vegetation is dominantly grasses (Poaceae) 539 540 although woody natives such as Leucosidea sericea Eckl. & Zeyh. (Rosaceae) and Protea species are also found (Mucina & Rutherford, 2006). Landuse in the area is a mixture of range 541 based animal production, cereal and fruit production interspaced with conservation areas. 542 543 Surveys were conducted on two farms, Clifton and Sunnyside where R. pseudoacacia invasions (hereafter 'invaded') and open grassland (hereafter 'uninvaded') were sampled (Fig. 2.1). 544 Vegetation in invaded habitats on both farms is dominated by early successional ruderals such 545 as Tagetes minuta L. (Asteraceae) as well as alien grasses such as Bromus catharticus Vahl. 546 (Poaceae), Brachypogon distachyon (L.) P. Beauv. (Poaceae) and Dactylis glomerata L. 547 (Poaceae). In contrast, uninvaded habitats are dominated by native grasses such as Themeda 548 triandra Forssk. (Poaceae), Tristachya leucothrix Trin.(Poaceae) and Eragrostis species 549 (Chikowore et al., 2021). The linear distance between the two farms is approximately 11km 550 and an altitudinal difference of 100m above sea level. 551



Figure 2.1: Study area showing *Robinia pseudoacacia* stands (Red triangles) and adjacent grasslands (Green squares) sampled at Clifton (A) and Sunnyside (B) farms in eastern Free State Province, South Africa. Background satellite imagery source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics,CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community.

2.2.2 Robinia pseudoacacia phenology

To determine the phenology of *R. pseudoacacia* in high altitude grasslands of South Africa, two Wingscapes PlantCam® with Red, Green and Blue (RGB) capability were mounted on positions overlooking stands at Clifton and Sunnyside between October 2019 and October 2020 (Fig 2.2). Cameras were set facing the south, to avoid direct sunlight on the lenses, at a setback of 5m from the target area. Still images were captured at one hour intervals between 7am and 4pm, at a resolution of 2560×1920 pixels giving a total of 10 images per day. At the end of the recording season, images were downloaded for processing and analysis as explained later.



Figure 2.2: Plant camera (left) and images (right) showing *Robinia pseudoacacia* canopy
development at one of the sites in eastern Free State, South Africa.

569 2.2.3 Temperature and light measurements

The influence of *R. pseudoacacia* on grassland thermal and illumination environments were measured for 499 days between February 2019 and October 2020. Four HOBO MX2202 (Onset, www.onsetcom.com), temperature and light loggers were installed in three *R. pseudoacacia* stands and one in the adjacent open grassland. The loggers were programmed to record at 30-minute intervals giving 48 readings of each parameter per day. Loggers were serviced quarterly and data were downloaded using the Bluetooth linked HOBO mobile application.

577

2.2.4 Arthropod assemblages

Arthropod communities associated with uninvaded and habitats were sampled on two farms 580 581 over two seasons (spring and summer) in October 2019 and February 2020. Sampling was done in *R. pseudoacacia* stands and adjacent open grassland with a distance of 50m between the 582 583 treatments. At each site, 3 grids of pitfall traps were set in a 2×3 grid with an inter-trap distance 584 of 2.5m and an inter-grid space of 10m. This configuration gave a total of 18 pitfall traps per treatment (invaded/uninvaded), 36 traps per site and 72 traps for the two sites. The traps 585 consisted of 400ml plastic containers dug into the ground with the rim flush with the soil 586 587 surface. Each trap was filled with 100ml of 100 % propylene glycol (propane-1,2-diol) and left open for five days. The traps were then emptied and specimens were preserved in 70% 588 alcohol. All specimens were identified to order with the exception of Orthoptera which was 589 further identified to family level. Taxonomic guides by Picker et al., (2004) and Johnson & 590 Triplehorn (2004) were used in the identification. 591

592

2.2.5 Statistical Analyses

To visualize temperature and light conditions in invaded habitats and open grassland, readings were plotted against sampling time in Excel (Microsoft Office 2016). Since the data conformed to normality tests, differences between habitats were compared using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in STATISTICA version 7 (TIBCO Software). Tukey-Kramer *post hoc* tests were then used to separate statistically significant groups.

Plantcam images were analysed using the 'phenopix' package (Filippa *et al.*, 2016) in R software version 3.2.1 (R Development Core Team, 2020). Regions of interest were defined on a reference image using the '*DrawMultiroi*' function while the '*extractVIs*' function was used to extract indices from the Red, Blue and Green channels of the images. Maximum green chromatic coordinates were extracted using an 'autofilter' and plotted against the sampling

period to determine the growth season of the two stands. Vegetation greenness metrics weredetermined using the Green Chromatic Coordinates, computed using the following formula:

$$G_{CC} = \frac{G_{DN}}{R_{DN} + G_{DN} + B_{DN}}$$

Where: G_{DN}, R_{DN}, B_{DN} represent digital numbers from the green, red and blue image channels
 (Richardson *et al.*, 2009)

Since arthropod assemblage data did not conform to normality tests, they were subjected to multivariate generalised linear modelling using the 'mvabund' package in R (Wang et al., 2012). The 'manyglm' function was used to model the effects of habitat (invaded/uninvaded), season (summer/winter) and farm (Clifton/Sunnyside) on arthropod abundances. A negative binomial distribution was applied to account for mild over-dispersion observed with a Poisson distribution. Univariate tests were further performed to assess the response of each insect order to the explanatory variables defined. Statistical significance of the effects was then assessed using Likelihood-Ratio Tests (LRT).

624 **2.3 Results**

625

2.3.1 Robinia pseudoacacia phenology

626 *Robinia pseudoacacia* canopy development started in October, peaking up between December and January (Fig. 2.3a). However, there was spatial variability in leaf-up periods with trees at 627 628 Sunnyside farm developing leaves early (Fig. 2.3b) as indicated by high green chromatic 629 coordinates (Gccs) of more than 0.4 at the time of camera set up when compared to Clifton 630 farm which began from low Gccs of 0.32. A drop in canopy greenness was also evident at Clifton with the Gccs dropping from peak to values approximating senescence, indicating total 631 defoliation (Fig. 2.3a). This defoliation was coincident with a sharp drop in temperatures (Fig. 632 2.4a). This only affected the stand at Clifton farm as the other stand showed a gradual decline 633 in greenness consistent with normal canopy characteristics rather than stress. However, the 634 stand at Clifton farm recovered and assumed a normal phenological curve. The phenological 635 trajectory observed is typical of deciduous trees in the southern hemisphere where leaves are 636 637 shed in winter and leaf development starts from spring into summer.



Figure 2.3: Changes in the Green Chromatic Coordinates (Gcc) on two *Robinia pseudoacacia*stands at Clifton farm (A) and Sunnyside farm (B). The broken line represents the expected
phenological trajectory while the continuous line represents observed indices.

2.3.2 Thermal and illumination environments

Average temperatures were higher in open grassland (15.6°C) as compared to *R. pseudoacacia* 643 644 understory (12.76 -13.77°C) (Fig. 2.4a). The site effect was significant in explaining variations in temperature (p < 0.001) (Table 2.1). Post-hoc tests showed that average temperatures were 645 646 significantly higher in open grassland than all R. pseudoacacia stands (Fig. 2.5a). However, 647 there were no significant differences in temperatures between stands. Similarly, light intensity was higher in open grassland (1788.1 lumens/ft²) than under *R. pseudoacacia* canopies (378.5 648 - 316.3 lumens/ft²) (Fig. 2.4b). Thus, site (invaded or uninvaded) significantly explained this 649 650 variation (Table 2.2). *Post hoc* tests also indicated that open grassland received significantly high illumination than R. pseudoacacia stands while there were no differences between the 651 stands (Fig. 2.5b). However, there was intra-stand variability in light intensity at Sunnyside 652 farm 4 as indicated by the wide confidence interval of the mean (Fig. 2.5b). However, open 653 654 grassland experienced extreme temperatures both minimum and maximum in comparison to 655 understory habitats (Table 2.1).



Figure 2.4: Three-day moving average and seasonal temperature (a) and light intensity (b) in
open grassland and *Robinia pseudoacacia* stands in eastern Free State, South Africa (Sites are
abbreviated as follows: CF = Clifton, SS1= Sunnyside 1 and SS4 = Sunnyside 4).



Figure 2.5: Differences in temperature (a) and light (b) (mean \pm 95% confidence interval) between grassland and three *Robinia pseudoacacia* stands. Means with different letters are significantly different from each other.

Table 2.1: Minimum and maximum temperatures and maximum light intensity recorded at

666 microhabitats in eastern Free State. Data represents the extreme recording for each site.

Site	Elevation (m)	Minimum Temperature (°C)	Maximum Temperature (°C)	Maximum light intensity (Lumens/ft ²)
Grassland	1731	-16.99	56.54	13003
Clifton	1712	-14.72	43.58	7460
Sunnyside 1	1833	-7.81	50.53	9578
Sunnyside 4	1832	-12.01	47.83	7247

- **Table 2.2:** Summary of ANOVA on temperature and light intensity of sampled *Robinia*
- 669 *pseudoacacia* stands

Parameter	Effect	Sum of Squares	Df	Ms	F	p-value
Temperature	Intercept	375989.5	1	375989.5	10676.27	<0.0001
	Site	2737.7	3	912.6	25.91	<0.0001
	Error	69871.1	1984	35.2		
Light Intensity	Intercept	8712079	1	8712079	56.04	<0.0001
	Site	667037681	3	222345894	1430.11	<0.0001
	Error	232279151	1494	155475		

671 *2.3.3 Invertebrate assemblages*

The most abundant arthropods in both invaded and uninvaded habitats were Hymenopterans, 672 673 particularly from the Formicidae family (Fig. 2.6). These were followed by Coleopterans and Araneae, respectively. However, unlike Hymenopterans, which were more abundant in open 674 grassland, the latter orders were more abundant under R. pseudoacacia trees. The family 675 Acrididae (Orthoptera) was only recorded in open grassland while the family Gryllidae was 676 677 common to both habitats although more abundant in the understory of *R. pseudoacacia*. From the multivariate analysis of variance, habitat (LRT = 55.85, p = 0.001), season (LRT = 25.34, 678 679 p < 0.05), as well as interaction of habitat and season (LRT = 21.2, p < 0.05) had significant effects on arthropod abundances (Table 2.3). Univariate analysis showed that habitat had a 680 significant effect on Acridids, Coleopterans, Lepidoptera and Hymenopterans while season 681 significantly affected Gryllids (Fig. 2.6). 682



Figure 2.6: Abundance of arthropods (median, minimum, and maximum) in habitats invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* and uninvaded grasslands. All arthropods were grouped into orders except Orthopterans (which were grouped into 2 families, Acrididae and Gryllidae). Groups that significantly differed between habitats are indicated by ** while groups differing between seasons are indicated by *.

Table 2.3: Multivariate analysis for arthropod abundance in habitats invaded by *Robinia*

pseudoacacia and adjacent uninvaded grassland at Clifton and Sunnyside Farms, South

692 Africa

	Effect	Residual Df	Df Diff	Deviance	Pr(>Dev)
	Intercept	23			
	Habitat	22	1	55.85	0.001
	Farm	21	1	15.14	0.055
	Season	20	1	25.34	0.002
	Habitat * Farm	19	1	9.76	0.160
	Habitat*Season	18	1	24.40	0.002
	Farm * Season	17	1	13.96	0.054
	Habitat*Farm*Season	16	1	4.49	0.296
693					
694					
695					
696					
697					
698					
699					
700					
701					
702					
703					
704					
705					
706					
707					
708					
709					

710 **2.4 Discussion**

711 This study suggests that R. pseudoacacia is transforming grassland arthropod ecosystems 712 through alteration of microclimatic conditions in the eastern Free State of South Africa. This 713 is mainly due to its canopy characteristics which reduce temperature and light availability for understory communities, creating habitats with novel microclimates in the process. The results 714 715 indicate that Orthopterans, particularly from the family Acrididae, declined significantly in invaded habitats while conditions created by the IAP seemed to favour the proliferation of 716 Coleopterans. This therefore suggests that habitat transformation by IAPs differentially affects 717 718 endemic arthropods.

The phenology of R. pseudoacacia in the southern hemisphere showed leaf emergence and 719 expansion in spring (September), peaking between December and January. In the northern 720 hemisphere, leaf expansion occurs in the spring months of April and May (Cierjacks et al., 721 722 2013). Thus, environmental cues are responsible for phenological events in trees. However, its 723 phenology varies with local climatic conditions as our study showed spatial variability in leaf 724 development as well as the length of growth season between sites. Moreover, its ability to 725 recover rapidly following frost damage gives an insight into the competitive advantage in 726 invaded ecosystems. Our results further showed that in sync with other deciduous trees in South 727 Africa, R. pseudoacacia develops leaves early before the emergence of annual grasses. However, unlike native trees that are often sparsely populated in South African grasslands 728 (Mucina & Rutherford 2006), the impact of R. pseudocacia is exacerbated by monospecific 729

continuous canopies covering relatively larger areas. This limits seedling recruitment of native
vegetation including grasses due to lower temperatures and low illumination under the canopies
(Chikowore *et al.*, 2021). These realised microclimates influence community assembly
cascading to other trophic levels. Indeed, *R. pseudoacacia* has been associated with a decline
in both above and below-ground biodiversity. For example, Lazzaro *et al.* (2018) reported a
decline in micro-arthropod, microbial and plant communities underlying the potent effects of *R. pseudoacacia* on ecosystem integrity.

In this study, average temperatures were consistently higher in the open grasslands as opposed 737 to the invaded understory. However, when temperature readings were decoupled into 738 739 minimum and maximum, grasslands recorded lower minimum temperatures and higher 740 maximum temperatures. These findings are consistent with several studies that attribute these differences to the buffering effect of trees which ensures higher minimum and lower maximum 741 742 temperatures in the understory (von Arx et al., 2013; Gaudio et al., 2017; Davis et al., 2019). In all these studies, temperature was influenced by the sheltering effect of trees, canopy cover 743 744 and soil moisture. Although we did not measure hydrological parameters such as relative humidity and soil moisture in our study, their influence on temperatures observed is highly 745 probable. For example, Breshears et al. (1998) asserted that trees can lower temperatures 746 through evaporative cooling, underscoring the importance of moisture in temperature 747 regulation. In addition, interception of incident solar radiation by tree canopies could also be 748 749 the reason for lower temperatures.

750 The absence of Acridids (Orthoptera) from invaded stands is an indication of the impacts of *R*. pseudoacacia on microhabitats. While their exclusion might be due to invasion mediated 751 vegetation changes which places limitations on food resources (Andersen et al., 2019), there is 752 also a likelihood that environmental conditions influenced their absence, especially considering 753 the generalist nature of their feeding habit. For example, Highland et al. (2013) found that 754 habitat structure rather than plant diversity affected arthropod diversity in woodlands while 755 Pawson et al. (2010) tied variation in arthropod herbivores to physical habitat characteristics 756 such as light availability and stand structure. Thus it is plausible that changes in arthropod 757 communities observed in this study were influenced in part by changes in the structure of the 758 grassland habitat as well as a shift in microclimatic conditions as a result of R. pseudoacacia 759 760 invasion. Furthermore, Samways (1990) observed that Orthopterans are more susceptible to cold conditions hence they seek refuge on mountain slopes receiving more sunlight and ruled 761 out vegetation type and cover as determinants of the distribution of this taxa. Similarly, Rada 762 et al. (2015) found a strong correlation between temperature and Acrididae life history traits in 763 764 central Europe, emphasizing the importance of microclimates on the taxa. While grazing by 765 ungulates has been proven to alter community composition, particularly trophic cascades of grassland arthropods (Farrell et al., 2015), in our study both habitats were equally open to 766 grazing by cattle. Therefore, differences in taxa across habitats could be a result of invasion 767 mediated habitat modifications. 768

769 Our results also showed that there were more Coleopterans in invaded habitats than open grassland. This taxon is comprised of a wide range of detritivores, hence, their abundance might 770 have been influenced by the quantity and quality of litter from R. pseudoacacia. In 771 corroboration with these findings, Alerding and Hunter (2013) found that Alliaria petiolata M. 772 Bieb. (Brassicaceae) invasion was associated with an increase in the depth of litter which 773 774 increased the abundance of detritivores. Although social arthropods such as ants can regulate their internal and surrounding environments through elaborate nest designs and physical 775 mechanisms (Kadochova & Frouz 2014), our study showed that habitat had a significant effect 776 777 on their abundance. Although there was a possibility of some trapping positions located close to ant nests and foraging grounds, the role of microclimates cannot be ruled out. In support of 778 779 these findings, Silva et al. (2011) reported that the choice of ant nesting sites is also influenced by microclimatic conditions. The authors further stated that the quality and quantity of leaf 780 litter also influences the distribution of ants. However, since we did not measure these 781 parameters in our study, there is a possibility that *R. pseudoacacia* leaf litter makes understory 782 783 habitats unfavourable for ants.

In conclusion, invasion by *R. pseudoacacia* alters thermal and illumination environments of
 grassland ecosystems. Through canopy characteristics, microclimatic conditions within tree
 stands vary significantly from immediate local environments.

2.4.1 Conservation implications

788 The main goal of tackling biological invasions 'should be the conservation or restoration of 789 ecosystems to preserve or re-establish native biodiversity and functions' (Hulme, 2006). Countries are under increasing pressure to mitigate the negative effects of invasive species on 790 ecosystem dynamics. However, in the absence of baseline data on how invasive species are 791 792 directly or indirectly changing the ecosystems, it is difficult to measure a return to a functioning 793 state following management (Richardson & van Wilgen 2004; Gallardo et al., 2019). Due to 794 the significant impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* in South African grasslands (Martin, 2019; 795 Chikowore *et al.*, 2021), there is a need for its sustainable management. Motitsoe *et al.* (2020) showed recovery of an aquatic ecosystem following control of Salvinia molesta D.S. Mitch. 796 (Salviniaceae) through monitoring algae and macroinvertebrate communities. Thus a similar 797 approach might be taken for *R. pseudoacacia* using arthropod community assembly. While not 798 all arthropod taxa observed in this study were affected by the physical and structural changes 799 800 induced by the IAP, some showed enough sensitivity to enable their monitoring as indicators. For these taxa, before and after abundances can be used to assess the success of any control 801 programme against R. pseudoacacia. 802

803

805	CHAPTER 3
<u>806</u>	
000	
807	
808	
809	
810	
811	Reduction of grazing capacity in high elevation rangelands following Black
812	locust invasion in South Africa*
813	
814	
815	
816	
817	
818	
819	
820	
821	
822	
823	
824	
825	
826	*Published as: Chikowore, G., Mutamiswa, R., Sutton, G.F., Chidawanyika, F. & Martin G.D.
827	(2021) Reduction of grazing capacity in high elevation rangelands following Black locust
828	invasion in South Africa. Rangeland Ecology and Management 76: 109 – 117.

3.1 Introduction

829

Despite social and economic benefits, globalisation has brought new challenges, notably the 830 831 proliferation of transboundary movement of invasive species (Pysek & Richardson, 2010). Some of the invasive alien species are ecosystem transformers and drivers of environmental 832 change (Rilov et al., 2012), severely disrupting ecosystem integrity and provision of services 833 834 necessary for human wellbeing (Pysek & Richardson, 2010). For instance, invasive alien plants (IAPs) can substantially impact native vegetation (Hejda et al., 2009; Vitkova et al., 2020), 835 836 thereby threatening biodiversity (Gaertner et al., 2009).

Upon establishment, IAPs disrupt complex ecosystem interactions leading to changes in the 837 structure and function of ecosystems (Wardle & Peltzer, 2017). Hence, IAPs ultimately lead to 838 839 shifts in the composition of native communities due to loss of habitats or environmental modifications (Rilov et al., 2012). For example, invasion by nitrogen-fixing trees enriches soil 840 nitrogen levels filtering out non-nitrophilous native plants in historically nutrient poor 841 ecosystems (Benesperi et al., 2012). This has been shown in South Africa where Australian 842 acacias have been widely associated with a decline in native vegetation communities due to 843 844 nitrogen enrichment in nutrient poor soils of the fynbos biome (Witkowski, 1991; Musil, 1993; Le Maitre et al., 2011). 845

The high elevation rangelands of South Africa were defined by Mucina et al. (2006) as 846 herbaceous, relatively short and simple structured vegetation dominated by Poaceae 847 graminoids. This biome is regarded as a key biodiversity hotspot with high plant endemism 848 (Clark et al., 2014). However, biodiversity is increasingly affected by IAPs (Carbutt, 2012). 849 Although native species diversity has been identified as a barrier to invasion (Kennedy et al., 850 2002), rangelands present reduced resistance to invasion by tall woody species which often 851 dominate and cover native species (Hejda et al., 2009). Van Wilgen et al. (2008) identified the 852

rangelands as one of the terrestrial ecosystems that require alien plant control primarily to
conserve biodiversity. The biome is also an important resource supporting livestock production
where invasion driven changes in native flora has in some cases altered the grazing capacity of
rangelands (Yapi *et al.*, 2018).

Despite an increasing body of knowledge on the impacts of IAPs and their management, 857 858 (Richardson & van Wilgen, 2004; van Wilgen et al., 2012; van Wilgen et al., 2020), the spatial extent of invasion and number of invading plants continues to evolve. One of the emerging 859 IAPs in the high elevation rangelands of South Africa is *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. (Fabaceae, 860 Papilionoideae) (Henderson, 1991; Martin, 2019). The tree is native to North America and has 861 now been declared invasive in 21 countries worldwide (CABI, 2020). It can proliferate under 862 a variety of environmental conditions (Nicolescu et al., 2018) and transforms the environment 863 864 through shading (Haerdtle et al., 2003; Cierjacks et al., 2013) and soil nitrogen fixation (Dzwonko & Loster, 1997; Vitkova et al., 2017; Campagnaro et al., 2018). Its ability to fix 865 nitrogen often leads to the proliferation of nitrophilous understory vegetation (Benesperi et al., 866 2012) and as the soil nitrogen increases over time, transient colonization, followed by 867 competitive displacement occurs (Dzwonko & Loster, 1997; Lazzaro et al., 2018). In South 868 869 Africa, R. pseudoacacia is listed as a category 1b invasive alien plant under the National 870 Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act (NEM: BA) (DEA, 2016). Category 1b invasive 871 alien plants are those whose unregulated importation and propagation is prohibited.

Increasing invasion of rangelands by *R. pseudoacacia* in South Africa has the potential to reduce the availability of grazing. Potential economic losses from invasion of rangelands by this IAP in South Africa alone were estimated to be approximately US\$39 million (Humphrey *et al.*, 2019). Woody IAPs create novel conditions in rangelands that are unfavourable for native species (O'Connor & van Wilgen, 2020). This can lead to species displacement and a reduction in the grazing capacity of rangelands, especially when low palatability forage species
take over (Bankovich *et al.*, 2016; O'Connor & van Wilgen, 2020).

The impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* on native biodiversity in South Africa remain poorly understood as evidence of its impacts are mainly anecdotal. A paucity of data on the tree was also noted in the southern hemisphere as compared to the northern hemisphere (Martin, 2019). However, extrapolation of findings from studies of *R. pseudoacacia* in the northern hemisphere is difficult as there are often variations in the extent of invasion, the environment, and taxonomic groups affected (Clusella-Trullas & Garcia, 2017).

To understand and adequately respond to the challenges of IAPs, there is need to assess impacts 885 on a continuum linking plant traits, ecosystem processes, and services (Walker & Smith, 1997; 886 Parker et al., 1999). This is critical in defining management goals that are specific and 887 888 benchmarking future evaluation of interventions. The present study therefore investigated the impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* on native plant communities and cascading effects on the grazing 889 890 capacity of montane rangelands in eastern Free State Province, South Africa. The aims were to determine 1) if *R. pseudoacacia* is driving changes in the richness and composition of grass 891 and forb communities, 2) if there are any relationships between vegetation community 892 dynamics and *R. pseudoacacia* stand characteristics, and 3) whether there are any changes in 893 the grazing capacity of rangelands as a result of invasion. 894

895

3.2 Materials and Methods

896 *3.2.1 Study site*

The study was conducted at Clifton (28° 32′ 48.08″ S; 28° 25′ 08.91″ E) and Sunnyside (28° 32′
12.87″ S; 28° 31′ 59.60″ E) properties in the Eastern Free State Province, South Africa, between
February 2019 and February 2020. This area falls under the subtropical highland climate (Cwb)
according to the Köppen-Geiger climate classification with temperatures averaging 13.7 °C

and an average annual rainfall of 693 mm (Beck *et al.*, 2018). Vegetation in this area is mainly
composed of grasses with climax indigenous species such as *Themeda triandra* Forssk.
(Poaceae) and *Cymbopogon dieterlenii* Stapf ex Schweick. (Poaceae) dominating (Du Preez &
Venter, 1992). However, there is an increasing incidence of woody species, most of which are
non-native (Carbutt, 2012). Agriculture is the primary land-use within this region with
livestock, cereal and fruit production as the major enterprises (Hensley *et al.*, 2006).

907

3.2.2 Robinia pseudoacacia stand characteristics

Stand characteristics based on one population parameter, density (trees/hectare), and one plant 908 level measurement, Diameter at Breast Height (DBH) were assessed for four tree stands, two 909 910 at Clifton and two at Sunnyside properties. Sampling was done within three $10m \times 10m$ quadrats established 10m apart along 50m transects randomly selected within each stand. The 911 number of trees in each quadrat was counted and DBH of each tree was measured at 912 approximately 1.3m from the soil surface using a steel diameter tape (West, 2009). For forked 913 trees, measurements were taken just below the fork whilst for multi-stemmed trees, the base 914 was measured. To measure variation in light penetration through R. pseudoacacia canopy, 915 916 hemispherical images were captured from 10 randomly selected locations in each of the four stands. The images were captured using a 170°, Voyager Explorer® 4K Ultra HD activity 917 camera in February 2020 when R. pseudoacacia trees were in full leaf and on a cloudy day to 918 avoid the effects of the sun. The images were then transferred to a Samsung Galaxy J2 Core 919 smartphone for determination of canopy cover indices using the mobile application, Gap Light 920 921 Analysis Mobile Application (GLAMA) (Tichy, 2016). The application distinguishes between dark and light pixels from the canopy hemispherical images, classifying them as either 922 vegetation or sky in the process. The Canopy Cover index (CaCo), a projection of canopy cover 923 924 onto the surface, is then calculated and expressed as a percentage (Fig. 3.1) (Tichy, 2016).



926 Figure 3.1: Determination of *Robinia pseudoacacia* Canopy Cover (CaCo) index using Gap

- 927 Light Analysis Mobile Application (GLAMA).
- 928 3.2.3 Understory vegetation composition

929 These surveys were conducted between December 2019 to February 2020 when most of the grasses were flowering for ease of identification. Sampling was done in two habitats, patches 930 of *R. pseudoacacia* (n=3) (hereafter 'invaded'), and in adjacent open rangeland (n=3) (hereafter 931 932 'uninvaded'). The fourth site, Sunnyside 4 had no vegetation hence it was excluded from these surveys. Invaded and uninvaded sites 50m apart were surveyed, while sampling within invaded 933 sites was done at least 5m from the edge to minimize edge effects. Pairing of sites was done to 934 ensure similar environmental conditions. Although uninvaded sites chosen were used as 935 pasture, care was taken to select areas where there was no history of soil disturbance based on 936 property owners' accounts. Invaded and uninvaded sites were exposed to the same grazing 937 pressure by livestock. The line-point intercept method was used to estimate plant species cover 938 and composition. The method uses a length of non-stretch rope marked at 1m intervals and a 939 handheld rod. Starting at zero, and working from left to right and on the same side of the line 940

941 each time, one moved to the first point on the line and dropped a rod from a height of 50cm without guiding it to the ground. Once the rod reached the ground, all plant species it 942 intercepted in descending order were recorded from top to ground cover. (Herrick et al., 2005). 943 Sampling was done at each site along 4 transects, 50m long and 5m apart, giving a total of 200 944 945 points per site, and a total of 1200 points in both invaded and uninvaded habitats. Plants were grouped into two functional types i.e. grasses and forbs (non-graminoid herbaceous plants) and 946 these were identified to species level by taxonomists with the aid of guides by Moffett (1997) 947 and Van Oudtshoorn (1999). 948

949 3.2.4 Invaded and uninvaded rangeland condition similarities

950 The total number of top canopy strikes for each species was calculated as a percentage of total 951 observations for the species. Grazing index values (GIV), which range from 0 (low quality) to 10 (high quality) for grasses sampled in this survey were obtained from lists compiled by Esler 952 et al. (2006). Grazing index values are determined using volumes, amount of graze-able dry 953 matter and chemical composition of the specific species (Du Toit, 1995). For species without 954 listed GIVs, the average for two phylogenetically close species was used. Range condition 955 956 indices were then calculated for both habitats by summing the product of the percentage cover of species and their GIVs (Du Toit, 1995). 957

958 *3.2.5 Statistical analyses*

Data analyses were carried out using STATISTICA, version 7 (TIBCO Software), R software
version 3.2.1 (R Development Core Team, 2020), and Paleontological Statistics Software
Package (PAST) (Hammer *et al.*, 2001). *Robinia pseudoacacia* canopy cover, density and DBH
were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in STATISTICA and TukeyKramer *post hoc* tests were used to separate statistically significant groups. Vegetation data
from invaded and uninvaded transects were grouped into two functional groups, grasses and

965 forbs, and tested for sampling saturation using the Mao tau sample-based rarefaction method at 95% confidence interval in PAST. Since the curve for forb sampling did not reach an 966 asymptote and preliminary analyses resulted in a high stress value (>0.2), the data was not 967 subjected to distance based analyses (Fig. 3.2). To visualize the separation of grass communities 968 between invaded and uninvaded plots, non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) was 969 performed and the Bray-Curtis distance was applied using the "vegan" package (Oksanen et 970 al., 2019) in R. Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) was then 971 used to test for differences in grass community composition between the invaded and 972 973 uninvaded sites. To explore the contribution of each species to dissimilarity between sites, similarity percentages (SIMPER) were computed also using the Bray-Curtis distance. To test 974 variation in species composition between the two habitats, the data was tested for the 975 976 assumption of homogeneity of multivariate dispersion (Anderson, 2006).



977

Figure 3.2: Sampling saturations curves based on Mao tau sample-based rarefaction method
(number of species ± 95% confidence limit) for grasses (A) and forbs (B) at Clifton and
Sunnyside properties in eastern Free State, South Africa.

Differences in Range Condition Index were analysed using a Linear Mixed Model (LMM) specified with gaussian errors and a log lik function (Bolker *et al.*, 2009), with site (Clifton/Sunnyside) and habitat (invaded/uninvaded) as fixed effects. Quadrat and transect 984 were included as random effects to account for potential non-independence between data points (Bolker et al., 2009). A global (maximal) model was specified including an interaction term 985 between site and habitat, and both random effects. The 'dredge' function from 'MuMIn' R 986 987 package (Barton, 2019), which specifies all possible combinations of fixed effects as possible models, was then used in a model selection framework to assess the importance of predictor 988 variables. Model selection was performed by ranking all candidate models using Akaike's 989 information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AICc). Moreover, Akaike weights (w_i) 990 were calculated to determine the degree of support for each candidate model being the best 991 992 model. The sign and magnitude of the effect of each model term on range condition index scores was assessed by semi-parametric bootstrapping of parameter estimates, using 999 993 994 bootstrap replicates, implemented with the 'bootMer' function from the 'lme4' R package 995 (Bates et al., 2015).

996 Preliminary analyses showed that inclusion of transect as a random effect did not improve 997 model fit when analysing Shannon-Weiner (H') diversity and percentage grass and forb cover 998 variables. As such, Shannon-Weiner diversity was analysed using a GLM with gaussian errors 999 and a log link function, and vegetation cover analysed using a logistic GLM with binomial 1000 errors and a logit link function. For both models, site (Clifton/Sunnyside) and habitat 1001 (invaded/uninvaded) were specified as fixed effects.

1002

1003

1004

3.3 Results

1006

3.3.1 Robinia pseudoacacia population demographics and canopy characteristics

1007 Robinia pseudoacacia canopy cover varied significantly between stands (Table 3.1). However, results of *post-hoc* tests showed that there was no significant difference in canopy cover 1008 between three stands (Clifton 1, Clifton 2 and Sunnyside 1) whilst Sunnyside 4 had 1009 significantly higher canopy cover (> 60%) (Fig. 3.3). Similarly, tree densities varied 1010 1011 significantly across stands (Table 3.1). Sunnyside 4 had the highest density of trees whilst the 1012 lowest densities were recorded at Sunnyside 1 (Fig. 3.3). Diameter at breast height (DBH) 1013 varied significantly across sites (Table 3.1) and the widest trees stems were found at Sunnyside 1014 1 whilst stem diameter did not differ significantly at the other three sites (Fig. 3.3).


1016Figure 3.3: Differences in canopy cover (CaCo) (A), densities (B) and diameter at breast height1017(DBH) (C) of *Robinia pseudoacacia* across sites (mean \pm 95% confidence limits). Means with1018the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

Table 3.1: Summary of ANOVA on canopy cover, tree densities and Diameter at Breast

1020 Height (DBH) of sampled *Robinia pseudoacacia* stands

Parameter	Effect	Ss	Df	Ms	F	<i>p</i> -value
Canopy cover	Intercept	48353.94	1	48353.94	388.01	< 0.001
	Site	8457.51	3	2819.17	22.62	< 0.001
	Error	4486.33	36	124.62		
Tree density	Intercept	2.17E+09	1	2.17E+09	665.06	< 0.001
-	Site	1.96E+09	3	6.54E+08	200.35	< 0.001
	Error	6.53E+07	20	3.27E+06		
DBH	Intercept	1309.3	1	1309.3	93.00	< 0.001
	Site	791.00	3	263.90	18.74	< 0.001
	Error	295.67	21	14.08		

3.3.2 Effects of invasion on grass and forb species community composition

1023 The nMDS plot showed that grass community composition differed between invaded and 1024 uninvaded rangeland with no overlaps between the two habitats (Fig. 3.4). The grass community in uninvaded rangeland was mainly composed of native species (e.g. Tristachya 1025 leucothrix and Cymbopogon dieterlienii) while exotic species such as Dactylis glomerata L. 1026 1027 (Poaceae) and Bromus catharticus Vahl. (Poaceae) were dominant in habitats invaded by R. 1028 *pseudoacacia* (Fig. 3.5). There was a significant site (49%) and habitat (36%) effect (p < 0.001) 1029 in explaining the variation in grass community composition between the two vegetation 1030 communities (Table 3.2). Although the grass community uninvaded habitats seemed to be 1031 more dispersed than in invaded habitats, the homogeneity multivariate dispersion assumption was met (F = 1.16, p = 0.29). The SIMPER analysis further showed that dissimilarity between 1032 invaded and uninvaded rangeland was 96% of which more than 50% was due to E. biflora 1033 (14.3%), B. catharticus (13.4%), Tristachya leucothrix (12.3%), Cymbopogon dieterlenii 1034 1035 (10.2%) (Table 3.3). The two native grasses common to both habitats, C. dieterlienii and T. triandra, contributed significantly to differences in community composition between invaded 1036 and uninvaded habitats (p < 0.05). 1037



Figure 3.4: Two-dimensional non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) plot showing
grass species composition in plots invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* and adjacent uninvaded
rangeland based on Bray-Curtis distance.



Figure 3.5: Grass species abundance in uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* in eastern Free State, South Africa.

Table 3.2: Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) on grass
communities under *Robinia pseudoacacia* stands and uninvaded veld

T 1 '4 4 1		MS	Ľ	R ²	<i>p</i> -value
labitat I	2.97	2.97	41.23	0.36	< 0.001
Site 5	3.10	0.80	11.08	0.49	< 0.001
Residuals 17	1.23	0.07		0.15	
Fotal 23	8 10			1	

Table 3.3: Similarity percentages for grasses between open rangeland and under *Robinia*

1052 *pseudoacacia* stands based on Bray-curtis distance

Species	Average	SD	Ratio	Mean Veld	Mean Invaded	Cumulative sum	p - Value
<i>Eragrostis biflora</i> Hack. ex Schinz (Poaceae)	0.14	0.10	1.34	0	10.67	0.14	0.001
Bromus catharticus Vahl. (Poaceae)*	0.13	0.10	1.32	0	10.33	0.28	0.001
Tristachya leucothrix Trin.(Poaceae)	0.12	0.14	0.86	10.08	0	0.40	0.005
Cymbopogon dieterlenii	0.1	0.12	0.80	8.00	0.08	0.50	0.003
Dactylis glomerata L. (Poaceae)*	0.09	0.14	0.66	0	8.25	0.60	0.083
Themeda triandra	0.07	0.06	1.33	6.67	2.17	0.68	0.044
Heteropogon contortus L. (Poaceae)	0.05	0.05	0.90	4.00	0	0.73	0.003
Aristida diffusa Trin. (Poaceae)	0.04	0.07	0.57	3.08	0	0.76	0.018
Brachypogon distachyon (L.) P. Beauv. (Poaceae)* Flionurus muticus (Spreng.) Kuntze	0.04	0.07	0.54	0	3.17	0.80	0.158
(Poaceae)	0.03	0.06	0.54	2.67	0	0.83	0.012
Helictotrichon turgidulum (Stapf) Schweick. (Poaceae) Fragrostis canensis (Thunh) Trin	0.03	0.02	1.24	2.25	0	0.86	0.001
(Poaceae)	0.03	0.04	0.58	2.17	0	0.89	0.005
Aristida adescensionis L.(Poaceae)	0.02	0.04	0.62	1.50	0	0.91	0.001
<i>Eragrostis curvula</i> (Schrad.) Nees. (Poaceae) <i>Eragrostis chloromelas</i> Steud.	0.02	0.05	0.42	0	1.42	0.93	0.140
(Poaceae)	0.02	0.03	0.61	1.33	0	0.95	0.031
Harpochloa falx (L.f.) Kuntze. (Poaceae) Setaria pallide-fusca (Schumach) Stapf	0.01	0.02	0.80	0.92	0	0.96	0.001
and C.E. Hubb. (Poaceae) <i>Miscanthus capensis</i> (Nees) Andersson.	0.01	0.03	0.43	0	0.83	0.97	0.364
(Poaceae	0.01	0.02	0.44	0	0.75	0.98	0.420
Microchloa caffra Nees. (Poaceae)	0.01	0.01	0.37	0.42	0	0.99	0.074
<i>Eragrostis plana</i> Nees. (Poaceae) <i>Penisetum sphacelatum</i> (Nees)	0.01	0.01	0.44	0.42	0	0.99	0.088
T.Durand and Schinz (Poaceae)	0.01	0.01	0.55	0.33	0	1.00	0.001
Paspalum dilatatum Poir. (Poaceae) * Andropogon appendiculatus Nees.	0.00	0.01	0.30	0.17	0	1.00	0.130
(Poaceae)	0.00	0.01	0.30	0.17	0	1.00	0.138

1053

*Non-native grasses

Grass species diversity varied significantly between uninvaded and habitats invaded by *R*. *pseudoacacia* (F = 29.41, p < 0.001), but not sites (F = 2.10, p = 0.152). There was no significant interaction effect between habitat and site (F = 1.06, p = 0.366). Results of *post-hoc* tests showed that grass species diversity was significantly higher in uninvaded rangeland at Clifton (Fig. 3.6). While grass species diversity at Sunnyside was marginally higher in uninvaded than in invaded sites, the differences were not statistically significant. On the 1060 contrary, forb species were more diverse in sites invaded by *R. pseudoacacia* at Clifton than 1061 uninvaded and invaded sites at Sunnyside (Fig. 3.6). The effect of site contributed significantly 1062 to variation in forb diversity (F = 11.71, p = 0.001). All forb species in invaded sites were early 1063 successional invasive alien species as compared to natives in uninvaded habitats.



Figure 3.6: Differences in grass (A) and forb (B) diversity (Shannon-Weiner index) (mean ±
95% confidence limits) between uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* in eastern Free State, South Africa. Means with the same letter are not
significantly different from each other.

1069

3.3.3 Effects of invasion on rangeland grazing index values

1070 Site, habitat and the interaction between site and habitat were all statistically significant in 1071 explaining range condition index values (Table 3.4). Range condition was significantly lower 1072 in invaded habitats (180 ± 24.3) than uninvaded rangeland (401 ± 24.3) at Clifton. However, 1073 these differences were less noticeable at Sunnyside where range condition, in both invaded 1074 (432 ± 34.4) and uninvaded habitats (450 ± 34.4), was better than both invaded and uninvaded 1075 habitats at Clifton. *Dactylis glomerata* which had the highest grazing index value of 7.59 1076 occurred under *R. pseudoacacia* at Sunnyside while in all uninvaded sites *T. triandra* which
1077 was most abundant had a grazing value of 6.81.

1078 Vegetation cover also followed a similar trend as it was significantly higher in uninvaded than 1079 invaded habitat at Clifton while at Sunnyside rangeland had slightly higher but insignificant 1080 cover than invaded habitat (Fig. 3.7). Habitat had a significant influence on grass cover (F =1081 24.03, p < 0.001).



1082

Figure 3.7: Differences in vegetation cover (mean \pm 95% confidence limits) between uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* in eastern Free State, South Africa. Means with the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

1086

1087

1088

1089

1090

Table 3.4: Linear Mixed Model selection matrix based on semi-parametric bootstrapping of
parameter estimates for Range Condition Index values in open rangeland and habitats invaded
by *Robinia pseudoacacia* at Clifton and Sunnyside properties in eastern Free State, South
Africa.

Model structure	K	AICc	ΔAICc	LogLik	Wi
Site * Habitat	7	244.7	0.00	-111.85	1.00
Site + Habitat	6	264.1	18.40	-123.58	0.00
Habitat	5	275.0	30.30	-130.83	0.00
Site	5	286.6	41.90	-136.65	0.00
Random effects only	4	297.8	53.10	-143.82	0.00
Null model ^a	2	304.58	59.88	-150.00	0.00

^a Null model = ~1 (random intercept model)

1096

1097 **3.4 Discussion**

1098 This study highlights the impact of *R. pseudoacacia* on plant community dynamics in 1099 rangelands. There was a reduction in abundance and diversity of native grasses followed by 1100 succession by alien grasses and forbs thereby reducing the grazing capacity of the rangeland. 1101 Emergent communities following invasion were dominated by nitrophilous and shade-tolerant 1102 species, demonstrating the impact of *R. pseudoacacia* on microclimates. To our knowledge, 1103 this is the first study assessing the impacts of this species on native plant community 1104 composition and associated ecosystem services in South Africa and the southern hemisphere.

1105

3.4.1 Robinia pseudoacacia population demographics and canopy characteristics

Overstory vegetation characteristics influence understory vegetation communities (Ali *et al.*, 2019). In this study, we observed an influence of canopy cover on light availability and subsequently understory vegetation communities. Other studies noted the influence of the density of invasive alien species such as Australian *Acacias, Prosopis* species and *R. pseudoacacia* on understory vegetation locally (Ndhlovu *et al.*, 2011; Yapi *et al.*, 2018) and in 1111 Europe (Benesperi et al., 2012). To further affirm this, we did not find any significant undergrowth at Sunnyside 4 which had the highest canopy cover and density, demonstrating 1112 the importance of light availability on understory vegetation dynamics. Tree diameter can be 1113 1114 used as a proxy for tree age (McElhinny et al., 2005). Hence, we suggest that stand age influences successional dynamics in understory vegetation. Campagnaro et al. (2018), also 1115 1116 found an influence of stand successional dynamics and other stand characteristics such as stand 1117 basal area, tree diameter and stand vertical structure, on understory vegetation communities. It is therefore plausible that vegetation dynamics in our study were as a result of invasion. 1118

1119 3.4.2 Effects of R. pseudoacacia invasion on grass species composition

1120 In the present study, R. pseudoacacia invasion led to a marked reduction in native grass and 1121 forb diversity, consistent with studies on the same species in Europe (Benesperi et al., 2012; 1122 Sitzia et al., 2012) as well as other invasive alien species such as Pereskia aculeata (Hejda et 1123 al., 2009; Paterson et al., 2011). These changes could be a result of its active nitrogen fixation activity and deposition of nitrogen-rich leaf litter (Cierjacks et al., 2013), which leads to the 1124 recruitment of nitrophilous grasses and forbs. In nutrient poor soils, such nitrogen enrichment 1125 1126 gives R. pseudoacacia a competitive advantage over natives adapted to nutrient poor soils (Rawlik et al., 2018). Indeed, grass species found underneath R. pseudoacacia stands in our 1127 study, D. glomerata, B. catharticus and E. biflora reportedly have a high affinity for nitrogen 1128 1129 (Van Oudtshoorn, 1999) underlying its role in understory composition. By contrast, other studies, despite linking *R. pseudoacacia* to nitrophilous understory vegetation, suggested that 1130 the tree contributes to biodiversity after association with equally species rich vegetation 1131 1132 communities (Campagnaro et al., 2018; Slabejova et al., 2019). However, in our study although 1133 understory vegetation at Sunnyside appeared to be as diverse as in uninvaded habitat, it was composed of alien instead of native species. 1134

1135 Our study showed that invasion of rangelands by R. pseudoacacia leads to the succession of 1136 native grass communities by mainly alien taxa. This indicates that invasive alien species can act as drivers for further invasion by other alien species. Even though the sources of the alien 1137 1138 understory vegetation in this biome are not clear, we posit that some of the grasses could have escaped from planted pastures whilst the rest of forb species are generally weedy species 1139 1140 transported inadvertently through various vectors, primarily birds. Tecco et al. (2006), also 1141 recorded higher richness of exotic species under an invasive alien tree, P. anguistifolia than 1142 Condalia montana A. Cast. (Rhamnaceae), a native plant. These results also indicate 1143 approximately 100% species turnover due to invasion and in keeping with this observation, Vitkova *et al.* (2020) recorded a 20% decline in the frequency of native species under R. 1144 1145 pseudoacacia stands in xeric rangelands of Southern Europe. Whilst there may be variations 1146 in the composition of understory vegetation, our results are consistent with findings by Sitzia 1147 et al. (2018) in Mediterranean lowlands of Europe that generally R. pseudoacacia stands are associated with aliens, ruderals and habitat specialists. Invasion by R. pseudoacacia therefore 1148 1149 creates conditions necessary for the recruitment of these alien species from incoming invaders due to creation of enabling niches. Moreover, there was a shift in composition of grass species 1150 1151 which follow the C₄ carbon fixation pathway, which are common in this biome as the case with uninvaded plots, to those following the C₃ pathway in this study. C₄ grasses are adapted and 1152 1153 highly competitive under high light and temperature intensities and also thrive best in low 1154 nitrogen soils (Taylor et al., 2010). All the 16 native grasses recorded in this study are adapted to the C_4 pathway whilst exotic species, found under *R*. *pseudoacacia* all follow the C_3 pathway 1155 (Milton, 2004), suggesting an influence of the tree in the recruitment of species with special 1156 1157 adaptions different from natives.

1159 *Robinia pseudoacacia* is a light demanding and fast-growing species that creates light deficient 1160 conditions suitable for the shade tolerant species in the understory (Cierjacks *et al.*, 2013). It is therefore possible that shade tolerance could have played a role in the grass assemblages 1161 1162 underneath R. pseudoacacia in our study. For example, D. glomerata that we recorded was previously associated with shade tolerance in a silvi-pastoral agroecosystem, where its 1163 1164 nutritional value increased with shading (Kyriazopoulos et al., 2012) indicating its adaptation 1165 to low illumination conditions. Shading was also found to shape grass communities underneath 1166 another invasive alien plant, Chromolaena odorata R.M.King & H.Rob. (Asteraceae) (Te Beest 1167 et al., 2015). Our results therefore suggest that, in all likelihood, the interplay between shading and nitrogen fixation influences the emerging communities underneath R. pseudoacacia stands 1168 1169 and the reduction of native grass and forb diversity.

1170

3.4.3 Effects of invasion on grazing quality

1171 Invasion of rangelands by alien taxa has been associated with a corresponding reduction in grazing capacities, affecting livestock enterprises, which are largely dependent on rangelands 1172 (Palmer & Ainslie, 2005; Suttie et al., 2005). In this study, there was a marked reduction in 1173 1174 range condition at one of the properties. Consistent with these findings, several studies have linked the reduction in grazing capacity to invasive alien species locally and globally (Duncan 1175 et al., 2004; Ndhlovu et al., 2011; Yapi et al., 2018) and potential reduction in gross margins 1176 1177 (Humphrey et al., 2019). Through quantification of the increased losses in grazing capacities 1178 of the invaded rangelands our study further demonstrates how invasive species can compromise 1179 livestock production. While overstocking can also drive rangeland degradation and alter grass 1180 community composition (Van der Merwe et al., 2018), our habitats were subjected to the same grazing intensities. Hence, we suggest that differences in community composition and grazing 1181 1182 capacity observed in this study were a result of invasion by R. pseudoacacia. High range

1183 condition indices under *R. pseudoacacia* at Sunnyside were likely influenced by the dominance 1184 of *D. glomerata*, a species with high grazing value, high understory vegetation cover and low 1185 tree densities. However, this good condition might be offset if considered together with 1186 Sunnyside 4, one of the invaded sites on the property without understory vegetation possibly 1187 due to high tree density and low light penetration. Not only is *R. pseudoacacia* capable of 1188 reducing grazing capacity through alteration of grass communities, but it also takes up grazing 1189 space and is also poisonous to livestock (Humphrey *et al.*, 2019).

1190 *3.4.1 Implications*

1191 The current study highlights the negative impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* in rangelands. Invasion 1192 mediated replacement of native grass communities by alien grasses and forbs reduces the grazing capacity of the rangelands. Given these adverse effects, urgent control measures 1193 1194 together with ecological restoration are required. With property owner reports indicating failure of chemical and mechanical control due to the vigorous coppicing capabilities of R. 1195 pseudoacacia, biological control offers better prospects for successful management of this 1196 invasive species. Furthermore, to allow for predictable successional trajectories as suggested 1197 1198 by Sheley & Krueger-Mangold (2003), long term management approaches should be adopted. While integrated approaches which promote desirable species while supressing the 1199 1200 proliferation of undesirable ones are recommended (DiTommaso et al., 2017), there are no prescribed methods which are effective against R. pseudoacacia. Moreover, control of the IAP 1201 through utilization as a browse species is curtailed by its toxicity to animals. Elimination of R. 1202 1203 *pseudoacacia* might be possible through aggressive mechanical techniques which involve the 1204 complete destruction of the rooting system. However, this form of management besides its practical limitations at larger scales, introduce further disturbance leading to invasion by 1205 1206 secondary weeds. Overall, there is need to develop a sustainable management regime for R. *pseudoacacia* and other invasive species with similar functional traits. In the meantime,
rangeland managers should focus on early detection and prevention while those with existing
infestations should minimize mechanical disturbance to limit rapid spread.

1211	CHAPTER 4
1212	
1213	
1214	
1215	
1216	
1217	Integration of invasive tree, Black locust, into agro-ecological flower visitor
1218	networks induces competition for pollination services*
1219	
1220	
1221	
1222	
1223	
1224	
1225	
1226	
1227	
1228	
1229	
1230	
1231	*Published as: Chikowore, G., Steenhuisen, S-L., Mutamiswa, R., Martin, G.D. &
1232	Chidawanyika, F. (2021) Integration of invasive tree, Black locust, into agro-ecological flower
1233	visitor networks induces competition for pollination services. Athropod Plant Interactions.
1234	https://doi.org/10.1007/s11829-021-09851-3

1235

4.1 Introduction

1236 Pollination ensures reproductive success in most flowering plants and thus contributes to 1237 terrestrial ecosystem functioning (Daniels & Arceo-Gomez, 2019; Keherberger & Holzschuch, 2019). Many flowering plants are insect-pollinated hence they require pollinator visits for 1238 successful seed set (Sheffield, 2014). In agricultural crop production, entomophilous 1239 1240 pollination is a key ecosystem service that improves yields (Klein et al., 2007; FAO, 2018). 1241 However, a number of factors including climate variability, land-use change, and invasive alien species may disrupt insect-mediated pollination through modification of bottom-up and top-1242 1243 down factors (Chidawanyika et al., 2019). For example, invasive alien plants (IAPs) can displace the resources available for native insects, including pollinators, leading to a decline in 1244 the population and available services provided by these insects (Litt et al., 2014). Furthermore, 1245 the differential abundance and quality of floral resources may be modified such that 1246 1247 interactions between available pollinators and native plants are disrupted through alteration of 1248 flower visitation rates (Gibson et al., 2013; Daniels & Arceo-Gomez, 2019; Ojija et al., 2019), inducing heterospecific pollen transfer (Albrecht et al., 2014, Johnson & Ashman, 2019) and 1249 threatening pollinator health (Vanbergen et al., 2018). Indeed, the literature is replete with 1250 1251 studies showing changes in visitation rates and how IAPs impact pollinator visitation to native plants (Gibson et al., 2013, Ojija et al., 2019). It remains unclear whether such a shift is due to 1252 superior floral quality in both attractive odour and/ or subsequent nectar rewards in IAPs 1253 compared to native plants or just a matter of the limited pollinators being stretched over 1254 1255 abundant plant resources.

Among ecosystems, the functional diversity and biotic interactions therein are key elements that determine ecosystem integrity and subsequent ecosystem service provision (Pysek & Richardson, 2010). Hence, understanding networks among functional groups such as plantspollinators remains a key priority for conservation of beneficial taxa and their ecosystem services (Bluthgen *et al.*, 2008;Bartomeus, 2013; Chidawanyika *et al.*, 2019). It is therefore not
surprising that network metrics such as connectance and number of shared partners within
trophic levels provide an indication of network stability (Rabeling *et al.*, 2019) and possibly
conservation value (Heleno *et al.*, 2012).

Pollinators and flowering plants form intricate ecological interaction networks (Hansen et al., 1264 1265 2018). As such, a number of plants have coevolved with their pollinators, with flower phenology, morphology and volatilome specifically adapted to attract certain pollinators 1266 (Steenhuisen et al., 2010; Lazaro et al., 2013; Daniels & Arceo-Gomez, 2019). However, there 1267 1268 are also generalist flower visitors that can be lured by larger floral blooms and copious pollen rewards (Bartomeus et al., 2008; Traveset & Richardson, 2014). Hence, co-flowering plants 1269 can share or compete for generalist pollinators. In consequence, co-flowering plants that are 1270 1271 poor competitors for pollinators may receive reduced visitation rates and this can drive evolutionary shifts in flowering phenology (Mosquin, 1971). Furthermore, there is increasing 1272 evidence that for plant species which share pollinators, flowering earlier in the season than 1273 other plants is advantageous (Herbertsson et al., 2017; Keherberger & Holzschuch, 2019). 1274

1275 Invasive alien plants owe their establishment success partly to high seed production rates 1276 emanating from large floral displays (Dawson *et al.*, 2009). In addition, some species form 1277 large monospecific patches with a huge abundance of flowers making them superior 1278 competitors for pollinators (Traveset & Richardson, 2014). For example, Hansen *et al.* (2018) 1279 reported a larger decrease of flower visitation rate among native plants following American 1280 bramble (*Rubus cuneifolius* Pursh) invasion compared to fragmentation in South African 1281 grasslands.

1283 Agroecosystems are characterised by low plant species diversity due to the general nature of land use, which involves frequent landscape disturbances that prioritise specific plants, leading 1284 to monocultures (Altieri, 1999). For pollinators, monocultures and fragmentation present a 1285 1286 challenge of limited floral resources at various spatial and temporal scales leading to limited 1287 nutrition and ultimately population decline (Heller et al., 2019). Moreover, indiscriminate application of agrochemicals in agroecosystems further induces stress on biodiversity (Goulson 1288 1289 et al., 2015) and a net decline in pollinators owing to their high sensitivity (Connolly, 2013; Aoun, 2020). 1290

1291 Agroecosystems are mainly dominated by introduced plants which now constitute more than 1292 90% of world food crop production (Pimentel, 2005). Lack of diversity in these managed ecosystems and frequent disturbances often leads to susceptibility to IAP invasion and 1293 1294 competition for resources (Lozon & MacIsaac, 1997; Harker et al., 2005). Thus, invasion of pollinator-dependent agroecosystems has the potential to reduce food production due to 1295 competition and disruption of plant-pollinator networks. While additional floral resources may 1296 1297 be necessary in provision of food and nesting for pollinators in agroecosystems, these need to 1298 be managed to avoid an overlap in blooms in order to reduce competition (Heller et al., 2019).

1299 The black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia L.: Fabaceae), native to North America, is a growing threat to both natural and agroecosystems invading the Afromontane region of South Africa 1300 1301 (Martin, 2019). Besides its known impacts on native plant diversity through alteration of the biophysical components of the ecosystem such as nitrogen levels and soil microbiota (Lazzaro 1302 et al., 2018), its role in pollinator interaction networks remains underexplored. Locally, the 1303 tree has already shown potential to reduce livestock margins by up to US\$ 39 million per annum 1304 1305 through invasion of rangelands (Humphrey et al., 2019). Although R. pseudoacacia is widespread in South Africa, a lot is still unknown regarding its ecology under local conditions 1306 (Martin, 2019). Its large floral displays together with high quantities of nectar potentially attract 1307

1308 pollinators thereby affecting co-flowering plants (Ciejacks et al., 2013). In some countries, such as Hungary, R. pseudoacacia is the major contributor to honey production, suggesting its 1309 role in attracting bees of the Apis genus (Sitzia et al., 2016). Furthermore, various studies 1310 1311 investigating the impacts of IAPs on pollinator visits are largely focused on native non-crop plants. Yet, disruption of crop pollination can have dire consequences on crop yield and 1312 profitability of farming together with food and nutritional security. Therefore, this study sought 1313 1314 to determine diversity, abundance and interactions between flower visitors, as a proxy for 1315 pollination, on two co-flowering plants: the orchard plant *Malus domestica* L. Borkh. (apple), 1316 and an IAP, R. pseudoacacia. Specifically, we sought to answer the following questions (i) Which insect groups visit *M. domestica* and *R. pseudoacacia*? (ii) Is there competition between 1317 R. pseudoacacia and neighbouring co-flowering orchard plants for flower visitors? We 1318 1319 hypothesise that there will greater diversity, abundance and interaction of flower visitors to R. 1320 pseudoacacia than M. domestica.

1321

1 4.2 Materials and methods

1322 *4.2.1 Study Area*

The study was conducted in October 2019 at Ionia Farm in e xastern Free State (20°46'49.93" 1323 S; 28°02'18.03" E), South Africa, during an overlapping flowering period for *R. pseudoacacia* 1324 1325 and *M. domestica*. The area is located in the grassland biome (Mucina & Rutherford, 2006) and according to the Köppen-Geiger classification, the climate is subtropical highland (Cwb) 1326 with annual temperatures and rainfall averaging 13.7 °C and 693 mm respectively (Beck et al., 1327 2018). The Eastern Free State is an expanding fruit growing region which, according to a local 1328 bulletin (The Farmers Weekly), has ~400 ha under apple production. In order to supplement 1329 pollination, it is common for growers to hire bee colonies during the flowering period. 1330

1331 *4.2.2 Study plant species*

1332 *4.2.2.1 Robinia pseudoacacia*

Robinia pseudoacacia is a leguminous tree, commonly known as Black locust, from the 1333 Fabaceae family, originating from the Appalachian Mountains in North America. The tree is 1334 now widely distributed across the globe with extensive populations in Europe and Asia (Brundu 1335 1336 & Richardson, 2016). Its status as an invasive species varies with country although according 1337 to CABI (2020), 21 countries regard it as invasive. In South Africa, it is a category 1b invasive alien plant according to the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act (NEM: 1338 BA) 10 of 2004. The tree produces white to cream fragrant flowers, in pendulous, many-1339 flowered, axillary racemes (Cierjacks et al., 2013). Flowering in the southern hemisphere 1340 occurs during spring, between September and October. Trees normally start flowering at 6 1341 years and continue until approximately 40 years. However, biennial flowering is also common. 1342 Robinia pseudoacacia exhibits compensatory growth following disturbance through aggressive 1343 coppicing, which makes it difficult to manage through mechanical and chemical means. 1344

1345 *4.2.2.2 Malus domestica*

Malus domestica L. Borkh (Rosaceae), commonly known as apple is a plant originating from 1346 1347 Tian Shan Mountains in Kazakhstan (Spengler, 2019). Flower initiation in the Eastern Free State of South Africa usually occurs for approximately three weeks, between September and 1348 October. However, flowering may be inhibited by nearby developing fruitlets resulting in 1349 1350 biennial bearing (Eccher et al., 2014). Flowers in M. domestica form clusters called corymbs, which are characterised by proportionally longer lower stalks so that the flowers form a flat or 1351 slightly convex head. Apples are obligate cross-pollinated and under commercial production 1352 systems, pollen donors (pollenizers) are interspaced with the main fruit trees. Inadequate 1353

pollination can result in misshapen apples which take long to ripen, or immature fruits whichdrop early (Sheffield, 2014).

1356

4.2.3 Plant-pollinator interaction and flower visitation

To determine plant-pollinator interactions, six 25 m^2 quadrats were randomly established, three 1357 over a patch of *R. pseudoacacia* and the other three in an orchard of *M. domestica* 100m away 1358 (Fig. 4.1). Both plant species were observed twice, once in the morning (08:00-12:00) and 1359 1360 once in the afternoon (14:00–18:00), for 15 minutes over three clear and calm days when there was maximum arthropod activity. Two observers noted arriving flower visitor groups and their 1361 numbers in each quadrat. Only those visitors that contacted floral and reproductive parts of a 1362 1363 flower during the 15-minute period were considered as potential pollinators (Gibson et al., 2013). The first insect encountered for each visitor group was captured using either a sweep 1364 net or an aspirator, and preserved in labelled vials with 70% alcohol for later identification. 1365 Some flower visitors were also photographed for identification purposes. To determine flower 1366 visitation rates, the number of floral units for the two focal plant species was established. 1367 Visitation rates were then calculated as the average number of visits/number of open 1368 flowers/hour for every visitor group. This was done to avoid the bias of unequal flower 1369 numbers between the two plant species. 1370



Figure 4.1: Map of the study area showing location of the apple orchards (*Malus domestica*)
in relation to the Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia*) patches at Ionia in the eastern Free State,
South Africa.

1375 *4.2.4 Statistical Analyses*

All data analyses were carried out using R software version 3.2.1 (R Development Core Team, 1376 2020). Variation in flower visitation rates by different arthropod orders on the same plant 1377 species and across plant species were analysed using the non-parametric Kruskal –Wallis test 1378 as the data did not conform to normality. To further affirm the suitability of the test, the data 1379 were first subjected to Bartlett's test with results showing unequal variances. Where the 1380 Kruskal-Wallis test indicated significant differences, post hoc tests were further performed to 1381 1382 separate significantly different pairs using the Kruskal-Wallis multiple comparison p-values adjusted with the Bonferroni method or Dunn test using the R package, "FSA" (Dunn, 1964). 1383 1384 Due to low abundance of some flower visitors, analyses were conducted at species level for the most prominent visitors, while some were grouped into families (e.g. Formicidae, Syrphidae 1385 and Bibionidae) and the rest were aggregated into orders. 1386

1387 To explore the interaction of flowers and visitors, a quantitative network was constructed for combined visitors observed on both sites using the Bipartite package in the R software 1388 (Dormann et al., 2008). The two co-flowering plants, M. domestica and R. pseudoacacia, 1389 1390 constituted the lower trophic level while flower visitors categorized mainly into orders, (Coleoptera, Diptera, Hemiptera, Hymenoptera and Lepidoptera), families (Formicidae, 1391 Bibionidae and Syrphidae) and species (Apis mellifera L. and Xylocapa caffra L.), formed the 1392 higher trophic level. To create a visual representation of the interaction network, the 'plotweb' 1393 function was used to create a web of interactions between the two trophic levels. Then using 1394 1395 the 'networklevel' function of the package, network level metrics were calculated (Bluthgen et al., 2008). 1396

1397 **4.3 Results**

1398

4.3.1 Abundance of flower visitors

Diptera were the most abundant flower visitors recorded in the *M. domestica* orchards with the 1399 march fly (Bibionidae) family being the most common visitor within the order (Fig. 4.2D, Fig. 1400 1401 4.3). These were followed by the African honey bee (Apis mellifera). Calyptrate dipterans mainly from the Calliphoridae family (Fig. 4.2A) as well as hoverflies (Syrphidae) also 1402 constituted a significant proportion of apple flower visitors. However, in the R. pseudoacacia 1403 1404 stands, honey bees were the dominant flower visitors while the rest of the arthropod families 1405 and orders occurred as occasional visitors (Fig. 4.3). When compared across sites, A. mellifera 1406 was more abundant in R. pseudoacacia than M. domestica (Fig. 4.3). However, there were more dipterans in *M. domestica* orchards (n = 908) in comparison to *R. pseudoacacia* (n = 74) 1407 (Table 4.1). Whilst all the other flower visitors were common to both trees, ants (Formicidae) 1408 and the solitary carpenter bee (Xylocopa caffra) were not observed on M. domestica flowers 1409 (Table 4.1). 1410



1411

Figure 4.2: Some of the flower visitors observed on *Malus domestica* (top row) and *Robinia pseudoacacia* (bottom row) belonging to Diptera (A, D & E), Lepidoptera (B & F),

1414 Hymenoptera (C & G) and Coleoptera (H). *Photos: Chikowore G., 2019.*



Figure 4.3: Abundance of flower visitors in *Malus domestica* orchard and adjacent *Robinia pseudoacacia* patches at Ionia Farm in Eastern Free State, South Africa. Note difference in
scale when comparing visitor abundance to each plant species.

- 1424 **Table 4.1:** Total number of visiting insects observed (n), and percentage (%) of total for each
- 1425 flower visitor on Malus domestica (Apple) and Robinia pseudoacacia (Black locust) flowers,

Order	Flower visitor	<i>M. do</i>	omestica	R. pseudo	pacacia
		n	%	n	%
Coleoptera	Beetles	2	0.18	29	1.71
Diptera	Flies	49	4.33	15	0.89
Diptera	Bibionidae	768	67.84	3	0.18
Diptera	Syrphidae	71	6.27	21	1.24
Diptera	Other Diptera	20	1.77	35	2.07
Hymenoptera	Formicidae	0	0.00	38	2.24
Hymenoptera	Apis mellifera	192	16.96	1505	88.9
Hymenoptera	Xylocopa caffra	0	0.00	28	1.65
Hymenoptera	Other Hymenoptera	2	0.18	1	0.06
Lepidoptera	Butterflies	20	1.77	16	0.95
Hemiptera	Hemiptera	8	0.71	2	0.12
Total		1132	100	1693	100

1426 observed twice a day for three days.

1427

1428

4.3.2 Pollinator visitation rate

Flower visitation rates by Diptera were significantly different between families and sites (χ^2 = 1429 89.868, df = 7, p < 0.001). The post-hoc Dunn test further showed Bibionids recording the 1430 highest flower visitation rate in apple orchards relative to other dipteran species (Fig. 4.4A). 1431 Visitation rates by Dipteran insects did not vary significantly for R. pseudoacacia (p > 0.05) 1432 (Fig 4.4A). When compared across sites, visitation rates by Bibionidae, Calliphoridae and 1433 Syrphidae differed significantly between *M. domestica* and *R. pseudoacacia* (adjusted p < p1434 1435 0.001) (Table 4.2). For the order Hymenoptera, flower visitation also varied significantly within and across sites ($\chi^2 = 120.23$, df = 7, p < 0.001). Post hoc tests showed that the visitation 1436 rate for A. mellifera was significantly higher than other species for both M. domestica and R. 1437 pseudoacacia (Fig. 4.4B). Although flower visitation rates by A. mellifera were marginally 1438 higher in R. pseudoacacia than M. domestica, the difference was not statistically significant 1439

1440 (adjusted p > 0.05). Visitation to *R. pseudoacacia* flowers by Coleopterans was significantly 1441 higher than Apple flowers (Fig. 4.4C). In contrast, the visitation rate by Hemipterans was 1442 significantly higher on *M. domestica* than *R. pseudoacacia* flowers. There was no significant 1443 difference in visitation rates to both plant species by Lepidopterans (Fig. 4.4C).



Figure 4.4: Flower visitation rates (visitors flower ⁻¹ hour ⁻¹) (median) on *Malus domestica*(Apple) in light grey and *Robinia pseudoacacia* (Black locust) in dark grey. The visitors were
grouped into (A) Hymenoptera, (B) Diptera and (C) other orders. Boxplots with different letters
indicate significant differences in visitation rates between plant species.

- 1450
- 1451
- 1452

Table 4.2: Rank sum pair-wise Kruskal –Wallis comparison test with p-values adjusted with
the Bonferroni method results for variation in visitation rates (visitors flower ⁻¹ hour ⁻¹) between *Robinia pseudoacacia* and *Malus domestica* flowers. Significant effects are denoted by a bold
font.

Order	Group	Ζ	<i>p</i> -value (unadjusted)	<i>p</i> -value (adjusted)
Hymenoptera	Apis mellifera	-0.83	0.409	1
	Formicidae	-2.3	0.021	0.604
	Xylocopa caffra	-3.6	0.002	0.008
	Other Hymenoptera	0.36	0.751	1
Diptera	Bibionidae	7.48	<0.0001	<0.0001
	Calyptrate Diptera	3.74	0.0002	0.0052
	Syrphidae	3.35	0.0008	0.027
	Other Diptera	-0.71	0.479	1
Coleoptera		-3.35	0.0008	0.012
Hemiptera		1.39	0.163	1
Lepidoptera		1.51	0.131	1

1457

1458

4.3.3 Plant-pollinator visitation network

1459 The bipartite interaction network for the two sites showed that A. mellifera was the most 1460 common visitor, mostly frequenting *R. pseudoacacia*, while march flies (Bibionidae) were the major flower visitors on *M. domestica* flowers (Fig. 4.5). Shared interactions were 1.54 for the 1461 higher trophic level which translated to a niche overlap of approximately 67%, while the two 1462 sites shared 9 of the 11 flower visitor groups (Fig. 4.5). Of all flower visitors in the network, 1463 only those from the family Formicidae as well as carpenter bees (X. caffra) were not shared 1464 between the two sites. However, at species level, a number of individuals were also not shared 1465 although it is not reflected in the interaction due to taxonomic resolution. The network metrics 1466 1467 indicated high nestedness and connectance indicating high redundancy hence there were no indications of one plant totally excluding the other (Table 4.3). 1468



Figure 4.5: Bipartite interaction network for *Malus domestica* (Apple) and *Robinia pseudoacacia* (Black locust) visitors. Black boxes represent flower-visiting insects in the upper level, and plants in the lower level, their widths indicate the number of visits recorded. Grey links indicate plant–flower visitor interactions, and the breadth of the links represent visitation frequency.

1475 **Table 4.3:** Network level metrics for plant - flower visitor interactions in *Malus domestica*

1476 and *Robinia pseudoacacia*

Parameter	Level
Connectance	0.91
Nestedness	0.02
H ₂ ' index	0.63
Niche overlap Lower Trophic Level	0.38
Niche overlap Higher Trophic Level	0.67
Linkage per species	1.54

1477

1478

1480 **4.4 Discussion**

1481 This study showed that invasion of agro-ecological ecosystems by *R. pseudoacacia* results in 1482 the sharing of flower visitors, potentially reducing pollination and ultimately yields. These 1483 findings are consistent with a number of studies showing the impact of invasive alien plants 1484 such as Acacia saligna (Labill.) H.L.Wendl. (Fabaceae), Rubus cuneifolius Pursh (Rosaceae) 1485 and Parthenium hysterophorus L. (Asteraceae) on native plant flower visitation (e.g. Gibson 1486 et al., 2012, 2013; Hansen et al., 2018; Ojija et al., 2019). However, in contrast to these studies 1487 our study focused on the impact of an invasive alien plant, R. pseudoacacia on another exotic 1488 commercially cultivated orchard plant *M. domestica*. As the two plants are both exotic, it is most likely that they depend entirely on generalist pollinators, putting them in direct 1489 1490 competition. Hence, visitors such as the social A. mellifera (Bartomeus, 2013), were the most commonly shared pollinators between the two indicating a competitive rather than mutual 1491 1492 relationship.

Similarities in flower morphology have also been discovered to be a determinant of co-option 1493 of IAPs into native pollination networks (Munoz & Cavieres, 2019). Our results showed a 1494 1495 marked preference for apple flowers by dipteran flies. It is possible that this preference was driven by differential appeal mediated by their odour emission and /or flower morphology as 1496 apple flowers are more open with easily accessible reproductive parts compared to R. 1497 1498 *pseudoacacia*. This preference in the presence of strong competition for native bee pollination may contribute to successful pollination of apples by dipterans. However, this depends on the 1499 efficiency of this taxa as pollinators as Garrat et al. (2016) states, flies are less efficient as apple 1500 1501 pollinators than bees. Although bibionids were the most abundant visitors on apple flowers, their movement between flowers and plants seemed to be limited suggesting that they may play 1502 a role in autogenous pollination. Although Chirango et al. (2019) observed high abundances of 1503

bibionids on *Eustegia minuta* R.Br. (Apocynaceae) in South Africa, there is still need to
examine if indeed they contribute to apple pollination. There is also a possibility that they might
be acting as nectar thieves rather than pollinators. Since apples are obligatory cross-pollinated,
this might be compromised as pollen has to be transferred from pollen donors. However, this
aspect requires further investigation.

1509 Although we found more honey bees in *R. pseudoacacia* than in apple orchards in this study, the visitation rate by the bees did not vary significantly in both sites. This similarity seems to 1510 be driven by the abundance of flowers in *R. pseudoacacia* when compared to apple trees. In an 1511 1512 aerial study to quantify R. pseudoacacia flowers, Carl et al. (2017) found an average of ~255 1513 inflorescences bearing ~5000 flowers on trees. Dietzsch et al. (2011) observed a decline in flower visitation rates to native Digitalis purpurea L. (Plantaginaceae) with an increase in the 1514 1515 abundance of an invasive alien plant, Rhododendron ponticum L. (Ericaceae)in Ireland. This further confirms that the IAPs can attract more pollinators from the community when compared 1516 with co-flowering plants. Similarities in visitation rates in this study show that R. pseudoacacia 1517 is a strong competitor especially for native honey bees, A. mellifera, with potential negative 1518 effects for apple production. This genus has also been found to be attracted to IAPs with 1519 1520 potential impacts on pollination for co-flowering plants (see Gibson et al., 2013). It is also 1521 common practice for farmers to supplement pollinators by hiring bee colonies. However, in 1522 light of this competition posed by R. pseudoacacia, larger colonies might be required as some 1523 are bound to be lured away from the orchards. Moreover, only a fraction of bees successfully transfer pollen from donors thus any competition further reduces chances of successful pollen 1524 1525 transfer (Adler & Irwin, 2006).

Our results showed that there were no crawling insects visiting apple flowers, such as ants. In
all likelihood, this might be a consequence of management, particularly pesticide application.
However, the effect on flying arthropods needs to be investigated especially when contact

pesticides are applied. Some studies have highlighted the negative impacts of pesticides on
pollinator abundances especially in managed ecosystems (Goulson *et al.*, 2018). In the presence
of alternative floral resources provided by invasive trees, this might further serve to reduce
production in pollinator dependent agro-ecosystems.

The interaction network constructed in this study was highly nested, suggesting that pollinators 1533 1534 visiting both *R. pseudoacacia* and apple trees belong to the same community and one is a subset of the other. While this metric is highly robust as it is not influenced by sampling, it might be 1535 influenced by network size (Bascompte et al., 2003; Bartomeus, 2013). Nevertheless, our 1536 1537 results clearly show an integrated network of flower visitors for R. pseudoacacia and apples. This has implications on pollination of economically important trees such as apple as the 1538 sharing of pollinators potentially reduces fruit set. Although fruit production was not measured 1539 1540 in the current study, this warrants further investigation to fully elucidate the competitive effects of *R. pseudoacacia* on *M. domestica* fruit set and yield. While some studies have recommended 1541 the provision of additional flower resources for spring pollinators (e.g. Heller et al., 2019), care 1542 must be taken to avoid overlapping of flowering periods to reduce competition. Our results also 1543 showed that honey bees frequented *R. pseudoacacia* more than apple trees suggesting that the 1544 1545 former might be more attractive. This has been the case in all flower visitor networks involving 1546 invasive alien plants (see Ojija et al., 2019; Hansen et al., 2018) and flower abundance has 1547 been identified as the primary reason for attraction.

In conclusion, invasion of pollinator dependent agro-ecological systems by *R. pseudoacacia* can potentially compromise productivity due to competition for pollinators. Therefore, effective pollinator conservation should be adopted and control of IAPs should be integrated into those strategies. In this study, we did not quantify the floral attributes mediating the differential visitation rates nor the subsequent impact on yield. Future studies should therefore

- 1553 consider investigating the actual drivers of the visitation rates together with yield in order to
- 1554 prioritise management decisions.

1555	CHAPTER 5
1556	
1557	
1558	
1559	
1560	
1561	
1562	Contributions of Black locust (<i>Robinia pseudoacacia</i> L.) to livelihoods of
1563	peri-urban dwellers in the Free State Province of South Africa*
1564	
1565	
1566	
1567	
1568	
1569	
1570	
1571	
1572	
1573	
1574	
1575	
1576	*Submitted to: Geojournal

1577 **5.1 Introduction**

Globalisation mediated by human movement and trade are among the leading drivers of 1578 1579 biological invasions (Mack, 2003; IPBES, 2019; Essl et al., 2020). While the introduction of 1580 biological material might be accidental, for several species, it is driven by societal needs. For 1581 instance, invasive alien plants (IAPs) have been introduced for food, fuel, land reclamation, 1582 construction resources and amelioration, among other needs (Richardson & Rejmanek, 2011; 1583 Shackleton et al., 2019). However, despite some of these plants providing services, many have become invasive and are threatening human wellbeing through their impact on various 1584 1585 ecosystem services (Shackleton et al., 2015). Several studies have documented the adverse impacts of invasive alien species on ecosystem structure and functioning (Ehrenfeld, 2003; 1586 Gorgens & van Wilgen, 2004; Livingstone et al., 2020). However, the extent to which IAPs 1587 have integrated into and their importance to local livelihoods remains underexplored. This is 1588 1589 particularly important in developing countries where ecosystem services chiefly influence 1590 livelihoods.

1591 Although many alien trees were introduced globally for defined purposes, communities at times develop additional uses for some of the species over time. For example, Acacia cyclops 1592 1593 A.Cunn. ex G.Don (Fabaceae) was introduced into South Africa for sand dune stabilisation but is now used as fuelwood for domestic and commercial purposes (Adair, 2004). Even for 1594 accidentally introduced species, communities also explore their beneficial properties. For 1595 instance, one of the widespread agricultural weeds globally, Bidens pilosa L. (Asteraceae) is 1596 reportedly utilised as food and medicine across Africa, Asia, America and Oceania (Bartolome 1597 1598 et al., 2013). Some authors have described utilisation of alien species as opportunistic (Howard, 2019; Martinez & Manzano-Garcia, 2019). However, there is clear integration of such species 1599 into local livelihoods (de Neergaard et al., 2005). Residence time plays a role in the acceptance 1600 1601 and utilisation of some species as locals become adventitious and diversify their livelihoods

1602 (Rai *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, ubiquity and declining native species can also result in local communities migrating to alien species (Geesing et al., 2004). In such cases, a direct proportion 1603 of the alien species environmental presentation and not their superior traits dictate community 1604 1605 usage (Shackleton et al., 2007). In addition, the need to conserve natural diversity has also been 1606 proffered as the reason behind utilisation of alien species. Kull et al. (2011) reported that uses of invasive alien trees are influenced by a number of factors among them, land use traditions, 1607 1608 historical and current economic opportunities as well as subsistence needs. While there is evidence on the adaptations of invasive alien species to local environments (Vila & Weiner, 1609 1610 2004; Oduor et al., 2016), there is lack of information on the adaptation of invaded communities to alien species (Howard, 2019). 1611

1612 In some parts of North America, Africa and the Middle East, proposals have been put forward 1613 to control species that that communities can use through consumption (Geesing *et al.*, 2004; Varble & Secchi, 2013). This view stems partly from the realisation that it might be difficult 1614 to restore ecosystems as secondary invasions have been noted following clearing (Holmes et 1615 al., 2020). However, the sustainability of control through utilisation has been questioned due 1616 to its potential to create a dependence on the resource. Nunez et al. (2012), postulated that 1617 1618 utilisation of invasive alien species especially those that are edible potentially creates market 1619 actors which fuel further invasion. In South Africa, utilisation of Acacia mearnsii De Wild. 1620 (Fabaceae) and Acacia dealbata Link (Fabaceae) has influenced the perception of locals to 1621 view these invasive alien trees as indigenous natural resources (de Neergaard et al., 2005).

1622 Context is therefore important in determining the impacts and benefits of invasive alien species 1623 to avoid conflict scenarios between environmental impacts and community needs (Shackleton 1624 *et al.*, 2019). In many instances, benefits and negative impacts variably affect different 1625 stakeholders. For example, while plantation trees have quantifiable benefits to private entities 1626 and national economies, their spread into public spaces may affect surrounding communities. 1627 Where invasive alien species are utilised, there are often trade-offs between the negative impacts and benefits (Ewel et al., 1999). For example, de Wit et al. (2001) reported that 1628 environmental damage caused by the invasive plantation tree, A. mearnsii outweighs its 1629 1630 economic contributions in South Africa. Similarly, Eucalyptus camaldulensis Dehnh. (Myrtaceae) is reportedly the most widespread conflict generating species in South Africa as 1631 perceptions on its benefits and costs vary across regions and social sectors (Hirsch et al., 2020). 1632 1633 While it is easier to do cost-benefit analyses for commercially introduced species, the same is difficult for those without clearer purposes. This is due to the complexity in apportioning value 1634 1635 to biological forest products exploited by poor rural communities in Africa (Shackleton et al., 2007). While trading in forest products generally offers a social safety net, incomes generated 1636 are insignificant for poverty alleviation (Shackleton et al., 2008) unless these resources are 1637 1638 exploited formally (Shackleton *et al.*, 2007)

In South Africa, considerable evaluations on the impacts of invasive alien trees on rural 1639 livelihoods have been done with both positive and negative impacts reported (Shackleton et 1640 al., 2007; Semenya et al., 2012; Shackleton et al., 2015). For instance, Shackleton et al. (2015) 1641 reported that while *Prosopis* contributed to livelihoods through non-timber products, some 1642 1643 stakeholders cited many negative impacts including obstruction to land access, destruction of 1644 houses, and reduction in water resources. However, very little is known about the interactions 1645 between peri-urban communities and invasive alien plants. Peri-urban communities are defined 1646 as landscapes of mixed land use and livelihoods encompassing both rural and urban traits (Diaz-Caravantes & Sanchez-Flores, 2011). In addition, they have higher population densities 1647 than rural areas and are often informal. Like most rural communities, they rely on forest 1648 1649 products primarily for fuel. Even for those with access to power infrastructure, the increasing 1650 strain on conventional gridded power, as well as the escalating cost of alternative power
sources, has seen a number turning to firewood for heating and other domestic purposes(Shackleton *et al.*, 2007).

1653 *Robinia pseudoacacia* is a tree of North American origin that is now widely distributed across 1654 the globe (Nicolescu et al., 2020). The tree was described by Vitkova et al. (2017) as 'beloved and despised' due to its highly conflicted nature. As a result, there are contradictions on 1655 1656 invasive status across Europe depending on jurisdiction (Vitkova et al., 2017). Among its notable benefits are honey production, erosion control, rot-resistant timber (Cierjacks et al., 1657 2013). However, these are weighed down by its rapid spread, management difficulty, and 1658 1659 impacts on native diversity (Benesperi et al., 2012; Lazzaro et al., 2018). In South Africa R. *pseudoacacia* is present in all provinces of the country although the largest stands have been 1660 recorded in the grassland biome (Henderson & Wilson, 2017; Martin, 2019). A survey in the 1661 1662 eastern Free State of South Africa showed that the plant reduces the diversity of native vegetation and can potentially reduce gross margins in livestock enterprises (Humphrey et al., 1663 2019; Chikowore et al., 2021). While negative effects of the tree are emerging, its current 1664 1665 utilisation and potential contribution to local livelihoods in South Africa is undocumented. Native grasslands provide essential ecosystem services such as grazing for domestic and wild 1666 1667 animals, thatching grass, medicines, and sweeping brooms (Moffett, 1997). However, 1668 habitants of grassland-dominated landscapes also require other services provided by trees 1669 which are scarce and where available do not suit desired purposes. Thus, some alien woody 1670 species are utilised whenever available through deliberate or accidental introductions. The montane grasslands of South Africa are a reflection of the transformation of local landscapes 1671 to satisfy societal needs. Native woody species in this biome are composed of short brushy 1672 1673 vegetation dominated by the genus Leucosidea and some Protecea species (Mucina & 1674 Rutherford, 2006). Given this structure, native vegetation fails to meet some needs such as construction, fencing, and fuel. In this biome, perceived suitable species of exotic origin are 1675

often introduced and utilised. In the Maluti–Drakensburg grasslands, besides commercial plantation trees, many invasive species have also been introduced (Carbutt, 2012). It has been argued that invasive alien species have a competitive advantage over local species due to lack of natural enemies (Vila & Weiner, 2004). In this regard, they may produce unblemished products when compared to native species leading to their increased utilisation.

1681 Given the expanding populations of *R. pseudoacacia* in the grassland biome of South Africa (Martin, 2019), there is need to understand its utilisation patterns by various stakeholders. Peri-1682 urban settlements are particularly a vulnerable section of society which is overlooked. 1683 1684 Shackleton et al. (2015) showed that they are equally affected by invasive alien plants. Furthermore, Reynolds et al. (2020) highlighted that poverty increases vulnerability of 1685 communities to invasive alien plants. This study sought to determine the level of utilisation for 1686 1687 *R. pseudoacacia* by peri-urban communities in eastern Free State Province of South Africa. Specifically, we asked 1. What is the level of knowledge regarding trees in grasslands and their 1688 origins? 2. What are the utilisation patterns of invasive alien trees and R. pseudoacacia in 1689 particular? 3 What is the relative contribution of R. pseudoacacia to the livelihoods of peri-1690 1691 urban dwellers in eastern Free State Province of South Africa?

1692

1693

1694

1695

1696

1697 **5.2 Materials and methods**

1698 5.2.1 Study area

1699 The survey was undertaken between March and July 2020 in the eastern Free State of South 1700 Africa. Three peri-urban communities near Clarens, Fouriesburg and Phuthadijthaba were surveyed. Targeted settlements were mainly informal on the peripheries of these towns. Clarens 1701 and Fouriesburg fall under the Dihlabeng Municipality of the Thabo Mofutsanyane District. 1702 1703 The two are small towns typical of the eastern Free State which serve primarily as service 1704 centres for surrounding agricultural communities. However, there is significant tourist activity especially in Clarens due to its proximity to Golden Gate National Park and scenic grassland 1705 1706 mountains (Halseth & Meiklejohn, 2009; Campbell, 2016). According to the Municipalities of 1707 South Africa (www. municipalities.co.za), a local governance body that tracks service delivery across South Africa, the unemployment rate in the district was approximately 28.7% in 2011 1708 1709 while informal settlements constituted around 23.3%. Phuthaditjhaba falls under the Maluti-A-Phofung municipality and the major economic sectors are social services and agriculture. The 1710 area also experiences severe winter temperatures which go below -10°C. This drives the 1711 1712 demand for fuelwood for heating purposes. Native vegetation in the area is dominated by grasses and forbs with scattered woody trees, most of which are of alien origin (Fig. 5.1). 1713



Figure 5.1: Distribution of invasive alien plants in the eastern Free State, South Africa. Data
sources: The South African Plant Invaders Atlas (SAPIA) and iNaturalist.

1717 *5.2.2 Sampling approach*

1718 Semi-structured and structured interviews with a total of 36 interviewees from settlements surrounding Clarens, Fouriesburg, and Phuthadichaba towns, chosen intentionally by the 1719 snowballing method. Prior to administration of the questionnaire, a survey was done to identify 1720 1721 settlements close to established large R. pseudoacacia populations as well as physical signs of harvesting on the stands. Furthermore, common invasive alien trees were also recorded to 1722 1723 enable comparison with R. pseudoacacia, the target species. The study proposal was submitted to the General/Human Research Ethics Committee (GHREC) of the University of the Free 1724 1725 State and granted ethical approval (UFS-HSD2020/1448/1111). Initial respondents were drawn from individuals who were found harvesting R. pseudoacacia trees and these snowballed to 1726

other respondents. The data saturation criterion, where the next interviewee did not provide new information, was used to determine the sample size. Informed consent was obtained and participation was voluntary while confidentiality was maintained. Interviews were conducted in the local language- Sotho, targeting adults from different households. These focussed on the knowledge of available trees, their significance to livelihoods, and potential trade-offs. The focus of respondents was particularly drawn to incomes generated from *R. pseudoacacia* and its products as well as management efforts directed towards the species.

1734 *5.2.3 Data analysis*

Since deductive coding was used in the design of the questionnaire, data was captured and organised into its respective codes. These codes were botanical knowledge, utilisation of forest products, and management of *R. pseudoacacia*. Microsoft Excel was then used to compare the frequency of responses to particular thematic areas. To compare the utility of *R. pseudoacacia* with other trees within the landscape, the pairwise ranking approach was applied based on the number of uses for each tree species.

1741 **5.3 Results**

1742 5.3.1 Botanical knowledge

The majority of respondents (61%) exhibited knowledge of local flora as they easily mentioned 1743 1744 common trees in their environs. However, only 42% of these could distinguish between indigenous and alien trees. When further asked to name common trees in the area, commonly 1745 mentioned species were of alien origin with *Poplar* species getting the most mentions (89%) 1746 (Fig. 5.2). A total of 18 tree species were listed and 33% of these are native to South Africa. 1747 The most common native species was Leucosidea sericea Eckl. & Zeyh. (Rosaceae) which was 1748 1749 mentioned by 53% of the respondents. Robinia pseudoacacia appeared to be fairly common as it was mentioned by 42% of respondents. When questioned further, those respondents who did 1750

- 1751 not list *R. pseudoacacia* could identify the tree. All respondents had *R. pseudoacacia* trees
- 1752 close to their homesteads and densities were described and the majority of respondents (44%)





1754

Figure 5.2: Tree species mentioned by respondents in eastern Free State, South Africa. Species
names are given with native Sotho names in brackets. Native species are marked by an asterisk.



1757

Figure 5.3: Perceptions of respondents to densities of *Robinia pseudoacacia* in eastern Free
State, South Africa.

1760 5.3.2 Utilisation of forest products

1761 All respondents used both timber and non-timber forest products collected from surrounding 1762 areas. However, the frequency of utilisation varied from daily to annual usage (Fig. 5.4). Most of the respondents (47%) said they used trees and tree products daily. The most frequent use 1763 for selected trees of alien origin was fuelwood followed by timber and fencing poles (Fig. 5.5). 1764 1765 From the overall pairwise ranking, *Eucalyptus* species ranked higher than all species while 1766 *Pyracantha* species were the least valuable. However, there were variations when comparisons 1767 were based on single uses (Table 5.1). Respondents mainly used R. pseudoacacia for fuel, 1768 timber (house construction materials), and fencing poles. However, some respondents stated that firewood from *R. pseudoacacia* produces bad smoke and did not last long thus making it 1769 1770 inferior to other species. Minor uses for the species were related to carving and furniture. The species was never ranked highly for any of the uses. A few respondents perceived the tree to 1771 1772 be useful and need to be propagated together with *Pinus* and *Poplar* species.



1773

Figure 5.4: Frequency of *Robinia pseudoacacia* and its products use by peri-urban inhabitants
in eastern Free State, South Africa.



1776

1777 Figure 5.5: Uses of common alien invasive trees by peri-urban dwellers in eastern Free State,

1778 South Africa.

- **Table 5.1:** Uses frequently cited by respondents for common invasive alien plants in eastern
- 1780 Free State grasslands

Use	Species	Frequency (%)	Rank
Firewood	Robinia pseudoacacia	75	3
	Acacia dealbata	87.5	2
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	25	4
	Poplar x canescens	100	1
	Ecalyptus	87.5	2
	Pinus pinaster	87.5	2
Fencing poles	Robinia pseudoacacia	81.25	2
	Acacia dealbata	75	3
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	0	5
	Poplar x canescens	68.75	4
	Ecalyptus	93.75	1
	Pinus pinaster	81.25	2
Construction	Robinia pseudoacacia	75	2
	Acacia dealbata	68.75	3
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	12.5	4
	Poplar x canescens	75	3
	Ecalyptus	81.25	1
	Pinus pinaster	68.75	3
Livestock feed	Robinia pseudoacacia	0	2
	Acacia dealbata	0	2
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	0	2

	Poplar x canscens	50	1
	Ecalyptus	0	2
	Pinus pinaster	0	2
Medicine	Robinia pseudoacacia	0	3
	Acacia dealbata	0	3
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	0	3
	Poplar x canescens	0	3
	Ecalyptus	62.5	2
	Pinus pinaster	81.25	1
Amelioration	Robinia pseudoacacia	0	2
	Acacia dealbata	0	2
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	12.5	1
	Poplar x canescens	0	2
	Ecalyptus	0	2
	Pinus pinaster	0	2
Carving	Robinia pseudoacacia	12.5	3
	Acacia dealbata	12.5	3
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	12.5	3
	Poplar x canescens	6.25	4
	Ecalyptus	75	1
	Pinus pinaster	43.75	2
Food	Robinia pseudoacacia	0	2
	Acacia dealbata	0	2
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	6.25	1
	Poplar x canscens	0	2
	Ecalyptus	0	2
	Pinus pinaster	0	2
Furniture	Robinia pseudoacacia	37.5	4
	Acacia dealbata	43.75	2
	Pyracantha anguistifolia	0	5
	Poplar x canescens	50	1
	Ecalyptus	31.25	3
	Pinus pinaster	50	1

1781

Only 5 respondents (14%) said they sold *R. pseudoacacia* products. The only commodity sold from this species was firewood and each individual sold a single bakkie load per year (~0.5 ton), realising on average R367 (US\$1 ~ R16). This income was mainly spent on food, school uniforms, payment of debts, and other unspecified needs. A single respondent did also mention that *R. pseudoacacia* trees were also benefiting people from nearby larger towns such as Ficksburg who came and harvested at sites near Fouriesburg mainly during winter. Despite its useful properties, *R. pseudoacacia* was viewed as a problematic species by all respondents. The majority of respondents (42%) stated that the tree forms thickets which makes movement difficult while 31% felt it was spreading uncontrollably (Fig. 5.6). Some individuals further mentioned that *R. pseudoacacia* was reducing the natural beauty of the landscape.



1792

Figure 5.6: Perceived negative effects of *Robinia pseudoacacia* by peri-urban communities in
eastern Free State, South Africa.

1795 *5.3.3 Management*

There are attempts to clear the tree around Clarens town by both government and the local community. However, there are no similar efforts at Fouriesburg and in Puthadijthaba. In addition to negative effects noted by respondents (Fig. 5.6), other reasons for clearing were stated as space creation (25%), employment creation, and conservation (13%). All respondents were aware that both mechanical and chemical methods were being used. However, there were differences in opinion regarding effectiveness of the control measures with 44% saying the population is going down and 56% saying it is expanding.

1803 5.4 Discussion

This study showed that peri-urban dwellers in eastern Free State Province make use of *R*. *pseudoacacia* to some extent. However, its utilisation appears to be opportunistic as it is not one of the species perceived to be of high importance by these communities. Moreover, its contribution to household incomes is very low. Its use is likely a function of its representation within the landscape as dense populations were reported and are evident.

This study further shows the importance of alien tree species in eastern Free State and the extent 1809 1810 to which these have integrated into local communities. This is evident by the number of species of alien origin mentioned by respondents and their failure to distinguish between native and 1811 1812 exotic trees. This is not surprising considering that native vegetation in this biome is 1813 predominantly grasses and forbs with a few scattered indigenous trees (Mucina & Rutherford, 1814 2006). However, several authors have reported the rapid transformation of high altitude grasslands in eastern Free State and Lesotho by invasive alien trees (Carbutt, 2012; Kobisi et 1815 al., 2019; Martin, 2019). Inevitably, these trees have become integrated into local communities 1816 with some now playing key socio-economic roles. For example, Kobisi et al. (2019) were able 1817 1818 to show that of the 57 alien plants recorded in Lesotho, the majority were of ethnobotanical significance. The assignment of local vernacular names to alien trees also indicates the extent 1819 1820 of integration of these species into local communities. This is because naming is often a 1821 descriptive process based on observed characteristics such as habitat, size, taste as well as functions of the plants (Moteetee & Van Wyk, 2006). 1822

Multiple uses have been reported for *R. pseudoacacia* especially in European countries (Vitkova *et al.*, 2017; Kunes *et al.*, 2019). Documented uses are broader and inclined towards formal economic exploitation of the tree for example to support honey production, railway sleepers, mine supports, boat building among other large-scale uses (Dalby, 2004; Nicolescu 1827 et al., 2020). Our results showed different utilisation patterns in South Africa with the tree 1828 mainly used for domestic purposes such as firewood, fencing posts, and house construction. However, these uses are also common for some alien trees in our study area with no evidence 1829 1830 of a high preference for *R. pseudoacacia*. Similarly, Shackleton *et al.* (2015) reported a marked 1831 preference for products from native trees despite the widespread use of *Prosopis* products in South Africa. Results showed that respondents deemed R. pseudoacacia populations to be 1832 1833 mainly dense. Therefore, the use of this tree in eastern Free State appears to be driven by its 1834 availability rather than superior traits. Although the tree reportedly produces durable, rot-1835 resistant fencing poles (Cierjacks et al., 2013), this characteristic did not make it preferable as *Eucalyptus* species which often grow straighter. However, this points towards lack of in-depth 1836 1837 knowledge of the properties of the tree. In addition, flowers from R. pseudoacacia are 1838 reportedly edible (Martinez & Manzano-Garcia, 2019) which is also an unexplored use of the 1839 species locally.

Some studies have reported significant contributions of environmental products, especially tree 1840 resources to household incomes in Africa (Langat et al., 2016; Shackleton et al., 2007). This 1841 study shows that incomes generated by peri-urban dwellers from *R. pseudoacacia* exploitation 1842 1843 are insignificant. This is despite severe winters experienced in eastern Free State which drive 1844 the demand for fuelwood. Kull et al. (2011) singled out poverty as the reason behind the 1845 widespread utilisation of Australian acacias outside commercial plantations as people take 1846 advantage of available resources. However, for R. pseudoacacia its fair representation in the study area does not translate into increased utilisation instance. Several reasons might be 1847 behind, firstly there are limited populations with trees with larger bole sizes (Chikowore et al., 1848 1849 2021) which are attractive for many purposes such as firewood and poles. Secondly, smaller 1850 trees especially re-sprouts form thickets which are thorny and difficult to harvest thus limiting commercial exploitation. Thirdly, ownership of resources around urban centres limits 1851

commercial exploitation. For instance, the area surrounding Clarens town is mainly a conservancy thus access to resources is limited. For some invasive alien trees, commercial exploitation has been practiced through value-addition into products such as charcoal (de Wit *et al.*, 2001). However, we found no evidence of processing of *R. pseudoacacia* or other invasive alien trees present in the area. This further shows that contributions of the species and others to household incomes in general is very limited.

For many invasive alien species, disparities in utilisation amongst stakeholders are often a 1858 source of conflict. van Wilgen et al. (2001) reported that invasive alien species may 1859 1860 differentially impact stakeholders with benefits accruing to some while others bear the costs. However, common to all stakeholders in eastern Free State are the negative impacts of the tree. 1861 Humphrey et al. (2019) reported that farmers in eastern Free State perceived the species to be 1862 1863 spreading uncontrollably and generally undesirable. This sentiment was shared by peri-urban dwellers even though their participation in the agricultural sector is limited. Moreover, there 1864 are no commercial plantations of the tree locally hence the tree invariably affects all 1865 stakeholders. Perceptions from respondents in this study indicated that efforts to control R. 1866 pseudoacacia using both mechanical and chemical means are largely ineffective. This is 1867 1868 consistent with studies in Asia and Europe, controlling R. pseudoacacia through mechanical 1869 and chemical means individually or combined is ineffective (Nicolescu *et al.*, 2020).

In conclusion, although peri-urban dwellers make use of *R. pseudoacacia*, they have not integrated it fully into their livelihoods. However, there is great reliance on other alien species in addition to *R. pseudoacacia* for several services. In addition, there is need for awareness campaigns to sensitize communities on invasive alien species in order to avoid management conflicts. Attempts to control *R. pseudoacacia* are unlikely to result in socio-ecological shocks to peri-urban communities. Hence, efforts to find sustainable management options should continue.

1877	CHAPTER 6
1878	
1879	
1880	
1881	
1882	
1883	
1884	
1885	General discussion
1886	
1887	
1888	
1889	
1890	
1891	
1892	
1893	
1894	
1895	
1896	
1897	
1898	
1899	
1900	
1901	

1902 This thesis highlights the importance of field studies in understanding the interactions between 1903 an invading species and the local environment. A geographical bias on the ecology of *Robinia* pseudoacacia in the southern hemisphere was reported by Martin (2019). Thus, this study is 1904 1905 the first to provide quantitative information on the biotic and abiotic interactions of R. pseudoacacia in southern hemisphere montane grassland ecosystems. It provides empirical 1906 1907 evidence on how it alters grassland climatic and habitat conditions to the detriment of native 1908 diversity. Several ecological parameters for the IAP, from individual plant to population level as well as responses of the invaded environment were considered in this study. In addition, the 1909 1910 role of *R. pseudoacacia* in socio-ecological systems of invaded communities were explored.

1911 **6.1 Ecological impacts**

This study showed how *R. pseudoacacia* alters grassland microhabitats through mechanisms 1912 such as shading and alteration of soil chemical composition. Differences in the thermal and 1913 1914 illumination regimes between invaded and univaded grasslands were quantified. This research further showed how these shifts in microenvironments reduce native grassland plant and 1915 arthropod diversity especially in the understory. Exclusion of some key endemic grassland 1916 1917 arthropod taxa (e.g Orthoptera: Acrididae) reported in this study (Chapter 2) provide evidence of the creation of novel microclimates following invasion. These findings are in agreement 1918 1919 with several studies in Europe where R. pseudoacacia was found to be driving the homogenization of understory vegetation communities (Benesperi et al., 2012) and altering 1920 micro-arthropod communities (Lazzaro et al., 2018). However, unique to this study is the 1921 1922 consideration of montane grasslands in the southern hemisphere which present unique environmental characteristics such as a wide temperature range. In addition, this study showed 1923 how *R. pseudoacacia* invasion creates a niche for further invasion by alien grasses. This was 1924

shown in Chapter 3 of this study where understory vegetation was dominated by grasses ofalien origin.

1927 **6.2 Ecosystem services and disservices**

The loss of biological diversity mediated by R. pseudoacacia reported in this study has 1928 1929 implications on key ecosystem services derived from montane grasslands. For instance, changes in the composition of grasses results in a reduction in grazing capacity of rangelands 1930 1931 and subsequently livestock production. In South Africa, livestock production is mainly rangebased hence the continued degradation of natural rangeland has serious implications on the 1932 1933 viability and profitability of this enterprise. Humphrey et al. (2019), reported potential losses 1934 in livestock gross margins as a result of expanding R. pseudoacacia invasions. This study weighed in by quantifying losses in grazing capacity through alteration of grass communities. 1935 1936 While other services such as provision of construction materials and medicinal plants by grasslands were not measured in this study, the loss in native diversity reported in this study 1937 implies that these are equally affected. The impact of IAPs on pollination has been widely 1938 reported (Gibson et al., 2013; Ojija et al., 2019; Hansen et al., 2018), this study (Chapter 4) is 1939 1940 among the few to consider these impacts in an agro-ecosystem. Based on arthropod visitation rates and abundance, competition for key pollinators such as the genus Apis is highly likely. 1941 Hence, there is likelihood of reduced pollination of fruit trees co-flowering with R. 1942 pseudoacacia. 1943

One of the contentious issues in the control of IAPs is trying to strike a balance between benefits and impacts. This study addressed these concerns through a survey on the potential contributions of *R. pseudoacacia* to peri-urban communities in the eastern Free State Province (Chapter 5). This was motivated by reported multiple uses of *R. pseudoacacia* particularly in Europe. Conflicts of interest may pose a problem in the development and implementation of a

1949 biological control program against R. pseudoacacia as the spread of agents, once initiated, 1950 cannot be spatially contained. However, this study revealed that in South Africa the tree is not grown commercially and does not pose any significant conflict of interest. In addition, the value 1951 1952 of biological forest products is highly contextual. For instance, R. pseudoacacia is regarded highly in most European countries due to properties such as rot-resistant timber and support to 1953 1954 the honey industry (Ciejacks et al., 2013), poor rural and peri-urban communities in South 1955 Africa do not value the tree based on these. These conflicting values led Sadlo *et al.* (2017) to propose site specific management for the species especially in the Czech Republic, ranging 1956 1957 from conservation of the species to ecological restoration. However, in South Africa this approach might not be necessary considering that *R. pseudoacacia* does not play a specific role 1958 1959 particularly in the livelihoods of poor communities which depend more on biological forest 1960 products.

1961 6.3 Conclusion and recommendations

The approach taken in this study of selecting ecological parameters at different organizational 1962 levels within the same site in order to effectively quantify the impacts of invasive alien plants 1963 1964 as recommended by Kumschick et al. (2015). Moreover, the research showed among other factors, the importance of localised ecological studies to guide the design, implementation and 1965 1966 evaluation of control programmes against species of alien origin. It is clear from this study that R. pseudoacacia is a probelamatic species especially in grasslands of South Africa. 1967 Management of this species and others invading high elevation grasslands will ensure the 1968 1969 conservation of native biodiversity which underpins several ecosystem services. However, 1970 from this research a biologically based management approach appears to be the most feasible for *R. pseudoacacia* hence recommendations outlined below. 1971

1972 6.3.1 Management considerations

1973 Currently, management of *R. pseudoacacia* is still problematic with no reports of successful 1974 clearance. Observations made on local management efforts using mechanical and chemical 1975 means show that these have driven further landscape spread. The major challenge is the clonal 1976 spread of the species which is fuelled by mechanical clearance of the trees (Radtke et al., 2013). 1977 Several management options have been proposed based on combinations of mechanical and 1978 herbicide applications. In natural forests there are also proposals to let natural succession to 1979 take place (Sadlo et al., 2017). However, for the South African context the "do nothing 1980 approach' proposed by Sadlo et al. (2017) may not work in grassland ecosystems as they are less resistant to invasion by woody species. Furthermore, occurrence of *R. pseudoacacia* in 1981 broken terrain makes it logistically challenging to apply mechanical and chemical control 1982 methods. In addition, chemical control may be expensive, environmentally damaging as well 1983 as lead to resistance development. In view of these management difficulties associated the 1984 1985 plant, biological control offers better prospects of controlling the species. Since this work was 1986 conducted in the context of this management technique, it provides several success indicators following implementation. 1987

1988

In view of the difficulties of conventional management options in South Africa, R. 1989 pseudoacacia is currently being considered for biological control in South Africa (Martin 1990 2021). Therefore, this work was considered in an effort to support Morin et al. (2009) and 1991 1992 Schaffner et al. (2020) who highlighted the importance of pre-release ecological data especially in biological control programmes as it serves to measure a number of parameters such as 1993 1994 potential agent success, devise performance targets and provision of a baseline for future evaluation work. Downey et al. (2021) as well as Paterson et al. (2021) further underscored the 1995 1996 need for local ecological data in the prioritisation of target plants for biological control. While macrocosm studies provide an insight into large scale ecological interactions, field studies
undertaken in this study capture a wide range of dynamics that occur at variable scales. This
information can be applied to conceptualize, monitor and evaluate the management of *R*. *pseudoacacia* particularly in high altitude grasslands. This kind of pre-release data should be
collected for any species that is being considered so that accurate quatititative post release
evaluations can be made

A system to prioritize future target species for biological control adapted to the South African 2003 2004 context, the Biological Control Target Selection (BCTS) system was recently developed (Downey et al., 2021; Paterson et al., 2021). The system makes use of 13 attributes assigned 2005 2006 to three sections, impacts, likelihood of success and investment to assign a score to target plants (Paterson et al., 2021). Therefore, comprehensive ecological data is critical to enable accurate 2007 2008 scoring for all attributes of the IAP. *Robinia pseudoacacia* is one of the species that was highly 2009 prioritized for control in South Africa based on the BCTS system (Canavan et al., 2021). Similarly, the tree is amongst the top 20 candidates for classical biological control in Europe 2010 2011 (Sheppard et al., 2006). However, in South Africa, scoring for R. pseudoacacia was in some 2012 parts based on impacts recorded elsewhere due to lack of information. Thus, this study provides some of the key local data and helps confirm the species as a priority as already assigned. It 2013 will be interesting to monitor if *R. pseudoacacia* priority would be reduced should successfull 2014 2015 management options are found.

Although there is no formal biological control programme against *R. pseudoacacia* in the world, prospects of developing a successful one are high. This is because of an increasing understanding of the ecology of the tree in varying environments to which this study adds. In addition, there are several natural enemies capable of inflicting extensive damage with some such as *Obolodiplosis robiniae* Haldeman (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae), *Odontota dorsalis*

2021 Thunberg (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) and Agrilus difficilis Gory (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) 2022 already being assessed (Martin, 2019; Nicolescu et al., 2020). Data on the growth characteristics of the plant reported in this thesis (Chapter 2) also helps envisage the 2023 2024 establishment and impacts of the agents in South Africa, considering the climatic and environmental conditions obtaining in high altitude grasslands locally. Current agents under 2025 2026 consideration benefit from the findings of this study as they are aimed at altering the phenology 2027 of the species. For example, one of the agents O. robiniae, causes leaf galls and eventual die 2028 back of the trees in the long run (Duso et al., 2005; Buhl & Duso, 2008) while O. dorsalis has 2029 been shown to result in early leaf drop of R. pseudoacacia in the USA. With the current knowledge of *R. pseudoacacia* phenology and other climatic parameters locally, issues of host-2030 2031 agent synchronisation under local conditions will be tackled.

While the return to original ecosystem functioning is the desired state following the control of 2032 IAPs, it is prudent to note that this is difficult especially when dealing with plants which alter 2033 2034 the biophysical components of the system. This study especially in Chapter 3, the proliferation of nitrophilous understory vegetation indicated alteration of soil chemical composition. Thus, 2035 2036 there is a high likelihood of long term legacy effects which when coupled with depleted 2037 seedbanks of native species might compound the restoration process. Moreover, recovery to 2038 some extent is dependent on the rate and success of clearing the invasive alien tree, with 2039 evidence from other studies showing secondary invasion following mechanical clearance 2040 (Ruwanza & Tshililo, 2019). Nevertheless, this study provides a quantitative baseline to enable 2041 monitoring progress towards ecological restoration through parameters such as grazing 2042 capacity, arthropod diversity and flower visitation rates.

2043 6.3.2 Further research

Since *Robinia pseudoacacia* has invaded all provinces of South Africa, there is need to
 cascade studies to all biomes in order to obtain site specific interactions to guide local
 management efforts.

- This study inferred the impact of *R. pseudoacacia* on apple pollination from arthropod visitation rates and abundance. However, there is need to investigate potential edge effects in relation to apple quality and yields. In addition, emphasis should be placed on assessing the constancy of *Apis mellifera* given the two co-flowering plants. This will give a comprehensive picture on the impact of IAPs on agricultural productivity.
- Soil seedbanks play an important role in the restoration of natural vegetation post IAP
 control. Thus, it is necessary to look at seedbanks for both native and alien species in
 habitats invaded by *R. pseudoacacia* in order to predict the direction of plant
 community succession following removal of the species in grasslands.
- Much of this thesis has investigated the effects of *R. pseudoacacia* on mountain
 grassland ecosystems. Hence, a thorough investigation into drivers of *R. pseudoacacia* invasion in the mountain grasslands would provide valuable data to assist management.

References

- 2060 Adams, H., Adger, W.N. & Nicholls, R.J. (2018) Ecosystem services linked to livelihoods and
- 2061 well-being in the Ganges-Brahmaputra-Meghna Delta. In: Nicholls R., Hutton C., Adger W.,
- 2062 Hanson S., Rahman M. & Salehin M. (eds) Ecosystem services for well-being in deltas.
- 2063 Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Adler, L.S. & Irwin, R.E. (2006) Comparison of pollen transfer dynamics by multiple floral
 visitors: Experiments with pollen and fluorescent dye. *Annals of Botany* 97: 141–150.
- Ahn, J.J., Son, Y., He, Y., Lee, E. & Park, Y-L. (2016) Effects of temperature on development
- 2067 and voltinism of *Chaetodactylus krombeini* (Acari: Chaetodactylidae): Implications for climate
- 2068 change impacts. *PLoS ONE* **11**: e0161319.
- Albrecht, M., Padron, B., Bartomeus, I. & Traveset, A. (2014) Consequences of plant invasions
 on compartmentalization and species' roles in plant–pollinator networks. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* 281: 20140773.
- 2072 Alerding, A.B. & Hunter, R.M. (2013) Increased springtail abundance in a garlic mustard-
- 2073 invaded forest. *Northeastern Naturalist* **20**: 275 288.
- Ali, A., Dai, D., Akhtar, K., Teng, M., Yan, Z., Urbina-Cardon, N., Mullerova, J. & Zhou, Z.
- 2075 (2019) Response of understory vegetation, tree regeneration, and soil quality to manipulated
- stand density in a *Pinus massoniana* plantation. *Global Ecology and Conservation* **20**: e00775.
- 2077 Altieri, M.A. (1999) The ecological role of biodiversity in agroecosystems. *Agriculture*,
 2078 *Ecosystems & Environment* 74: 19 31.

- Andersen, E.M., Cambrelin, M.N. & Steidl, R.J. (2019) Responses of grassland arthropods to
 an invasion by non-native grasses. *Biological Invasions* 21: 405 41.
- Aoun, M. (2020) Pesticides' impact on pollinators. In: Leal Filho W, Azul A, Brandli L, Özuyar
- 2082 P, Wall T (eds) Zero Hunger. Encyclopedia of the UN Sustainable Development Goals.
- 2083 Springer, Cham. Pp 1 -5.
- 2084 Archer, S.R., Andersen, E.M., Predick, K.I., Schwinning, S., Steidl R.J. & Woods, S.R. (2017)
- 2085 Woody plant encroachment: causes and consequences. In: Briske D. (eds) Rangeland systems.
- 2086 Springer Series on Environmental Management. Springer, Cham.
- 2087 Augspurger, C.K. (2011) Frost damage and its cascading negative effects on *Aesculus glabra*.
- **2088** *Plant Ecology* **212**: 1193 1203.
- Bankovich, B., Boughton, E., Boughton, R., Avery, M.L. & Wisely, S.M. (2016) Plant
 community shifts caused by feral swine rooting devalue Florida rangeland. *Agriculture*, *Ecosystem & Environment* 220: 45 54.
- Bartomeus, I. (2013) Understanding linkage rules in plant-pollinator networks by using
 hierarchical models that incorporate pollinator detectability and plant traits. *PLoS ONE* 8:
 e69200.
- Bartomeus, I., Vila, M. & Santamaria, L. (2008) Contrasting effects of invasive plants in plantpollinator interactions. *Oecologia* 155: 761 770.
- Barton, K. (2009) Mu-MIn: Multi-model inference. R Package Version 0.12.2/r18. http://RForge.R-project.org/projects/mumin/.
- 2099 Bartz, R. & Kowarik, I. (2019) Assessing the environmental impacts of invasive alien plants:
- a review of assessment approaches. *NeoBiota* **43**: 69 99.

- 2101 Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2015) Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models
- 2102 Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software* **67**: 1 48.
- 2103 Beck, H.E., Zimmermann, N.E., McVicar, T.R., Vergopolan, N., Berg, A. & Wood, E.F. (2018)
- 2104 Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution. *Scientific*
- 2105 *Data* **5**: 180214.
- 2106 Benesperi, R., Giuliani, C., Zanetti, S., Gennai, M., Lippi, M.M., Guidi, T., Nascimbene, J. &
- 2107 Foggi, B. (2012) Forest plant diversity is threatened by *Robinia pseudoacacia* (black-locust)
- 2108 invasion. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **21**: 3555 3568.
- 2109 Blackburn, T.M., Pysek P., Bacher, S., Carlton, J.T., Duncan, R.P., Jarošík, V., Wilson, J.R.U.
- & Richardson, D.M (2011) A proposed unified framework for biological invasions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 26: 333 339.
- Blossey, B., Dávalos, A., Simmons, WA. & Ding J. (2008) A proposal to use plant
 demographic data to assess potential weed biological control agents impacts on non-target plant
 populations. *BioControl* 63: 461 473.
- Bluthgen, N., Frund, J., Vazquez, D.P. & Menzel, F. (2008) What do interaction network
 metrics tell us about specialization and biological traits? *Ecology* 89: 3387 3399.
- 2117 Bolker, B.M., Brooks, M.E., Clark, C.J., Geange, S.W., Poulsen, J.R., Stevens, M.H.H. &
- White, J.S. (2009) Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **24**: 127 135.
- Bonanno, G. (2016) Alien species: to remove or not to remove? That is the question. *Environmental Science & Policy* 59: 67 73.

- 2122 Breshears, D.D., Nyhan, J.W., Heil, C.E. & Wilcox, B.P. (1998) Effects of woody plants on
- 2123 microclimate in a semiarid woodland: Soil temperature and evaporation in canopy and inter-
- canopy patches. *International Journal of Plant Science* **159**: 1010 1017.
- 2125 Brooks, M.L., D'antonio, C.M., Richardson, D.M., Grace, J.B., Keeley, J.E., Ditomaso, J.M.,
- Hobbs, R.J., Pellant, M. & Pyke, D. (2004) Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes.
- 2127 *BioScience* **54**: 677 688.
- 2128 Brown, T.B., Hultine, K.R., Steltzer, H., Denny, E.G., Denslow, M.W., Granados, J.,
- 2129 Henderson, S., Moore, D., Nagai, S., San-Clements, M., Sanchez-Azofeifa, A., Sonnentag, O.,
- 2130 Tazik, D. & Richardson, A.D. (2016) Using phenocams to monitor our changing Earth: toward
- a global phenocam network. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 14: 84 93.
- Brundu, G. & Richardson, D.M. (2016) Planted forests and invasive alien trees in Europe: A
 Code for managing existing and future plantings to mitigate the risk of negative impacts from
 invasions. *NeoBiota* 30: 5 47.
- 2135 Buhl, P.N. & Duso, C. (2008) *Platygaster robiniae* n. sp. (Hymenoptera: Platygastridae)
- Parasitoid of *Obolodiplosis robiniae* (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae) in Europe. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 101: 297 300.
- 2138 CABI (2020) Robinia pseudoacacia, in: Invasive Species Compendium. Wallingford, UK:
- 2139 CAB International. www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/47698. Accessed 2020/06/10
- 2140 Call, L.J. & Nilsen, E.T. (2003) Analysis of spatial patterns and spatial association between the
- 2141 invasive tree-of-heaven (Ailanthus altissima) and the native black locust (Robinia
- 2142 *pseudoacacia*). *The American Midland Naturalist* **150**: 1 14.

- 2143 Campagnaro, T., Nascimbene, J., Tasinazzo, S., Trentanovi, G. & Sitzia, T. (2018) Exploring
 2144 patterns, drivers and structure of plant community composition in alien *Robinia pseudoacacia*
- secondary woodlands. *iForest* **11**: 586 593.
- Campbell, M. (2016) A great place and not yet another declining small town: The case of
 Clarens, South Africa. *Urbani Izziv* 27: 138 148.
- 2148 Canavan, K., Paterson, I.D., Ivey, P., Sutton, G.F. & Hill, M.P. (2021) Prioritisation of targets

for weed biological control III: a tool to identify the next targets for biological control in South

- 2150 Africa and set priorities for resource allocation. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*: DOI:
- 2151 10.1080/09583157.2021.1918638

2149

- 2152 Carbutt, C. (2012) The emerging invasive alien plants of the Drakensberg Alpine Centre,
- 2153 Southern Africa. *Bothalia* **42**: 71 85.
- Carl, C., Landgraf, D., van der Maaten-Theunissen, M., Biber, P. & Pretzsch, H. (2017) *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. flowers analyzed by using an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV). *Remote Sensing* 9: 1091.
- Castro-Diez, P., Pauchad, A., Traveset, A. & Vila, M. (2016) Linking impacts of plant invasion
 on functional structure and ecosystem properties. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 27: 1233 –
 1242.
- Charles, H.L. & Dukes, J.S. (2007) Impacts of invasive species on ecosystem services, in:
 Nentwig, W. (Ed.), Ecological Studies 193, Biological Invasions, Springer-Verlag Berlin
 Heidelberg, pp. 217 237.

- 2163 Chidawanyika, F., Chikowore, G. & Mutamiswa, R. (2020) Thermal tolerance of the biological
- 2164 control agent *Neolema abbreviata* and its potential geographic distribution together with its
- 2165 host *Tradescantia fluminensis* in South Africa. *Biological Control* **149**: 104315.
- Chidawanyika, F., Mudavanhu, P. & Nyamukondiwa, C. (2019) Global climate change as a
 driver of bottom-up and top-down factors in agricultural landscapes and the fate of hostparasitoid interactions. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* **7**: a80.
- 2169 Chidawanyika, F., Nyamukondiwa, C., Strathie, L. & Fischer, K. (2017) Effects of thermal
- 2170 regimes, starvation and age on heat tolerance of the Parthenium Beetle *Zygogramma bicolorata*
- 2171 (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) following dynamic and static protocols. *PLoS ONE* 12:
 2172 e0169371.
- Chikowore, G., Mutamiswa, R., Sutton, G.F., Chidawanyika, F. & Martin, G.D. (2021)
 Reduction of grazing capacity in high-elevation rangelands after Black locust invasion in South
 Africa. *Rangeland Ecology and Management* **76**: 109 117.
- 2176 Chirango, Y., Steenhuisen, S-L., Bruyns, P.V., Midgley, J.J. & Shuttleworth, A. (2019) The
- 2177 March fly and the ant: the unusual pollination system of *Eustegia minuta* (Apocynaceae:
- 2178 Asclepiadoideae). *Arthropod-Plant Interactions* **13**: 745 755.
- 2179 Chown, S.L. & Nicolson, S.W. (2004) Insect physiological ecology: Mechanisms and patterns.
- 2180 Oxford university, Oxford.
- 2181 Chown, S.L. & Terblanche, J.S. (2006) Physiological diversity in insects: Ecological and
- evolutionary contexts. *Advances in Insect Physiology* **33**: 50 152.

- 2183 Chytry, M., Pysek, P., Knollava, I. & Danihelka, J. (2005) Invasions by alien plants in the
- 2184 Czech Republic: a quantitative assessment across habitats. *Preslia*, *Praha* 77: 339 354.
- 2185 Cierjacks, A., Kowarik, I., Joshi, J., Hempel, S., Ristow, M., von der Lippe, M. & Weber, E.
- 2186 (2013) Biological flora of the British Isles: *Robinia pseudoacacia*. *Journal of Ecology* **101**:
- 2187 1623 1640.
- Clark, V.R., Barker, N.P. & Mucina, L. (2011) The Great Escarpment of southern Africa: a
 new frontier for biodiversity exploration. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 20: 2543 2561.
- 2190 Clark, V.R., Dold, A.P., McMaster, C., McGregor, G., Bredenkamp, C. & Barker, N.P. (2014)
- 2191 Rich sister, poor cousin: Plant diversity and endemism in the Great Winterberg–Amatholes
- 2192 (Great Escarpment, Eastern Cape, South Africa). South Africa Journal of Botany 92: 159 –
 2193 174.
- Clusella-Trullas, S. & Garcia, R.A. (2017) Impacts of invasive plants on animal diversity in
 South Africa: A synthesis. *Bothalia* 47: a2166.
- 2196 Cock, M.J.W., Day, R.K., Hinz, H.L., Pollard, K.M., Thomas, S.E., Williams, F.E., Witt,
- A.B.R. & Shaw, RH. (2015) The impacts of some classical biological control successes. *CAB Reviews* 10: 042
- 2199 Coetzee, J.A., Langa, S.D.F., Motitsoe, S.N. & Hill, M.P. (2020) Biological control of water
- lettuce, *Pistia stratiotes* L., facilitates macroinvertebrate biodiversity recovery: a mesocosm
 study. *Hydrobiologia* 847: 3917 3 929.
- 2202 Connolly, C.N. (2013) The risk of insecticides to pollinating insects. *Communicative and*2203 *Integrative Biology* 6: e25074.
- 2204 Czarapata, E.J. (2005) Invasive plants of the Upper Midwest: An illustrated guide to their
- identification and control. Madison, WI: The University of Wisconsin Press. pp 215.

- 2206 Dalby, R. (2004) A honey of a tree: black locust. *American Bee Journal* 144: 382 384.
- Daniels, J.D. & Arceo-Gomez, G. (2019) Effects of invasive *Cirsium arvense* on pollination in
 a southern Appalachian floral community vary with spatial scale and floral symmetry. *Biological Invasions* 22: 783 797.
- 2210 Davis, K.T., Dobrowski, S.Z., Holden, Z.A., Higuera, P.E. & Abatzoglou, J.T. (2019)
- 2211 Microclimatic buffering in forests of the future: the role of local water balance. *Ecography* **42**: 2212 1-11.
- Dawson, W., Burslem, D.F.R.P., Hulme, P.E. (2009) Factors explaining alien plant invasion
 success in a tropical ecosystem differ at each stage of invasion. *Journal of Ecology* 97: 657 –
 665.
- de Neergaard, A., Saarnak, C., Hill, T., Khanyile, M., Berzosa, A.M., Birch-Thomsen, T.
 (2005) Australian wattle species in the Drakensberg region of South Africa An invasive alien
 or a natural resource? *Agricultural Systems* 85: 216 233.
- de Wit, M., Crookes, D. & van Wilgen, B. (2001) Conflicts of interest in environmental
 management: estimating the costs and benefits of a tree invasion. *Biological Invasions* 3: 167
 178.
- Department of Environmental Affairs. (2016) National Environmental Management:
 Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 Of 2004). Alien and invasive species lists. Government
 Gazette No. 40166. Republic of South Africa. pp. 56.
- 2225 Diagne, C., Leroy, B., Vaissière, A-C., Gozlan, R.E., Roiz, D., Jarić, I., Salles, J-M., Bradshaw,
- 2226 C.J.A., Courchamp, F. (2021) High and rising economic costs of biological invasions
- 2227 worldwide. *Nature* **592**: 571–576.

- 2228 Díaz-Caravantes, R. & Sánchez-Flores, E. (2011) Water transfer effects on peri-urban land/use
- 2229 cover: a case study in semi-arid region of Mexico. *Applied Geography* **31**: 413 425.
- Dietzsch, A.C., Stanley, D.A. & Stout, J.C. (2011) Relative abundance of an invasive alien
 plant affects native pollination processes. *Oecologia* 167: 469 479.
- 2232 Dormann, C.F., Gruber, B. & Fruend, J. (2008) Introducing the bipartite package: Analysing
- ecological networks. *R News* 8: 8 11.
- Downey, P.O., Paterson, I.D., Canavan, K. & Hill, M.P. (2021) Prioritisation of targets for 2234 weed biological control I: a review of existing prioritisation schemes and development of a 2235 for South Biocontrol Technology. 2236 system Africa. Science and DOI: 2237 0.1080/09583157.2021.1918636
- Du Preez, P.J. & Venter, H.J.T. (1992) The classification of the vegetation of Korannaberg,
 eastern Orange Free State, South Africa. II. Grassland communities. *South African Journal of Botany* 58: 173 181.
- Duso, C., Fontana, P. & Tirello, P. (2005) Spread of the gall midge *Obolodiplosis robiniae*(Haldeman) injurious to black locust in Italy and Europe. *Informatore Fitopatologico* 55: 30 –
 33.
- Du Toit, P.C.V. (1995) The grazing index method of range condition assessment. *African Journal of Range and Forage Science* 12: 61 67.
- 2246 Dunn, O.J. (1964) Multiple comparisons using rank sums. *Technometrics* **6**: 241 252.
- 2247 Dzwonko, Z. & Loster, S. (1997) Effects of dominant trees and anthropogenic disturbances on
- 2248 species richness and floristic composition of secondary communities in southern Poland.
- 2249 *Journal of Applied Ecology* **34**: 861 870.

- 2250 Eccher, G., Ferrero, S., Populin, F., Colombo, L. & Botton, A. (2014) Apple (Malus domestica
- L. Borkh) as an emerging model for fruit development. *Plant Biosystems* 148: 157 168.
- Ehrenfeld, J.G. (2003) Effects of exotic plant invasions on soil nutrient cycling processes. *Ecosystems* 6: 503 523.
- 2254 Erviner, V.T., Garbach, K., Baty, J.H. & Hoskinson, S.A. (2012) Measuring the effects of
- invasive plants on ecosystem services: challenges and prospects. *Invasive Plant Science and Management* 5: 125 136.
- Esler, K.J., Milton, S.J. & Dean, W.R.J. (2006). Karoo Veld Ecology and Management. Briza
 Press, Pretoria, pp. 224.
- 2259 Essl, F., Lenzner, B., Bacher, S., Bailey, S., Capinha, C., Daehler, C., Dullinger, S., Genovesi,
- 2260 P., Hui, C., Hulme, P.E., Jeschke, J.M., Katsanevakis, S., Kühn, I., Leung, B., Liebhold, A.,
- Liu, C., MacIsaac H.J., Meyerson, L.A., Nuñez, M.A., Pauchard, A., Pyšek, P., Rabitsch, W.,
- 2262 Richardson, D.M., Roy, H.E., Ruiz, G.M., Russell, J.C., Sanders, N.J., Sax, D.F., Scalera, R.,
- 2263 Seebens, H., Springborn, M., Turbelin, A., van Kleunen, M., von Holle, B., Winter, M., Zenni,
- 2264 R.D., Mattsson, B.J & Roura-Pascual, B.J. (2020) Drivers of future alien species impacts: An
- expert-based assessment. *Global Change Biology* **26**: 4880 4893.
- Ewel, J.J., O'Dowd, D.J., Bergelson, J., Daehler, C.C., D'Antonio, C.M., Gomez, L.D., Gordon,
- 2267 D.R., Hobbs, R.J., Holt, A., Hopper, K.R., Hughes, C.E., LaHart, M., Leakey, R.R.B., Lee,
- 2268 W.G., Loope, L.L., Lorence, D.H., Louda, S.M., Lugo, A.E., McEvoy, P.B., Richardson, D.M.
- 2269 & Vitousek, P.M. (1999) Deliberate introductions of species: research needs. Benefits can be
- reaped, but risks are high. *BioScience* 49: 619 630.

- FAO. (2018) Why bees matter: the importance of bees and other pollinators for food and
 agriculture. Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations I9527EN/2/05.19. 16
 pages.
- Farrell, K.A., Harpole, W.S., Stein, C., Suding, K.N. & Borer, E.T. (2015) Grassland
 arthropods are controlled by direct and indirect interactions with cattle but are largely
 unaffected by plant provenance. *PLoS ONE* 10: e0129823.
- 2277 Filippa, G., Cremonese, E., Migliavacca, M., Galvagno, M., Forkel, M., Wingate, L.,
- 2278 Tomelleri, E., di Cella, U.M. & Richardson, A.D. (2016) Phenopix: A R package for image-
- based vegetation phenology. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* **220**: 141–150.
- Gaertner, M., Breeyen, A.D., Hui, C. & Richardson, D.M. (2009) Impacts of alien plant
 invasions on species richness in Mediterranean-type ecosystems: a meta-analysis. *Progress in Physical Geography* 33: 319 338.
- 2283 Gallardo, B., Bacher, S., Bradley, B., Comín, F.A., Gallien, L., Jeschke, J.M., Sorte, C.J.B. &
- Vil, M. (2019) InvasiBES: Understanding and managing the impacts of Invasive alien species
- on biodiversity and ecosystem services. *NeoBiota* **50**: 109 122.
- Gallien, L. & Carboni, M. (2017) The community ecology of invasive species: where are we
 and what's next? *Ecography* 40: 335 352.
- 2288 Gaudio, N., Gendre, X., Saudreau, M., Seigner V. & Balandier, P. (2017) Impact of tree canopy
- 2289 on thermal and radiative microclimates in a mixed temperate forest: A new statistical method
- to analyse hourly temporal dynamics. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology **237-238**: 71 79.

- Geesing, D., Al-Khawlani, M., & Abba, M.L. (2004). Management of introduced *Prosopis*Species: can economic exploitation control invasive species? *Unasylva* 217: 36 44.
- 2293 Gerlach, J., Samways, M. & Pryke, J. (2013) Terrestrial invertebrates as bioindicators: an
- overview of available taxonomic groups. *Journal of Insect Conservation* **17**: 831 850.
- 2295 Gibson, M.R., Pauw, A. & Richardson, D.M. (2013) Decreased insect visitation to a native
- species caused by an invasive tree in the Cape Floristic Region. *Biological Conservation* 157:
 196 203.
- Gorgens, A.M.H. & van Wilgen, B.W. (2004) Invasive alien plants and water resources in
 South Africa: current understanding, predictive ability and research challenges. *South African Journal of Science* 100: 27 33.
- Goulson, D., Nicholls, E., Botias, C. & Rotheray, E.L. (2015) Bee declines driven by combined
 stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. *Science* 347: 1 9.
- 2303 Gwate, O., Mantel, S.K., Finca, A., Gibson, L.A., Munch, Z. & Palmer, A.R. (2016) Exploring
- the invasion of rangelands by *Acacia mearnsii* (black wattle): biophysical characteristics and
 management implications. *African Journal of Range and Forage Science* 33: 265 273.
- Haerdtle, W., von Oheimb, G. & Westphal, C. (2003) The effect of light and soil conditions onthe species richness of the ground vegetation of deciduous forests in northern Germany
- 2308 (Schleswig-Holstein). *Forest Ecology and Management* **182**: 327 338.
- Halseth, G. & Meiklejohn, C. (2009) Indicators of small town tourism development potential:
- 2310 The case of Fouriesburg, South Africa. *Urban Forum* **20**: 293 317.
- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T. & Ryan, P.D. (2001) PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software
- 2312 Package for Education and Data Analysis. *Palaeontologia Electronica* **4**: 9 9.

- Hansen, S., Roets, F., Seymour, C.L., Thébault, E., van Veen, F.J.F. & Pryke, J.S. (2018) Alien
 plants have greater impact than habitat fragmentation on native insect flower visitation
 networks. *Diversity and Distributions* 24: 58 68.
- 2316 Harker, K.N., Clayton, G.W. & O'Donovan, J.T. (2005) Reducing agroecosystem vulnerability
- 2317 to weed invasion. In: Inderjit (eds) Invasive Plants: Ecological and agricultural aspects.
 2318 Birkhäuser Basel. pp.195 207.
- 2319 Hejda, M., Pysek, P. & Jarosík, V. (2009) Impact of invasive plants on the species richness,
- diversity and composition of invaded communities. *Journal of Ecology* **97**: 393 403.
- Heleno, R., Devoto, M. & Pocock, M. (2012) Connectance of species interaction networks and
- conservation value: Is it any good to be well connected? *Ecological Indicators* 14: 7 10.
- Heller, S., Joshi, N.K., Leslie, T., Rajotte, E.G. & Biddinger, D.J. (2019) Diversified floral
 resource plantings support bee communities after apple bloom in commercial orchards. *Scientific Reports* 9: 17232.
- Hellmann, J.J., Byers, J.E., Bierwagen, B.G. & Dukes, J.S. (2008) Five potential consequences
 of climate change for invasive species. *Conservation Biology*. 22: 534 543.
- Henderson, L. & Wilson, J.R.U. (2017) Changes in the composition and distribution of alien
 plants in South Africa: An update from the Southern African Plant Invaders Atlas. *Bothalia* 47:
 a2172.
- Henderson, L. (1991) Invasive alien woody plants of the Orange Free State. *Bothalia* 21: 73 –
 89.
- Henderson, L. (2001) Alien weeds and invasive plants. A complete guide to declared weeds
- and invaders in South Africa. Plant Protection Research Institute Handbook No. 12.
- 2335 Agricultural Research Council. Pretoria, South Africa.

- Hensley, M., Le Roux, P., Du Preez, C., Van Huyssteen, C., Kotze, E. & van Rensburg, L.
 (2006) Soils: The Free State's agricultural base. *South African Geographical Journal* 88: 11 –
 2338 21.
- Herbertsson, L., Rundlöf, M. & Smith, H.G. (2017) The relation between oilseed rape and
- pollination of later flowering plants varies across plant species and landscape contexts. *Basic Applied Ecology* 24: 77 85.
- Herrick, J.E., Van Zee, J.W., Havstad, K.M., Burkett, L.M. & Whitford, W.G. (2005)
 Monitoring manual for grassland, shrubland and savanna ecosystems, Volume I: Quick start.
 USDA-ARS Jornada Experimental Range. Las Cruces. New Mexico, pp. 9 15.
- Highland, S.A., Miller, J.C. & Jones, J.A. (2013) Determinants of moth diversity and community in a temperate mountain landscape: vegetation, topography, and seasonality.
- 2347 *Ecosphere* **4**: 1 − 22.
- Hill, M.P., Moran, V.C., Hoffmann, J.H, Neser, S., Zimmermann, H.G., Simelane, D.O., Klein,
- 2349 H., Zachariades, C., Wood, A.R., Byrne, M.J., Paterson, I.D., Martin, G.D. & Coetzee, J.A.
- 2350 (2020) More than a century of biological control against invasive alien plants in South Africa:
- a synoptic view of what has been accomplished. In: Van Wilgen, B.W., Measey, J., Richardson,
- 2352 D.M., Wilson, J.R. & Zengeya, T.A. (Eds.) Biological Invasions in South Africa. Springer
- 2353 International Publishing, Cham. pp 553 572.
- Hirsch, H., Allsopp, M.H., Canavan, S., Cheek, M., Geerts, S., Geldenhuys, C.J., Harding, G.,
- 2355 Hurley, B.P., Jones, W., Keet, J-H., Klein, H., Ruwanza, S., van Wilgen, B.W., Wingfield, M.J.
- 2356 & Richardson, D.M. (2020) *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* in South Africa past, present, future.
- **2357** *Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa* **75**: 1 22.

- Hoffmann, J.H. & Moran, V.C. (1991) Biological control of *Sesbania punicea* (Fabaceae) in
 South Africa. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 37: 157 173.
- Hoffmann, J.H. (1995) Biological control of weeds: the way forward, a South African
 perspective. BCP symposium proceedings No. 64 Weeds in a changing world. Proceedings of
 a symposium, Brighton, UK, 20 November 1995 Farnham (United Kingdom): British Crop
 Protection Council, pp 77 89.
- Hoffmann, P., Moran, V.C. & Hill, M.P. (2019) Conceptualizing, categorizing and recording
 the outcomes of biological control of invasive plant species, at a population level. *Biological Control* 133: 134 137.
- 2367 Holmes, P.M., Esler, K.J., Gaertner, M., Geerts, S., Hall, S.A., Nsikani, M.M., Richardson,
- 2368 D.M. & Ruwanza, S. (2020) Biological invasions and ecological restoration in South Africa.
- 2369 In: van Wilgen, B., Measey, J., Richardson, D., Wilson, J. & Zengeya, T. (eds) Biological
- 2370 invasions in South Africa. Invading Nature Springer Series in Invasion Ecology, vol 14.
- 2371 Springer, Cham. Pp 665 700.
- Howard, P.L. (2019) Human adaptation to invasive species: A conceptual framework based on
 a case study meta-synthesis. *Ambio* 48: 1401 1430.
- Hulme, P.E., Pysek, P., Jarosik, V., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U. & Vila, M. (2013) Bias and error
 in understanding plant invasion impacts. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 28: 212 218.
- 2376 Humphrey, L., Fraser, G. & Martin, G. (2019) The economic implications of Robinia
- 2377 *pseudoacacia* L. (black locust) on agricultural production in South Africa. *Agrekon* **58**: 216 –
- 2378 228.
- Hynes, W. (2014) Spreading the benefits of globalization: how the international donor
 community assisted developing countries to integrate into the global economy. In: Brennan, L.
 (ed) Enacting Globalization. Palgrave Macmillan, London. pp 273 283.
- 2382 Impson, F.A.C., Kleinjan, C.A. & Hoffmann, J.H. (2021) Suppression of seed production as a
- 2383 long-term strategy in weed biological control: The combined impact of two biocontrol agents
- on *Acacia mearnsii* in South Africa. *Biological Control* **154**: 104503.
- Impson, F.A.C., Kleinjan, C.A., Hoffmann, J.H., Post, J.A. & Wood, A.R. (2011) Biological
 control of Australian *Acacia* species and *Paraseriantheslophantha* (Willd.) Nielsen
 (Mimosaceae) in South Africa. *African Entomology* 19: 186 207.
- IPBES. (2019). Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the
 Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. In.
 Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S. & Ngo, H.T. (eds.), IPBES Secretariat. Bonn, Germany.
 60 pp
- Jackson, M.T. & Strait, R.A. (1987) Woody invaders resist fire, cutting, herbicides. *Restoration*& *Management Notes*. 5: 86.
- Jaworski, T. & Hilszczanski, J. (2013) The effect of temperature and humidity changes on
- insects development and their impact on forest ecosystems in the context of expected climate
- 2396 change. *Forest Research Papers* **74**: 345 355.
- Johnson, A.L. & Ashman, T.L. (2019) Consequences of invasion for pollen transfer and
 pollination revealed in a tropical island ecosystem. *New Phytologist* 221: 142 154.
- Johnson, N.F., Triplehorn, C.A. (2004) Borror and DeLong's introduction to the study of
- 2400 insects 7th Edition. Thomson, Brooks/Cole.

	2401	Kadlec, T.	, Strobl, M.	, Hanzelka, J.	., Heida	. M. & Reif.	J. (2018) Differences in the commun	ity
--	------	------------	--------------	----------------	----------	--------------	----------	-----------------------------	-----

- 2402 composition of nocturnal Lepidoptera between native and invaded forests are linked to the
- habitat structure. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **27**: 2661 268.
- 2404 Kadochova, S. & Frouz, J. (2014) Thermoregulation strategies in ants in comparison to other
- social insects, with a focus on red wood ants (*Formica rufa* group). F1000 Research 2: 280
- Kehrberger, S. & Holzschuh, A., (2019) How does timing of flowering affect competition for
 pollinators, flower visitation and seed set in an early spring grassland plant? *Scientific Reports*9: 15593.
- Kennedy, T.A., Naeem, S., Howe, K.M., Knops, J.M.H., Tilman, D. & Reich, P. (2002)
 Biodiversity as a barrier to ecological invasion. *Nature* 417: 636 638.
- 2411 Klein, A-M., Vaissière, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C.
- 2412 & Tscharntke, T. (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops.
- 2413 *Proceedings of the Royal Society* **274**: 303 313.
- Klein, H. (2011) A catalogue of the insects, mites and pathogens that have been used or
 rejected, or are under consideration, for the biological control of invasive alien plants in South
 Africa. *African Entomology* 19: 515 549.
- Kobisi, K., Seleteng-Kose, L. & Moteetee, A. (2019) Invasive alien plants occurring in
 Lesotho: their ethnobotany, potential risks, distribution and origin. *Bothalia* 49: a2453.
- 2419 Kull, C.A., Shackleton, C.M., Cunningham, P.J., Ducatillon, C., DufourDror, J-M., Esler, K.J.,
- 2420 Friday, J.B., Gouveia, A.C., Griffin, A.R., Marchante, E., Midgley, S.J., Pauchard, A., Rangan,
- 2421 H., Richardson, D.M., Rinaudo, T., Tassin, J., Urgenson, L.S., von Maltitz, G.P., Zenni, R.D.,

- & Zylstra, M.J. (2011). Adoption, use and perception of Australian acacias around the world. *Diversity and Distributions* 17: 822 836.
- Kunes, I., Balas, M., Gallo, J., Sulitka, M. & Suraweera, C. (2019) Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia*) and its role in central Europe and Czech Republic: review. *Reports of Forestry Research* 64: 181 190.
- Kyriazopoulos, A.P., Abraham, E.M., Parissi, Z.M., Koukoura, Z. & Nastis, A.S. (2012)
 Forage production and nutritive value of *Dactylis glomerata* and *Trifolium subterraneum*mixtures under different shading treatments. *Grass and Forage Science* 68: 72 82.
- 2430 Langat, D. K., Maranga, E.K., Aboud, A.A. & Cheboiwo, J.K. (2016) Role of forest resources
- to local livelihoods: The case of East Mau forest ecosystem, Kenya. *International Journal of Forestry Research* 2016: 4537354.
- Lavergne, C., Rameau, J.C. & Figier, J. (1999). The invasive woody weed *Ligustrum robustum*subsp. *walkeri* threatens native forests on La Réunion. *Biological Invasions* 1: 377.
- 2435 Lazaro, A., Jakobsson, A. & Totland, O. (2013) How do pollinator visitation rate and seed set
- relate to species' floral traits and community context? *Oecologia* **173**: 881 893.
- 2437 Lazzaro, L., Mazza, G., d'Errico, G., Fabiani, A., Giuliani, C., Inghilesi, A.F., Lagomarsino,
- A., Landi, S., Lastrucci, L., Pastorelli, R., Roversi, P.F., Torrini, G., Tricarico, E. & Foggi, B.
- 2439 (2018) How ecosystems change following invasion by Robinia pseudoacacia: Insights from
- soil chemical properties and soil microbial, nematode, micro-arthropod and plant communities.
- 2441 *Science of the Total Environment* **622**: 1509 1518.
- Le Maitre, D.C., Forsyth, G.G., Dzikiti, S. & Gush M.B. (2016) Estimates of the impacts of
- invasive alien plants on water flows in South Africa. *Water Sa* **42**: 659 672.

- Le Maitre, D.C., Gaertner, M., Marchante, E., Ens, E., Holmes, P.M., Pauchard, A., O'Farrell,
 P.J., Rogers, A.M., Blanchard, R., Blignaut, J. & Richardson, D.M. (2011) Impacts of invasive
 Australian acacias: implications for management and restoration. *Diversity and Distributions*17: 1015 –1029.
- Le Maitre, D.C., Richardson, D.M. & Chapman, R.A. (2004) Alien plant invasions in South
- Africa: driving forces and the human dimension. *South African Journal of Science* 100: 103112.
- Le Maitre, D.C., van Wilgen, B.W., Gelderblom, C.M., Bailey, C., Chapman, R.A. & Nel, J.A.
- 2452 (2002) Invasive alien trees and water resources in South Africa: case studies of the costs and
- benefits of management. *Forest Ecology and Management* **160**: 143 159.
- Lister, B.C. & Garcia, A. (2018) Climate-driven declines in arthropod abundance restructure a
 rainforest food web. *PNAS* 115: 201722477.
- Litt, A.R., Cord, E.E., Fulbright, T.E. & Schuster, G.L. (2014) Effects of invasive plants on
 arthropods. *Conservation Biology* 28: 1532 1549.
- Livingstone, S.W., Isaac, M.E. & Cadotte, M.W. (2020) Invasive dominance and resident
 diversity: unpacking the impact of plant invasion on biodiversity and ecosystem function. *Ecological Monographs* **90**: e01425.
- Lockwood, J.L., Cassey, P. & Blackburn, T.M. (2009) The more you introduce the more you
 get: the role of colonization pressure and propagule pressure in invasion ecology. *Diversity and Distributions* 15: 904 910.
- 2464 Lotter, W.D. & Hoffmann, J.H. (1998) An integrated management plan for the control of
- 2465 *Opuntia stricta* (cactaceae) in the Kruger National Park, South Africa. *Koedoe* **41**: 63 68.

- Lowe, S., Browne, M., Boudjelas, S. & De Poorter, M. (2000) 100 of the world's worst invasive
 alien species. A selection from the Global Invasive Species Database. The Invasive Species
 Specialist Group (ISSG), a specialist group of the Species Survival Commission (SSC) of the
 World Conservation Union (IUCN).12 pages.
- Lozon, J.D. & MacIsaac, H.J. (1997) Biological invasions: are they dependent on disturbance? *Environmental Reviews* 5: 131 144.
- Ludwig, F., de Kroon, H., Prins, H.H.T. & Berendse, F., 2001. Effects of nutrients and shade
 on tree-grass interactions in an East African savannah. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 12: 579
 588.
- Mack, R.N. (2003) Global plant dispersal, naturalization, and invasion: pathways, modes and
 circumstances. In: Ruiz, G.M. & Carlton, J.T. (eds.), Invasive species: vectors and management
 strategies. Island Press, Washington, DC. pp. 3–30.
- Mack, R.N., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Evans. H., Clout, M., & Bazzaz, F.A. (2000)
 Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. *Ecological Applications* 10: 689 710.
- Maluleke, M., Fraser, G.C.G. & Hill, M.P. (2021) Economic evaluation of chemical and
 biological control of four aquatic weeds in South Africa. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*.
- 2483 DOI: 10.1080/09583157.2021.1900783.
- Marais, C., van Wilgen, B.W. & Stevens D. (2004) Clearing of invasive alien plants in South
 Africa: a preliminary assessment of costs and progress. *South African Journal of Science* 100:
 97-103.

- 2487 Marchante, E., Kjoller, A., Struwe, S. & Freitas, H. (2008) Short and long-term impacts of
- 2488 Acacia longifolia invasion on the belowground processes of a Mediterranean coastal dune
- 2489 ecosystem. Applied Soil Ecology 40: 210 217.
- 2490 Martin, G.D. (2019) Addressing geographical bias: A review of *Robinia pseudoacacia* (Black
- locust) in the Southern Hemisphere. *South African Journal of Botany* **125**: 481 492.
- 2492 Martin, G.D. (2021) Prospects for the biological control of Northern Temperate Weeds in
 2493 South Africa. *African Entomology*. In press.
- 2494 Martinez, G.J. & Manzano-Garcia, J. (2019) Perception and use of non-native and invasive
- flora from Sierras de Córdoba in central Argentina. *Acta Botanica Brasilica* **33**: 241 253.
- Masaka, K., Yamada, K., Sato, H., Torita, H. & Kon, H. (2013) Understory plant richness and
 native tree invasion in exotic *Robinia pseudoacacia* stands in Hokkaido, Japan. *Forest Science*59: 589 597.
- McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., Brack, C. & Bauhus, J., 2005. Forest and woodland stand
 structural complexity: Its definition and measurement. *Forest Ecology and Management* 218:
 1 24.
- McFadyen, R.E.C. (1998) Biological control of weeds. *Annual Review of Entomology* 43: 369
 393.
- Milanović, M., Knapp, S., Pysek, P. & Kühn, I. (2020) Trait–environment relationships of plant
 species at different stages of the introduction process. *NeoBiota* 58: 55 74.
- Milton, S.J. (2004) Grasses as invasive alien plants in South Africa. South African Journal of *Science* 100: 69 74.

- Moffett, R. (1997) Grasses of the Eastern Free State: Their description and uses. UNIQWA,
 South Africa. 288 pp.
- 2510 Mooney, K.A., Gruner, D.S., Barber, N.A., van Bael, S.A., Philpott, S.M. & Greenberg, R.
- 2511 (2010) Interactions among predators and the cascading effects of vertebrate insectivores on
- arthropod communities and plants. *PNAS* **107**: 7335 7340.
- Moore, B.A. (2005) Alien invasive species: impacts on forests and forestry. A review. Forest
 Resources Development Service Working Paper FBS/8E. *Forest Resources Division FAO*,
 Rome, Italy.
- 2516 Moran, V.C., Hoffmann, J.H. & Zimmermann, H.G. (2013) 100 years of biological control of
- invasive alien plants in South Africa: History, practice and achievements. *South African Journal of Science* 109: 9 10.
- 2519 Moran, V.C., Zachariades, C. & Hoffmann, J.H. (2021) Implementing a system in South Africa
- for categorizing the outcomes of weed biological control. *Biological Control* 153: 104431
- 2521 Morin, L., Reid, A.M., Sims-Chilton, N.M., Buckley, Y.M., Dhileepan, K., Hastwell, G.T.,
- Nordblom, T.L. & Raghu, S. (2009) Review of approaches to evaluate the effectiveness of
 weed biological control agents. *Biological control* 51: 1 15.
- Mosquin, T, (1971) Competition for pollinators as a stimulus for the evolution of flowering time. *Oikos* 22: 398.
- Moteetee, A., Van Wyk, B-E. (2006) Sesotho names for exotic and indigenous edible plants in
 southern Africa. *Bothalia* 36: 25 32.
- 2528 Motitsoe, S.N., Coetzee, J.A., Hill, J.M. & Hill, M.P. (2020) Biological control of Salvinia
- 2529 *molesta* (D.S. Mitchell) drives aquatic ecosystem recovery. *Diversity* **12**: 204.

- Motta, R., Nola, P. & Berretti, R. (2009) The rise and fall of the black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) in the "Siro Negri" forest reserve (Lombardy, Italy): lessons learned and future uncertainties. *Annals of Forest Science* **66**: 410.
- 2533 Mucina, L. & Rutherford, M.C. (2006) The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland.
- 2534 Strelitzia 19. South African Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria.
- 2535 Mucina, L., Hoare, D. B., Lötter, M.C., du Preez, P. J., Rutherford, M.C., Scott-Shaw, C.R.,
- 2536 Bredenkamp, G.J., Powrie, L.W., Scott, L., Camp, K.G.T., Cilliers, S.S., Bezuidenhout, H.,
- 2537 Mostert, T.H., Siebert, S.J., Winter, P.J.D., Burrows, J.E., Dobson, L., Ward, R.A., Stalmans,
- 2538 M., Oliver, E.G.H., Siebert, F., Schmidt, E., Kobisi, K. & Kose, L. (2006) Grassland biome. In
- 2539 Mucina, L., Rutherford, M.C. (Eds). The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland.
- 2540 Strelitzia 19. South African Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria. pp. 351.
- Muñoz, A.A. & Cavieres, L.A. (2019) Sharing of pollinators between the invasive *Taraxacum officinale* and coflowering natives is not related to floral similarity in the High-Andes. *Flora*261: 151491.
- 2544 Musil, C.F. (1993) Effect of invasive Australian acacias on the regeneration, growth and
- nutrient chemistry of South African lowland fynbos. *Journal Applied Ecological* **30**: 361 372.
- Ndhlovu, T., Milton, S.J. & Esler, K.J. (2011) Impact of *Prosopis* (mesquite) invasion and
 clearing on the grazing capacity of semiarid Nama Karoo rangeland, South Africa. *African Journal of Range Forage Science* 28:129 137.
- Nel, J.L., Richardson, D.M., Rouget, M., Mgidi, T.N., Mdzeke, N., Le Maitre, D.C., van
 Wilgen, B.W., Schonegevel, L., Henderson, L. & Neser, S. (2004) A proposed classification
 of invasive alien plant species in South Africa: towards prioritizing species and areas for
 management action. *South African Journal of Science* 100: 53 63.

- 2553 Nicolescu, V., Hernea, C., Bakti, B., Keseru, Z., Antal, B. & Redei, K. (2018) Black locust
- 2554 (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) as a multi-purpose tree species in Hungary and Romania: a review.
- 2555 *Journal of Forestry Research* **29**: 1449 1463.
- 2556 Nicolescu, VN., Rédei, K., Mason, W.L. Vor, T., Pöetzelsberger, E., Bastien, J-C., Brus, R.,
- 2557 Benčať, T., Đodan, M., Cvjetkovic, B., Andrašev, S., La Porta, N., Lavnyy, V., Mandžukovski,
- 2558 D., Petkova, K., Roženbergar, D., Wąsik, R., Mohren, GMJ., Monteverdi, MC., Musch, B.,
- 2559 Klisz, M., Perić, S., Keça, L., Bartlett, D., Hernea, C. & Pástor, M. (2020). Ecology, growth
- and management of black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.), a non-native species integrated
- into European forests. *Journal of Forestry Research* **31**: 1081 1101.
- 2562 Nunez, M.A., Kuebbing, S., Dimarco, R.D.& Simberloff, D. (2012). Invasive species: to eat or
- not to eat, that is the question. *Conservation Letters* 5: 334 341.
- Nyoka, B.I. (2003) Biosecurity in forestry: a case study on the status of invasive forest trees
 species in Southern Africa. Forest Biosecurity Working Paper FBS/1E. FAO Forestry Paper
 No 140. Forestry Department. FAO, Rome (Unpublished).
- 2567 O'Connor, T.G. & van Wilgen, B.W. (2020) The impact of invasive alien plants on rangelands
- in South Africa. In: van Wilgen, B., Measey, J., Richardson, D., Wilson, J. & Zengeya, T. (eds)
- 2569 Biological invasions in South Africa. Invading Nature Springer Series in Invasion Ecology
- 2570 14. Springer, Cham. pp 459 487.
- 2571 Oduor, A.M.O., Leimu, R. & van Kleunen, M. (2016) Invasive plant species are locally adapted
- just as frequently and at least as strongly as native plant species. *Journal of Ecology* 104: 957
 968.

- Ohler, L.M., Lechleitner, M, Junker, R.R. (2020) Microclimatic effects on alpine plant
 communities and flower-visitor interactions. *Scientific Reports* 10: 1366.
- Ojija, F., Arnold, S.E.J. & Treydte, A.C. (2019) Impacts of alien invasive *Parthenium hysterophorus* on flower visitation by insects to co-flowering plants. *Arthropod Plant Interactions* 13: 719 734.
- 2579 Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.
- 2580 R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E. & Wagner, H.
- 2581 (2019). vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-6. https://CRAN.R2582 project.org/package=vegan.
- Olden, J.D., Lockwood, J.L. & Parr, C.L. (2011) Biological invasions and the homogenization
 of faunas and floras. Conservation Biogeography, 1st Edition. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. pp.
 224 243.
- 2586 Palmer, A.R. & Ainslie, A.M. (2005) Grasslands of South Africa. In: Suttie, J.M., Reynolds,
- 2587 S.G. & Batello, C. (eds), Grasslands of the world. Plant Production and Protection Series No.
- 2588 34. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome. pp. 77 120.
- Parker, I.M., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Goodell, K., Wonham, M., Kareiva, P.M.,
 Williamson, M.H., Von Holle, B., Moyle, P.B., Byers, J.E. & Goldwasser, L. (1999) Impact:
 towards a framework for understanding the ecological effects of invaders. *Biological Invasions*1: 3 19.
- Paterson, I.D., Coetzee, J.A., Hill, M.P. & Downie, D.D. (2010) A pre-release assessment of
 the relationship between the invasive alien plant, *Pereskia aculeata* Miller (Cactaceae), and
 native plant biodiversity in South Africa. *Biological Control* 57: 59 65.

- Paterson, I.D., Hill, M.P., Canavan, K. & Downey, P.O. (2021) Prioritisation of targets for
 weed biological control II: the South African Biological Control Target Selection system, *Biocontrol Science and Technology*: DOI: 10.1080/09583157.2021.1918637
- 2599 Pawson, S.M., McCarthy, J.K., Ledgard, N.J. & Didham, R.K. (2010) Density-dependent
- 2600 impacts of exotic conifer invasion on grassland invertebrate assemblages. Journal of Applied
- 2601 *Ecology* **47**: 1053 1062.
- Pimentel, D. (2005) Environmental consequences and economic costs of alien species. In:
 Inderjit (eds) Invasive Plants: Ecological and agricultural aspects. Birkhäuser Basel. Pp 269 –
 2604 276.
- Pimentel, D., Zuniga, R. & Morrison, D. (2004) Update on the environmental and economic
 costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. *Ecological Economics* 52:
 2607 273 288.
- 2608 Pincebourde, S., Murdock, C.C., Vickers, M. & Sears, M.W. (2016) Fine-scale microclimatic
- variation can shape the responses of organisms to global change in both natural and urban
- environments. *Integrative Comparative Biology* **56**: 45 61.
- Pratt, C.F., Constantine, K.L. & Murphy, S.T. (2017) Economic impacts of invasive alien
 species on African smallholder livelihoods. *Global Food Security* 14: 31 37.
- Pysek, P. & Richardson, D.M. (2008) Traits associated with invasiveness in alien plants: where
 do we stand? In: Nentwig, W. (eds) Biological invasions. ecological studies (analysis and
 synthesis), 193. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. pp. 97 125.
- Pysek, P. & Richardson, D.M. (2010) Invasive species, environmental change and
 management, and health. *The Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 35: 25 55.

- Pysek, P., Jarosik, V., Hulme, P. E., Pergl, J., Hejda, M., Schaffner, U. & Vila, M. (2012) A
 global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species. communities and ecosystems:
 the interaction of impact measures. invading species' traits and environment. *Global Change Biology* 18: 1725 1737.
- 2622 R Core Team (2020) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation
 2623 for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rabeling, S.C., Lim, J.L., Tidon, R., Neff, J.L., Simpson, B.B. & Pawar, S. (2019) Seasonal
 variation of a plant-pollinator network in the Brazilian Cerrado: Implications for community
 structure and robustness. *PLoS One* 14: e0224997.
- Rada, S., Stepanova, L., Losik, J., Sipos, J., Holusa, J. & Kuras, T. (2015) How does *Oedipoda germanica* (Orthoptera: Acrididae) cope on the northern edge of its distribution? A
 demographical study of a completely isolated population. *European Journal of Entomology*112: 486 492.
- Radtke, A., Ambra, S., Zerbe, S., Tonon, G., Fontana, V. & Ammer, C. (2013) Traditional
 coppice forest management drives the invasion of *Ailanthus altissima* and *Robinia pseudoacacia* into deciduous forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 291: 308 317.
- Rai, R.K., Scarborough, H., Subedi, N. & Lamichhane, B. (2012) Invasive plants do they
 devastate or diversify rural livelihoods? Rural farmers' perception of three invasive plants in
 Nepal. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 20: 170 176.
- Ramírez-Albores, J.E., Badano, E.I., Flores, J., Flores-Flores, J.L. & Yáñez-Espinosa, L.
 (2019) Scientific literature on invasive alien species in a megadiverse country: advances and
 challenges in Mexico. *NeoBiota* 48: 113 127.

- Rawlik, M., Kasprowicz, M., Jagodzinski, A.M., Kazmierowski, C., Lukowiak, R., Grzebisz,
 W. (2018) Canopy tree species determine herb layer biomass and species composition on a
 reclaimed mine spoil heap. *Science of the Total Environment* 635: 1205 1214.
- 2643 Redei, K., Keserű, Z.S., Csiha, I., Rásó, J. & Honfy, V. (2017) Plantation silviculture of Black
- 2644 locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) cultivars in Hungary A review. *South-Eastern European*2645 *Forestry* 8: 151 156.
- Rehounkova, K. & Prach, K. (2008) Spontaneous vegetation succession in gravel-sand pits: A
 potential for restoration. *Restoration Ecology* 16: 305 312.
- 2648 Richardson, A.D. (2019) Tracking seasonal rhythms of plants in diverse ecosystems with
- digital camera imagery. *New Phytologist* **222**: 1742 1750.
- 2650 Richardson, A.D., Braswell, B.H., Hollinger, D.Y., Jenkins, J.P. & Ollinger, S.V. (2009) Near-
- surface remote sensing of spatial and temporal variation in canopy phenology. *Ecological*
- 2652 *Applications* **19**: 17 28.
- 2653 Richardson, A.D., Hufkens, K., Milliman, T., Aubrecht, D.M., Chen, M., Gray, J.M., Johnston,
- 2654 M.R., Keenan, T.F., Klosterman, S.T., Kosmala, M., Melaas, E.K., Friedl, M.A. & Frolking,
- 2655 S. (2018) Tracking vegetation phenology across diverse North American biomes using
- 2656 PhenoCam imagery. *Scientific Data* **5**: 180028.
- Richardson, D.M. & Rejmanek, M. (2011) Trees and shrubs as invasive alien species a global
 review. *Diversity and Distributions* 17: 788 809.
- 2659 Richardson, D.M. & van Wilgen, B.W. (2004) Invasive alien plants in South Africa: how well
- do we understand the ecological impacts? South African Journal of Science 100: 45 57.

- Richardson, D.M., Le Roux, J.J. & Wilson, J.R.U. (2015) Australian acacias as invasive
 species: lessons to be learnt from regions with long planting histories. *Southern Forests: a Journal of Forest Science* 77: 31 39.
- 2664 Richardson, D.M., Macdonald, I.A.W. & Forsyth, G.G. (1989) Reductions in plant species
- richness under stands of alien trees and shrubs in the fynbos biome. *South African Forestry Journal* 149: 1 8.
- Richardson, D.M., Pysek, P., Rejmanek, M., Barbour M.G., Panetta, D.F. & West, C.J. (2000)
 Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. *Diversity and Distributions* 6: 93 107.
- Rilov, G., Mant, R., Lyons, D.A., Bulleri, F., Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Kotta, J., De Moura
 Queiros, A., Chatzinikolau, E., Crowe, T.P. & Guy-Haim T. (2012) How strong is the effect of
 invasive ecosystem engineers on the distribution patterns of local species, the local and regional
 biodiversity and ecosystem functions? *Environmental Evidence* 1: 1 10.
- 2674 Robertson, P.A., Mill, A., Novoa, A., Jeschke, J.M., Essl, F., Gallardo, B., Geist, J., Jaric, 'I.,
- 2675 Lambin, X., Musseau C., Pergl, J., Pysek, P., Rabitsch, W., von Schmalensee, M., Shirley, M.,
- 2676 Strayer, D.L., Stefansson, R.A., Smith, K. & Booy, O. (2020). A proposed unified framework
- to describe the management of biological invasions. *Biological Invasions* 22: 2633 2645.
- Ruwanza, S. (2019) The edge effect on plant diversity and soil properties in abandoned fields
 targeted for ecological restoration. *Sustainability* 11: 140.
- Ruwanza, S. & Tshililo, K. (2019) Short term soil and vegetation recovery after *Acacia mearnsii* removal in Vhembe biosphere Reserve, South Africa. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research* 17: 1705 1716.

- Sadlo, J., Vítková, M., Pergl, J., Pyšek, J. (2017) Towards site-specific management of invasive
 alien trees based on the assessment of their impacts: the case of *Robinia pseudoacacia*. *NeoBiota* 35: 1 34.
- 2686 Samways, M.J. (1990) Land forms and winter habitat refugia in the conservation of montane
- 2687 grasshoppers in Southern Africa. *Biological Conservation* **4**: 375 382.
- SANBI. 2013. Grasslands Ecosystem Guidelines: landscape interpretation for planners and
 managers. Compiled by Cadman, M., de Villiers, C., Lechmere-Oertel, R. and D. McCulloch.
- 2690 South African National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria. 139 pp.
- Schaffner, U., Hill, M., Dudley, T. & D'Antonio, C. (2020) Post-release monitoring in classical
 biological control of weeds: assessing impact and testing pre-release hypotheses. *Current Opinion in Insect Science* 38: 99 106.
- 2694 Schirmel, J., Bundschuh, M., Entling, M.H., Kowarik, I. & Buchholz, S. (2016) Impacts of
- 2695 invasive plants on resident animals across ecosystems, taxa, and feeding types: a global
- assessment. *Global Change Biology* **22**: 594 603.
- Seastedt, T. (2014) Biological control: perspectives for maintaining provisioning services in
 the anthropocene. In: Pimentel D., Peshin R. (eds) Integrated pest management. Springer,
 Dordrecht. pp 269 280.
- 2700 Semenya, S.S., Tshisikhawe, M.P. & Potgieter, M.T. (2012) Invasive alien plant species: A
- case study of their use in the Thulamela Local Municipality, Limpopo Province, South Africa. *Scientific Research and Essays* 7: 2363 2369.
- 2703 Sendall, K.M., Reich, P.B., Zhao, C., Jihua, H., Wei, X., Stefanski, A., Rice, K., Rich, R.L. &
- 2704 Montgomery, R.A. (2015) Acclimation of photosynthetic temperature optima of temperate and

- boreal tree species in response to experimental forest warming. *Global Change Biology* 21:
 1342 1357.
- Shackleton, C.M., McGarry, D., Fourie, S.J. Gambiza, S.E. Shackleton & Fabricius, C. (2007)
 Assessing the effects of invasive alien species on rural livelihoods: case examples and a
 framework from South Africa. *Human Ecology* 35: 113 127.
- Shackleton, C.M., Shackleton, S.E., Buiten, E. & Bird, N. (2007). The importance of dry
 woodlands and forests in rural livelihoods and poverty alleviation in South Africa. *Forest Policy and Economics* 9: 558 577.
- 2713 Shackleton, R.T. & Larson, B.M.H. (2018) Social-ecological drivers and impacts of invasion-
- 2714 related regime shifts: consequences for ecosystem services and human wellbeing.
 2715 *Environmental Science Policy* 89: 300 314.
- 2716 Shackleton, R.T., Le Maitre, D.C., van Wilgen, B.W. & Richardson, D.M. (2015) Use of non-
- 2717 timber forest products from invasive alien *Prosopis* species (mesquite) and native trees in South
- 2718 Africa: implications for management. *Forest Ecosystems* **2**: 16.
- Shackleton, R.T., Shackleton, C.M. & Kull, C.A. (2019) The role of invasive alien species in
 shaping local livelihoods and human well-being: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management* 229: 145 157.
- 2722 Shackleton, S., Campbell, B., Lotz-Sisitka, H. & Shackleton, C. (2008) Links between the local
- trade in natural products, livelihoods and poverty alleviation in a semi-arid region of south
- 2724 africa. *World Development* **36**: 505 526.

- Sheffield, C.S. (2014) Pollination, seed set and fruit quality in apple: studies with *Osmia lignaria* (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) in the Annapolis valley, Nova Scotia, Canada. *Journal of Pollination Ecology* 12: 120 128.
- 2728 Sheppard, A.W., Shaw, R.H. & Sforza, R., 2006. Top 20 environmental weeds for classical
- 2729 biological control in Europe: a reviewof opportunities, regulations and other barriers to
- 2730 adoption. Weed Research **46**: 1 25.
- 2731 Silva, P.S.D., Bieber, A.G.D., Correa, M.M. & Leal, I.R. (2011) Do leaf-litter attributes affect
- the richness of leaf-litter ants? *Neotropical Entomology* **40**: 542 547.
- 2733 Sitzia, T., Campagnaro, T., Dainese, M. & Cierjacks, A. (2012) Plant species diversity in alien
- 2734 black locust stands: a paired comparison with native stands across a north-Mediterranean range
- expansion. *Forest Ecology and Management* **285**: 85 91.
- Sitzia, T., Campagnaro, T., Kotze, D, J., Nardi, S. & Ertani, A. (2018) The invasion of
 abandoned fields by a major alien tree filters understory plant traits in novel forest ecosystems. *Scientific Reports* 8: 8410.
- 2739 Sitzia, T., Cierjacks, A., de Rigo, D. & Caudullo, G. (2016) *Robinia pseudoacacia* in Europe:
- 2740 Distribution, habitat, usage and threats. In: San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G.,
- 2741 Houston Durrant, T. & Mauri, A. (Eds.), European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. *Publication*
- office of the European Union, Luxembourg. pp. 166 167.
- 2743 Slabejova, D., Bacigal, T., Hegedusova, K., Majekova, J., Medvecka, J., Mikulova, K.,
- 2744 Sibikova, M., Skodova, I., Zaliberova, M. & Jarolimek, I. (2019) Comparison of the understory
- 2745 vegetation of native forests and adjacent *Robinia pseudoacacia* plantations in the Carpathian-
- 2746 Pannonian region. *Forest Ecology and Management* **439**: 28 40.

2747	Spengler, N.S. (2019) Origins of the Apple: the role of mega-faunal mutualism in the
2748	domestication of Malus and Rosaceous trees. Front. Plant Sci Spengler, N.S. (2019) Origins of
2749	the Apple: the role of mega-faunal mutualism in the domestication of Malus and Rosaceous
2750	trees. Frontiers in Plant Science 10: 617.

2751 Steenhuisen, S-L., Raguso, R.A., Jürgens, A. & Johnson, S.D. (2010) Variation in scent

emission among floral parts and inflorescence developmental stages in beetle-pollinated Protea

- species (Proteaceae). *South Africa Journal of Botany* **76**: 779 787.
- Stone, K.R. (2009) *Robinia pseudoacacia*. In: Fire effects information system. U.S.
 Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences
 Laboratory. Available:https://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/plants/tree/robpse/all.html [2019,
 February 14].).
- 2758 Strobl, M., Saska, P., Seidl, M., Kocian, M., Tajovsky, K., Rezac, M., Skuhrovec, J., Marhoul,
- 2759 P., Zbuzek, B., Jakubec, P., Knapp, M. & Kadlec, T. (2019) Impact of an invasive tree on
- arthropod assemblages in woodlots isolated within an intensive agricultural landscape.
- **2761** *Diversity and Distributions:* 1 14*.*

- Suttie, J.M., Reynolds, S.G. & Batello, C. (2005) Grasslands of the world. Plant Production
 and Protection Series No. 34. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome
 692 pages.
- Taylor, S.H., Hulme, S.P., Rees, M., Ripley, B.S., Woodward, F.I. & Osborne, C.P. (2010)
 Ecophysiological traits in C₃ and C₄ grasses: a phylogenetically controlled screening
 experiment. *New Phytologist* 185: 780 791.

- 2768 Taylor, S.J., Ferguson, J.W.H., Engelbrecht, F.A., Clark, V.R., van Rensburg, S. & Barker, N.
- (2016) The Drakensberg escarpment as the great supplier of water to South Africa. InGreenwood, G.B. & Shroder, J.F. (eds) Developments in Earth Surface Processes, Elsevier,
- **2771 21**: 1 − 46.
- Te Beest, M., Esler, K.J. & Richardson, D.M. (2015) Linking functional traits to impacts of
 invasive plant species: a case study. *Plant Ecology* 216: 293 305.
- Tecco, P.A., Gurvich, D.E., Díaz, S., Pérez-Harguindeguy, N. & Cabido, M. (2006) Positive
 interaction between invasive plants: the influence of *Pyracantha angustifolia* on the
 recruitment of native and exotic woody species. *Austral Ecology* 31: 293 300.
- Tichy, L. (2016) Field test of canopy cover estimation by hemispherical photographs taken
 with a smartphone. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 27: 427 435.
- Traveset, A. & Richardson, D.M. (2014) Mutualistic interactions and biological invasions. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 45: 89 –113.
- 2781 Trivellone, V., Bougeard, S., Giavi, S., Krebs, P., Balseiro, D., Dray, S. & Moretti, M. (2017)
- 2782 Factors shaping community assemblages and species co-occurrence of different trophic levels.
- 2783 Ecological Evolution **7**: 4745 4754.
- Turpie, J.K., Marais, C. & Blignaut, J.N. (2008) The working for water programme: Evolution
 of a payments for ecosystem services mechanism that addresses both poverty and ecosystem
- 2786 service delivery in South Africa. *Ecological Economics* **65**: 788 798.
- 2787 Tyler, T., Andersson, S., Fröberg, L., Olsson, K-A., Svensson, A. & Olsson, O. (2020) Recent
- 2788 changes in the frequency of plant species and vegetation types in Scania, Sweden, compared
- to changes during the twentieth century. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **29**: 709 728.

- Vallés, S.M., Gallego-Fernández, J., Dellafiore, C. & Cambrollé, J. (2011) Effects on soil,
 microclimate and vegetation of the native-invasive *Retama monosperma* (L.) in coastal dunes. *Plant Ecology* 212: 169 179.
- 2793 Van der Merwe, H., Du Toit, J.C.O., Van den Berg, L. & O 'Connor, T.G. (2018) Impact of
- sheep grazing intensity on vegetation at the Arid Karoo stocking rate trial after 27 years,
 Carnarvon, South Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments* 155: 36 45.
- van Kleunen, M., Weber, E. & Fischer, M. (2010) A meta-analysis of trait differences between
 invasive and non-invasive plant species. *Ecology Letters* 13: 235 245.
- 2798 Van Oudtshoorn, F. (1999) Guide to Grasses of Southern Africa First Edition. Briza
 2799 publications Pretoria, South Africa. 287 pages.
- van Wilgen, B., Measey, J., Richardson, D., Wilson, J. & Zengeya, T. (2020) Biological
- 2801 invasions in South Africa. Invading Nature Springer Series in Invasion Ecology 14. Springer,

2802 Cham. 975 pages.

van Wilgen, B.W., Davies, S.J. & Richardson D.M. (2014) Invasion science for society: A
decade of contributions from the Centre for Invasion Biology. *South African Journal of Science*110: a0074

van Wilgen, B.W., Forsyth, G.G. & Le Maitre, D.C., (2008b) The prioritization of species and primary catchments for the purposes of guiding invasive alien plant control operations in the terrestrial biomes of South Africa. Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) Report. Natural Resources and the Environment. South Africa. Report Number CSIR/NRE/ECO/ER/2008/0070/C. pp 1 - 51.

- van Wilgen, B.W., Forsyth, G.G., Le Maitre, D.C., Wannenburgh, A., Johann, D.F., Kotze,
 J.D.F., van den Berg, E. & Henderson, L. (2012) An assessment of the effectiveness of a large,
 national-scale invasive alien plant control strategy in South Africa. *Biological Conservation*148: 28 38.
- van Wilgen, B.W., Reyers, B., Le Maitre, D.C., Richardson, D.M. & Schonegevel, L., (2008a)
- 2816 A biome-scale assessment of the impact of invasive alien plants on ecosystem services in South
- 2817 Africa. Journal of Environmental Management 89: 336 349.
- van Wilgen, B.W., Richardson, D.M., Le Maitre, D.C., Marais, C. & Magadlela, D. (2001) The
- economic consequences of alien plant invasions: Examples of impacts and approaches to
 sustainable management in South Africa. *Environment, Development and Sustainability* 3: 145
 168.
- Vanbergen, A.J., Espíndola, A. & Aizen, M.A. (2018). Risks to pollinators and pollination from
 invasive alien species. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 2: 16 25.
- Varble, S. & Secchi, S. (2013) Human consumption as an invasive species management
 strategy. A preliminary assessment of the marketing potential of invasive Asian carp in the US. *Appetite* 65: 58 67.
- Vicente, J.R., Kueffer, C., Richardson, D.M., Vaz, A.S., Cabral, J.A., Hui, C., Araújo, M.B.,
- 2828 Kühn, I., Kull, C.A., Verburg, P.H., Marchante, E. & Honrado, J.P. (2019) Different
- 2829 environmental drivers of alien tree invasion affect different life-stages and operate at different
- spatial scales. *Forest Ecology and Management* **433**: 263 275.
- Vilà, M. & Weiner, J. (2004) Are invasive plant species better competitors than native plant
 species? Evidence from pair-wise experiments. *Oikos* 105: 229 238.

- 2833 Vila, M., Espinar, J.L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P., Jarosik, V., Maron, J. L. Pergl, J., Schaffner, U.,
- 2834 Sun, Y. & Pysek, P. (2011) Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their
- effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* **14**: 702 708.
- 2836 Vitkova, M., Müllerová, J., Sádlo, J., Pergl, J. & Pysek P. (2017) Black locust (Robinia
- 2837 *pseudoacacia*) beloved and despised: A story of an invasive tree in Central Europe. *Forest*
- 2838 *Ecology and Management* **384**: 287–302.
- 2839 Vitkova, M., Sadlo, J., Rolecek, J. Petrik, P., Sitzia, T., Mullerova, J. & Pysek P. (2020)
- 2840 *Robinia pseudoacacia* dominated vegetation types of Southern Europe: species composition,
- history, distribution and management. *Science of the Total Environment* **707**: 134857.
- 2842 Von Arx, G., Pannatier, E.G., Thimonier, A. & Rebetez, M. (2013). Microclimate in forests
- 2843 with varying leaf area index and soil moisture: potential implications for seedling establishment
- in a changing climate. *Journal of Ecology* **101**: 1201 1213.
- Von Holle, B. & Motzkin, G. (2007) Historical land use and environmental determinants of
 nonnative plant distribution in coastal southern New England. *Biological Conservation* 36: 33
 -43.
- Walker, L R., Smith, S.D., 1997. Impacts of invasive plants on community and ecosystem
 properties, in: Luken, J.O. & Thieret, J.W. (eds) Assessment and management of plant
 invasions. Springer Series on Environmental Management. Springer, New York, pp. 69 86.
- Walther, G-R, (2010) Community and ecosystem responses to recent climate change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 365: 1549.
- 2853 Walther, G-R., Roques, A., Hulme, P.E., Sykes, M.T., Pysek, P., Kuhn, I., Zobel, M., Bacher,
- 2854 S., Botta-Dukat, Z., Bugmann, H., Czucz, B., Dauber, J., Hickler, T., Jarosik, V., Kenis, M.,

- 2855 Klotz, S., Minchin, D., Moora, M., Nentwig, W., Ott, J., Panov, V.E., Reineking, B., Robinet,
- 2856 C., Semenchenko, V., Solarz, W., Thuiller, W., Vila, M., Vohland, K. & Settele, J. (2009) Alien
- species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 24: 687 –
 693.
- 2859 Wang, Y., Naumann, U., Wright, S.T. & Warton, D.I. (2012) mvabund an R package for
- 2860 model-based analysis of multivariate abundance data: The mvabund R package. *Methods in*
- 2861 *Ecology and Evolution* **3**: 471 474.
- 2862 Wardle, D.A. & Peltzer, D.A. (2017) Impacts of invasive biota in forest ecosystems in an above
- ground–belowground context. *Biological Invasions* **19**: 3301–3316.
- Watling, J.I., Hickman, C.R. & Orrock, J.L. (2011) Invasive shrub alters native forest
 amphibian communities. *Biological Conservation* 144: 2597 2601.
- West, P.W. (2009) Tree and forest management. 2nd Edition. Springer-Verlag, Berlin
 Heidelberg, Germany. pp. 11 -15.
- Westbrooks, R.G. (1998) Invasive Plants: Changing the landscape of America. Factbook:
 Federal Interagency Committee for the Management of Noxious and Exotic weeds,
 Washington, DC. 125 pages
- 2871 Wigley, B.J., Bond, W.J. & Hoffman, M.T. (2010) Thicket expansion in a South African
- savanna under divergent land use: local vs. global drivers? *Global Change Biology* **16**: 964 –
- **2873** 976.
- 2874 Winston, R.L., Schwarzländer, M., Hinz, H.L., Day, M.D., Cock, M.J.W.& Julien, M.H. (2014)

- Biological control of weeds: a world catalogue of agents and their target weeds, 5th ed.
 FHTET-2014-04. USDA Forest Service, Forest Health Technology Enterprise Team,
 Morgantown.
- Wisely, S.M., Alexander, K., Mahlaba, T. & Cassidy, L. (2018) Linking ecosystem services to
 livelihoods in southern Africa. *Ecosystem Services* 30: 339 341.
- Witkowski, E.T.F. (1991) Effects of invasive alien acacias on nutrient cycling in the coastal
 lowlands of the Cape fynbos. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 28: 1 15.
- 2882 Yapi, T.S., O'Farrell, P.J., Dziba, L.E. & Esler, K.J. (2018) Alien tree invasion into a South
- 2883 African montane grassland ecosystem: impact of Acacia species on rangeland condition and
- 2884 livestock carrying capacity. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services*2885 and Management 14: 105 116.
- Yelenik, S.G., Stock, W.D. & Richardson, D.M. (2004) Ecosystem level impacts of invasive *Acacia saligna* in the South African fynbos. *Restoration Ecology* 12: 44 51.
- 2888 Yelenik, S.G., Stock, W.D. & Richardson, D.M. (2007) Functional group identity does not
- 2889 predict invader impacts: differential effects of nitrogen-fixing exotic plants on ecosystem
- 2890 function. *Biological Invasions* **9**: 117 125.

Zachariades, C., Paterson, I.D., Strathie, L.W., Hill, M.P. & van Wilgen, B.W. (2017)
Assessing the status of biological control as a management tool for suppression of invasive
alien plants in South Africa. *Bothalia* 47: a2142.

Appendices
Appendix 1 UNIVERSITY OF THE FREE STATE UNIVERSITEIT VAN DIE VRYSTAAT
Contributions of invasive alien tree, Black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia L.) to
livelihoods of peri-urban dwellers in Clarens, South Africa
Gerald Chikowore ¹
¹ Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein
Rural utilization questionnaire
The University of the Free State in conjunction with the Centre for Biological Control at
Rhodes University is conducting research into possible control of Black locust (Robinia
pseudoacacia), an invasive alien tree using its natural enemies. The purpose of this
questionnaire therefore is to assess utilization of <i>R. pseudoacacia</i> and its products by resource
limited communities in South Africa.

The questionnaire consists of 20 questions in 4 sections



2921 A. PARTICIPANT DETAILS

AGE	
SEX	
HOUSEHOLD SIZE	
DISTRICT	
YEARS IN THE LOCATION	

2924	B.	BOTANICAL KNO	WLEDGE
2925			
2926	1.	Do you know a lot abo	but trees?
2927			
2928		□Yes	□No
2929			
2930	2.	Do you know any trees	s growing here that are not from South Africa?
2931			
2932		□Yes	□No
2933	3.	Can you name six tree	es (Sotho or English)?

Tree number	Common name
1	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	

2936 4. Do you know Black locust?

2938 □Yes □No

2940 5. Is there Black locust near your homestead?

2942		lYes	□No				
2943							
2944	6. Ar	e there many	Black locust tr	ees in your are	a?		
2945							
2946		Few (Individu	al trees)	□ A number (s	scattered)	C	Many (Clusters)
2947							
2948	C. U	TILIZATIO	N				
2949							
2950	7. Do	o make use of	trees and tree j	products at you	r homestead?		
2951							
2952		Yes	□No				
2953							
2954	8. Do	o you make us	e Black locust	?			
2955							
2956		Yes	□No				
2957							
2958	9. Ho	ow often do ye	ou make use of	tree and tree p	products?		
2959							
2960		Daily	□Weekly	□Monthly	□Yearly	□Every	10 years
2961							
2962	10. Ho	ow do you get	the tree or tree	e products?			
2963							
2964		Own harvesti	ng		ring programme	es	□Both
2965							

11. Please indicate whether you make use of the following trees in any of the following ways



- 1 11.2. For each of the trees listed above, can you think of any other uses of the tree that are not
- 2 covered above? If so, please list them below.

Black locust:
Silver wattle:
Dad firsthomy
Keu memorii.
Crear poplar
Grey popular.
Bluegum
Diacguin.
Maritime nine:
Martine phe.

- 3 12. Do you sell any or part of Black locust trees to make a living?
- 4 \Box Yes \Box No
- 5 13. If yes, please list the products that you sell in the table below.

Product	Quantity sold/year	Price/unit (ZAR)
Firewood	Bakkie loads	
Charcoal	Bags	

6 14. Can you list the <u>major</u> uses of the money generated from these sales? (E.g. To buy food)

7	
8	
9	
-	
10	
11	
12	

13 15. Does Black locust affect you in any of the following ways?

EFFECT	YES	NO	NOT SURE
It is taking up arable area			
It is poisoning livestock			
It is spreading uncontrollably on the homestead			
It is harboring pests (rats, biting flies etc.)			
Hiding criminals			

14

15 Please list any other negative impacts of Black locust not listed above

16				
17				
18				
19				
20	D. <u>MANAGEMENT:</u>			
21				
22	16. Is Black locust being	cleared removed fro	om your area?	
23				
24	⊠Yes □No			
25	17. If yes, who is removir	g the trees?		
26				
27	□Government	□Community		
28				
29				

30	18. Why they are removing the trees?		
31			
32			
33			
34			
35	19. How are the trees being removed?		
36	□ Mechanical (Physical removal of plants, chopping)		
37	□ Chemical (Use of herbicides, poisons)		
38	□Both		
39	20. Is the number of Black locust trees going down?		
40	\Box Yes \Box No \Box N/A		
41	E. CONCLUSION		
42			
12			
43	Your assistance, time and input are greatly appreciated.		
44	If there is anything further that you would like to make comment on, note, suggest, raise or		
45	otherwise divulge please feel free to include it in the "Additional Notes" section at the end of		
46	this booklet.		
17	May I please remind you that none of this information will be shared publicly without your		
47	way I please remind you that none of this mornation will be shared publicly without you		
48	prior consent and that if you have any issues, queries or otherwise wish to get hold of me my		
49	email address is 2018446340@ufs4life.ac.za and I am available on 0843542646		
50	Thank you for your time and all the best in all your endeavours.		

51 Additional Notes:

52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
59	
60	
61	
62	
63	
64	
65	
66	
00	
67	
68	
69	
70	
71	
72	
73	
74	
75	



Animal Research Ethics

19-Aug-2019

Dear Dr Frank Chidawanyika

Student Project Number: UFS-AED2019/0103

Project Title: Biological control prelease studies on the ecological impacts and biotic interactions of Robinia pseudoacacia L. (Black locust) with indigenous fauna and flora in South Africa

Department: Zoology and Entomology Department (Bloemfontein Campus)

You are hereby kindly informed that, at the meeting held on , the Interfaculty Animal Ethics Committee approved the above project.

Kindly take note of the following:

1.

A progress report with regard to the above study has to be submitted Annually and on completion of the project. Reports are submitted by logging in to RIMS and completing the report as described in SOP AEC007: Submission of Protocols, Modifications, Amendments, Reports and Reporting of Adverse Events which is available on the UFS intranet.

2.

Researchers that plan to make use of the Animal Experimentation Unit must ensure to request and receive a quotation from the Head, Mr. Seb Lamprecht.

3.

Fifty (50%) of the quoted amount is payable when you receive the letter of approval.

Yours Sincerely

Mr. Gerhard Johannes van Zyl





GENERAL/HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (GHREC)

11-Nov-2020

Dear Dr Frank Chidawanyika

Application Approved

Research Project Title:

Contributions of invasive alien tree, Black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia L.) to livelihoods of peri-urban dwellers in Clarens, South Africa

Ethical Clearance number: UFS-HSD2020/1448/1111

We are pleased to inform you that your application for ethical clearance has been approved. Your ethical clearance is valid for twelve (12) months from the date of issue. We request that any changes that may take place during the course of your study/research project be submitted to the ethics office to ensure ethical transparency. furthermore, you are requested to submit the final report of your study/research project to the ethics office. Should you require more time to complete this research, please apply for an extension. Thank you for submitting your proposal for ethical clearance; we wish you the best of luck and success with your research.

Yours sincerely

Dr Adri Du Plessis Chairperson: General/Human Research Ethics Committee

Adleson

205 Nelson Mandela Drive Park West Bloemfontein 9301 South Africa P.O. Box 339 Bloemfontein 9300 Tel: +27 (0)51 401

duplessisA@ufs.ac.: www.ufs.ac.za

9337

84

85

87 Appendix 4

Journal of Insect Conservation https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-021-00311-0

ORIGINAL PAPER



An assessment of the invasive alien tree, *Robinia pseudoacacia* canopy traits and its effect on grassland microclimates and subsequent arthropod assemblages

Gerald Chikowore^{1,2} · Grant D. Martin² · Frank Chidawanyika^{1,3}

Received: 27 January 2021 / Accepted: 30 March 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Abstract

Invasive alien trees transform landscapes and subsequent ecosystem function. For grassland ecosystems, fragmentation following invasion by alien woody species is of concern. In this study, we examined how an invasive alien tree, *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. (Fabaceae) impacts grassland microclimates and the subsequent assemblages of endemic arthropods. The phenological trajectory of *R. pseudoacacia*, temperature and light intensity, as well as arthropod abundances in both invaded and uninvaded habitats, were monitored. Results showed that *R. pseudoacacia* significantly lowers average understory temperatures and light pnetration in grassland ecosystems. Average temperatures were at least 2 °C lower in understory habitats than open grasslands while light intensity was lower by more than 1200 lumens/ft². In addition, arthropod communities differed between invaded and uninvaded habitats. The most affected taxa were Acridids from the order Orthoptera as they were excluded from understory habitats while Coleopterans were more abundant under *R. pseudoacacia*. Apart from absence of main host plants, invasion mediated differences in microenvironments appeared to be the main driver of this shift in affected arthropod taxa.

Implications for insect conservation These results highlight the need to sustainably manage *R. pseudoacacia* invasions especially in grassland ecosystems. In addition to their conservation value due to their role in nutrient cycling, grassland arthropods also serve as important indicators of ecosystem health. Hence, they can be used to monitor ecosystem recovery post invasive alien tree management.

Keywords Afromontane · Biological invasions · Ecological interactions · Microhabitats

Introduction

Habitat transformation, climate change and invasive alien species are the major threats to ecosystem structure, integrity and function (Erviner et al. 2012; Walther et al. 2009). By interfering with coevolved interactions between biotic and abiotic components, invasive alien species modify

Frank Chidawanyika fchidawanyika@icipe.org

¹ Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of the Free State, P O Box 339, Bloemfontein 9300, Republic of South Africa

² Centre for Biological Control, Department of Zoology and Entomology, Rhodes University, P O Box 94, Grahamstown 6140, Republic of South Africa

³ International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (Icipe), P.O. Box 30772-00100, Nairobi, Kenya

Published online: 10 April 2021

ecosystems, to the detriment of their integrity and human wellbeing (Shackleton et al. 2019; Walther 2010). Impacts of invasive alien species on ecological interactions can be direct or indirect. For example, dietary shifts have been observed especially in pollinators following invasion by plants with showy inflorescences (Gibson et al. 2013) or increased dominance of canopy dwelling arthropods when grasslands are invaded by woody trees (Andersen et al. 2019). Of interest, is how invasive plants can alter ecosystem structure, community assembly and subsequent trophic interactions such as predation and competition.

Plants have the highest number of taxa invading terrestrial and aquatic environments and as such, many studies have been conducted to quantify their impacts (van Wilgen et al. 2020). For example, there is ample evidence to show that invasive alien plants (IAPs) modify ecosystems through reduction of water availability and quality (Le Maitre et al. 2002), change soil chemical composition

Deringer
(Marchante et al. 2008) and reduce native plant and animal diversity (Hejda et al. 2009). These impacts result from complex interaction between the invaded environment and IAP functional traits (Yelenik et al. 2007). Thus, IAPs, through their functional traits, which include canopy characteristics, seed production rates, water use and biological nitrogen fixation can alter microclimates and microhabitats (van Kleunen et al. 2010; Milanovic et al. 2020). Furthermore, the release of root and leaf leachates may have inhibitory effect on the growth of competing plants (Thiébaut et al. 2019). Alteration of the physical environment by changing thermal regimes and illumination due to the shading effect of IAPs may also result in the creation of novel environments in which natives fail to adapt or compete (Lazzaro et al. 2018). This can lead to a gradual change in plant succession trends, an effect that cascades through trophic levels (Schirmel et al. 2016).

Grasslands are the largest biome covering over 40% of the global surface area, making them habitat to many endemic plant and animal species worldwide (Suttie et al. 2005). Moreover, grasslands provide natural grazing as a service to both wildlife and range-based livestock production systems (Palmer and Ainslie 2005; Humphrey et al. 2019; O'Connor and van Wilgen 2020). Unfortunately, this biome is rapidly being transformed due to natural and anthropogenic disturbances (van Wilgen et al. 2008). For example, highland grasslands in South Africa are becoming fragmented due to agricultural activity as well as invasion by a number of alien plants (Wigley et al. 2010; Carbutt 2012). Woody plants, in particular, have been successful invaders in grasslands as they have superior traits such as high canopy cover which alter habitat conditions for native grassland flora (Hejda et al. 2009; Chikowore et al. 2021).

To fully understand the influence of invasive alien plant traits on invaded communities, it is necessary to study the ecology of the species in their native and invaded ranges. This includes knowledge of the growth season and characteristics of the plants. The growth season of plants is defined by their phenology, which in turn influences certain ecological processes (Richardson et al. 2018). For instance, plant productivity, carbon storage, evapotranspiration and trophic interactions such as predation and pollination all depend on plant phenology (Brown et al. 2016; Richardson 2019), Spatio-temporal variability in phenology also offers an opportunity to monitor forest health as it is linked to climatic variation and other stresses such as pest damage (Richardson et al. 2009). For example, the impact of late spring frost on the deciduous tree, American buckeye, Aesculus glabra Wild. (Sapindaceae), induced stresses which persisted beyond the year of occurrence (Augspurger 2011). Therefore, monitoring the timing and intensity of canopy greenness enables the tracking of critical plant growth phases and helps to predict key ecological processes.

Springer

91

92

93

94

Temperatures also have a direct impact on plant and animal growth processes (Sendall et al. 2015). At the centre of the climate change debate temperature fluctuations are at the core. This is particularly important for endemic ectotherms, which rely on ambient temperature for their thermoregulation. Forest shelters modulate microclimates creating conditions that are unique and differentially suitable for other organisms. For instance, in a study to quantify the effect of canopy openness and seasonality on microclimates in France, Gaudio et al. (2017) found minimum temperatures to be higher and maximum temperatures to be lower under tree canopies than in open lands especially in summer. Microclimates also tend to vary significantly at very fine spatio-temporal scales (Pincebourde et al. 2016). In grassland ecosystems, the introduction of trees creates wetter and cooler conditions, which are novel to resident biota (von Arx et al. 2013). The growth of understory vegetation under these conditions will therefore depend on the incident solar radiation which influences temperatures. Moreover, invasive alien trees are associated with the homogenization of understory habitats, reducing food resources and habitats for specialist organisms (Andersen et al. 2019; Kadlec et al. 2018; Chikowore et al. 2021).

For ectotherms, body temperature is dependent on the environment (Chown and Nicolson 2004; Chidawanyika et al. 2017, 2020). Thus, invasion-mediated modification of vegetative structure can affect behavioural thermoregulation among ectotherms and ultimately their assemblages (Clusella-Trullas and Garcia 2017). For example, Watling et al. (2011) reported that alteration of microclimates by the invasive alien shrub, Lonicera maackii (Rupr.) Maxim. (Caprifoliaceae) the Amur honevsuckle negatively impacted amphibian species richness and composition in Missouri, USA. This was despite the absence of a direct trophic linkage between the two taxa. Similarly, heterogeneity on alpine plant assembly was recently shown as a mediating factor among flower visitation rates (Ohler et al. 2020), underlying the importance of vegetative structure on arthropod assemblages.

Arthropods, being poikilothermic are highly sensitive to changes in thermal environments (Chown and Terblanche 2006; Chidawanyika et al. 2020). Hence, fluctuations in ambient temperatures have a direct bearing on life history traits such as survival, reproduction and development (Jaworski and Hilszczanski 2013; Ahn et al. 2016; Chidawanyika et al. 2017). Their sensitivity and assemblages thus make them good indicators of changes in microclimatic conditions (Gerlach et al. 2013; Strobl et al. 2019). Their trophic association with plants as primary consumers also makes them suitable as model organisms for studying IAP impact (Mooney et al. 2010). Species diversity has been found to be conditioned by vegetation structure, with dominant plant species playing a larger role (Farrell et al. 2015) Journal of Insect Conservation

where a decline in arthropod populations could be used as indicators of natural ecosystem degradation (Lister and Garcia 2018).

Robinia pseudoacacia, a deciduous tree originating from North America which is currently widely distributed across the globe is one of the alien trees invading Afromontane grasslands in South Africa where it is regarded as an IAP (Henderson and Wilson 2017; Martin 2019). Among its functional traits is the ability to change soil chemical properties and high growth rates especially in forest gaps (Cierjacks et al. 2013; Vitkova et al. 2015). The tree has been reported to alter micro-arthropod, soil microbial and plant communities in invaded areas (Lazzaro et al. 2018). Furthermore, in Central Europe, Kadlec et al. (2018) linked *R. pseudoacacia* to reduced richness in canopy arthropods, particularly lepidopterans due to lack of adaptation to feed on the tree.

Given the rapid expansion of *R. pseudoacacia* in South Africa (Martin 2019), this study aimed to determine the species phenology, particularly in highland grasslands, in order to ascertain its influence on the microclimates below the canopy and its impact on the grassland arthropods in this biome. Specifically, we asked. 1. What are the seasonal growth characteristics of *R. pseudoacacia* in the southern hemisphere and South Africa? 2. What is the impact of *R. pseudoacacia* canopies on understory temperature and light in highland grasslands? and, 3. How *R. pseudoacacia* mediated habitat changes influence invertebrate assemblages?

Materials and methods

Study area

The study was conducted between February 2019 and October 2020 (21 months) on the Northern Slopes of the Maluti-Drakensberg Mountains in South Africa (28° 32' 33.08" S; 28° 29' 30.91"E). Climate for the area according to the Köppen-Geiger classification is subtropical highland (Cwb) with annual temperatures and rainfall averaging 13.7 °C and 693 mm respectively (Beck et al. 2018). Due to the high altitudes > 1600 m sub-zero temperatures, frequent frost and snow are also common in winter. The area falls within the high altitude or Drakensberg grassland biome where the native vegetation is dominantly grasses of the Poaceae family although woody natives such as Leucosidea sericea and Protea species are also found (Mucina and Rutherford 2006). Landuse in the area is a mixture of range based animal production, cereal and fruit production interspaced with conservation areas. Surveys were conducted on two farms, Clifton and Sunnyside where R. pseudoacacia invasions (hereafter 'invaded') and open grassland (hereafter 'uninvaded') were sampled (Fig. 1). Vegetation in invaded

habitats on both farms is dominated by early successional ruderals such as *Tagetes minuta* L. (Asteraceae) as well as alien grasses such as *Bromus catharticus* Vahl. (Poaceae), *Brachypogon distachyon* (L.) P. Beauv. (Poaceae) and *Dactylis glomerata* L. (Poaceae). In contrast, uninvaded habitats are dominated by native grasses such as *Themeda triandra* Forssk. (Poaceae), *Tristachya leucothrix* Trin.(Poaceae) and *Eragrostis* species (Chikowore et al. 2021). The linear distance between the two farms is ~11 km with an altitudinal difference of ~ 100 m above sea level.

Robinia pseudoacacia phenology

To determine the phenology of *R. pseudoacacia* in high altitude grasslands of South Africa, two Wingscapes Plant-Cam® with Red, Green and Blue (RGB) capability were mounted on positions overlooking stands at Clifton and Sunnyside between October 2019 and October 2020. Cameras were set facing the south, to avoid direct sunlight on the lenses, at a setback of 5 m from the target area. Still images were captured at 1 h intervals between 7 am and 4 pm, at a resolution of 2560×1920 pixels giving a total of 10 images per day. At the end of the recording season, images were downloaded for processing and analysis as explained later.

Temperature and light measurements

The influence of *R. pseudoacacia* on grassland thermal and illumination environments were measured for 499 days between February 2019 and October 2020. Four HOBO MX2202 (Onset, www.onsetcom.com), temperature and light loggers were installed in three *R. pseudoacacia* stands and one in the adjacent open grassland. The loggers were programmed to record at 30-min intervals giving 48 readings of each parameter per day. Loggers were serviced quarterly and data were downloaded using the Bluetooth linked HOBO mobile application.

Arthropod assemblages

Arthropod communities associated with uninvaded and habitats were sampled on two farms over two seasons (spring and summer) in October 2019 and February 2020. Sampling was done in *R. pseudoacacia* stands and adjacent open grassland with a distance of 50 m between the treatments. At each site, 3 grids of pitfall traps were set in a 2×3 grid with an intertrap distance of 2.5 m and an inter-grid space of 10 m. This configuration gave a total of 18 pitfall traps per treatment (invaded/uninvaded), 36 traps per site and 72 traps for the two sites. The traps consisted of 400 ml plastic containers dug into the ground with the rim flush with the soil surface. Each trap was filled with 100 ml of 100% propylene glycol (propane-1,2-diol) and left open for 5 days. The traps were

2 Springer

96

97



Fig. 1 Study area showing *R. pseudoacacia* stands (red triangles) and adjacent grasslands (green squares) sampled at Clifton (a) and Sunnyside (b) farms in eastern Free State Province, South Africa. Back-

then emptied and specimens were preserved in 70% alcohol. All specimens were identified to order with the exception of Orthoptera which was further identified to family level. Taxonomic guides by Picker et al. (2004) and Johnson and Triplehorn (2004) were used in the identification.

Statistical analyses

To visualize temperature and light conditions in invaded habitats and open grassland, readings were plotted against sampling time in Excel (Microsoft Office 2016).

Key assumptions of analysis of variances (ANOVA) were met for homogeneity of variance and normality of data distributions. Hence,.), differences among temperature and light conditions were compared using one-way ANOVA in STA-TISTICA version 7 (TIBCO Software). Tukey–Kramer post hoc tests were then used to separate statistically significant groups.

Plantcam images were analysed using the 'phenopix' package (Filippa et al. 2016) in R software version 3.2.1 (R Core Team 2020). Regions of interest were defined on a reference image using the '*DrawMultiroi*' function while

99

100

101

102

ground satellite imagery source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community. (Color figure online)

the 'extractVIs' function was used to extract indices from the Red, Blue and Green channels of the images. Maximum green chromatic coordinates were extracted using an 'autofilter' and plotted against the sampling period to determine the growth season of the two stands. Vegetation greenness metrics were determined using the Green Chromatic Coordinates, computed using the following formula:

$$G_{CC} = \frac{G_{DN}}{R_{DN} + G_{DN} + B_{DN}}$$

where G_{DN}, R_{DN}, B_{DN} represent digital numbers from the green, red and blue image channels (Richardson et al. 2009).

Since arthropod assemblage data did not conform to normality tests, they were subjected to multivariate generalised linear modelling using the '*mvabund*' package in R (Wang et al. 2012). The '*manyglm*' function was used to model the effects of habitat (invaded/uninvaded), season (summer/winter) and farm (Clifton/Sunnyside) on arthropod abundances. A negative binomial distribution was applied to account for mild over-dispersion observed with a Poisson distribution. Univariate tests were further performed to assess the response of each insect order to the explanatory variables defined. Statistical significance of the effects was then assessed using Likelihood-Ratio Tests (LRT).

Results

Robinia pseudoacacia phenology

Robinia pseudoacacia canopy development started in October, peaking up between December and January (Fig. 2a). However, there was spatial variability in leaf-up periods with trees at Sunnyside farm developing leaves early (Fig. 2b) as indicated by high green chromatic coordinates (Gccs) of more than 0.4 at the time of camera set up when compared to Clifton farm which began from low Gccs of 0.32. A drop in canopy greenness was also evident at Clifton with the Gccs dropping from peak to values approximating senescence, indicating total defoliation (Fig. 2a). This defoliation was coincident with a sharp drop in temperatures (Fig. 3a). This only affected the stand at Clifton farm as the other stand showed a gradual decline in greenness consistent with normal canopy characteristics rather than stress. However, the stand at Clifton farm recovered and assumed a normal phenological curve. The phenological trajectory observed is typical of deciduous trees in the southern hemisphere where leaves are shed in winter and leaf development starts from spring into summer.

Thermal and illumination environments

Average temperatures were higher in open grassland (15.6 °C) as compared to *R. pseudoacacia* understory (12.76–13.77 °C) (Fig. 3a). The site effect was significant



Fig. 2 Changes in the green chromatic coordinates (Gcc) on three *R. pseudoacacia* stands at Clifton farm (a) and Sunnyside farm (b). The broken line represents the expected phenological trajectory while the continuous line represents observed indices



Fig.3 Three-day moving average and seasonal temperature (a) and light intensity (b) in open grassland and *R. pseudoacacia* stands in eastern Free State, South Africa (Sites are abbreviated as follows: *CF* Clifton, *SSI* Sunnyside 1 and *SS4* Sunnyside 4)

2 Springer



- -0.
- 105
- 106

in explaining variations in temperature (p < 0.001) (Table 1). Post-hoc tests showed that average temperatures were significantly higher in open grassland than all R. pseudoacacia stands (Fig. 4a). However, there were no significant differences in temperatures between stands. Similarly, light intensity was higher in open grassland (1788.1 lumens/ft²) than under R. pseudoacacia canopies (378.5-316.3 lumens/ft²) (Fig. 3b). Thus, site (invaded or uninvaded) significantly explained this variation (Table 1). Post hoc tests also indicated that open grassland received significantly high illumination than R. pseudoacacia stands while there were no differences between the stands (Fig. 4b). However, there was intra-stand variability in light intensity at Sunnyside farm

4 as indicated by the wide confidence interval of the mean (Fig. 4b). However, open grassland experienced extreme temperatures both minimum and maximum in comparison to understory habitats (Table 2).

Invertebrate assemblages

The most abundant arthropods in both invaded and uninvaded habitats were Hymenopterans, particularly from the Formicidae family (Fig. 5). These were followed by Coleopterans and Araneae, respectively. However, unlike Hymenopterans, which were more abundant in open grassland, the latter orders were more abundant under R.

Table 1 Summary ANOVA output of prevalent temperature and light intensity in sampled R.	Parameter	Effect	Sum of squares	Df	Ms	F	p-value
	Temperature	Intercept	375,989.5	1	375,989.5	10,676.27	< 0.000
A frien		Site	2737.7	3	912.6	25.91	< 0.000
Airica		Error	69,871.1	1984	35.2		
	Light intensity	Intercept	8,712,079	1	8,712,079	56.04	< 0.000
	Site	Site	667,037,681	3	222,345,894	1430.11	< 0.000
		Error	232,279,151	1494	155,475		



Fig.4 Differences in temperature (a) and light (b) (mean ±95% confidence interval) between grassland and three R. pseudoacacia stands. Means with different letters are significantly different from each other

Table 2 Minimum and maximum temperatures and maximum light intensity recorded at microhabitats in	Site	Elevation	Minimum tempera- ture (°C)	Maximum tempera- ture (°C)	Maximum light intensity (Lumens/ ft ²)
eastern Free State, South Africa	Grassland	1731	- 16.99	56.54	13,003
	Clifton	1712	- 14.72	43.58	7460
	Sunnyside 1	1833	- 7.81	50.53	9578
	Sunnyside 4	1832	- 12.01	47.83	7247

Data represents the extreme recording for each site

D Springer

107 108

109

Fig. 5 Abundance of arthropods (median, minimum, and maximum) in habitats invaded by *R*. *pseudoacacia* and uninvaded grasslands. All arthropods were grouped into orders except Orthopterans (which were grouped into 2 families, Acrididae and Gryllidae). Groups that significantly differed between habitats are indicated by ** while groups differing between seasons are indicated by *



Table 3 Multivariate analysis for arthropod abundance in habitatsinvaded by R. pseudoacacia and adjacent uninvaded grassland atClifton and Sunnyside farms, South Africa

Effect	Residual Df	Df diff	Deviance	Pr (>dev)
Intercept	23			
Habitat	22	1	55.85	0.001
Farm	21	1	15.14	0.055
Season	20	1	25.34	0.002
Habitat * Farm	19	1	9.76	0.160
Habitat*Season	18	1	24.40	0.002
Farm * Season	17	1	13.96	0.054
Habitat*Farm*Season	16	1	4.49	0.296

Bold denotes statistically significant groups

pseudoacacia trees. The family Acrididae (Orthoptera) was only recorded in open grassland while the family Gryllidae was common to both habitats although more abundant in the understory of *R. pseudoacacia*. From the multivariate analysis of variance, habitat (LRT = 55.85, p = 0.001), season (LRT = 25.34, p < 0.05), as well as interaction of habitat and season (LRT = 21.2, p < 0.05) had significant effects on arthropod abundances (Table 3). Univariate analysis showed that habitat had a significant

effect on Acridids, Coleopterans, Lepidoptera and Hymenopterans while season significantly affected Gryllids (Fig. 5).

Discussion

This study suggests that *R. pseudoacacia* is transforming grassland arthropod ecosystems through alteration of microclimatic conditions in the eastern Free State of South Africa. This is mainly due to its canopy characteristics which reduce temperature and light availability for understory communities, creating habitats with novel microclimates in the process. The results indicate that Orthopterans, particularly from the family Acrididae, declined significantly in invaded habitats while conditions created by the IAP seemed to favour the proliferation of Coleopterans. This therefore suggests that habitat transformation by IAPs differentially affects endemic arthropods.

The phenology of *R. pseudoacacia* in the southern hemisphere showed leaf emergence and expansion in spring (September), peaking between January and December. In contrast, leaf expansion occurs between April and May in the northern hemisphere (Cierjacks et al. 2013). While various environmental cues are responsible for phenological events

Deringer

- 112
- 113
- 114

in trees, this adaptation of R. pseudoacacia to climates in the southern hemisphere buttresses assertions of its high tolerance to a wide range of conditions. However, its phenology varies with local climatic conditions as our study showed spatial variability in leaf development as well as the length of growth season between sites. Moreover, its ability to recover rapidly following frost damage gives an insight into the competitive advantage in invaded ecosystems. Our results further showed that in sync with other deciduous trees in South Africa, R. pseudoacacia develops leaves early before the emergence of annual grasses. However, unlike native trees that are often sparsely populated in South African grasslands (Mucina and Rutherford 2006), the impact of R. pseudocacia is exacerbated by monospecific continuous canopies covering relatively larger areas. This limits seedling recruitment of native vegetation including grasses due to lower temperatures and low illumination under the canopies (Chikowore et al. 2021). These realised microclimates influence community assembly cascading to other trophic levels. Indeed, R. pseudoacacia has been associated with a decline in both above and below-ground biodiversity. For example, Lazzaro et al. (2018) reported a decline in microarthropod, microbial and plant communities underlying the potent effects of R. pseudoacacia on ecosystem integrity.

In this study, average temperatures were consistently higher in the open grasslands as opposed to the invaded understory. However, when temperature readings were decoupled into minimum and maximum, grasslands recorded lower minimum temperatures and higher maximum temperatures. These findings are consistent with several studies that attribute these differences to the buffering effect of trees which ensures higher minimum and lower maximum temperatures in the understory (von Arx et al. 2013; Gaudio et al. 2017; Davis et al. 2019). In all these studies, temperature was influenced by the sheltering effect of trees, canopy cover and soil moisture. Although we did not measure hydrological parameters such as relative humidity and soil moisture in our study, their influence on temperatures observed is highly probable. For example, Breshears et al. (1998) asserted that trees can lower temperatures through evaporative cooling, underscoring the importance of moisture in temperature regulation. In addition, interception of incident solar radiation by tree canopies could also be the reason for lower temperatures.

The absence of Acridids (Orthoptera) from invaded stands is an indication of the impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* on microhabitats. While their exclusion might be due to invasion mediated vegetation changes which places limitations in food resources (Andersen et al. 2019), there is also a likelihood that environmental conditions influenced their absence, especially considering the generalist nature of their feeding habit. For example, Highland et al. (2013) found that habitat structure rather than plant diversity affected arthropod

115

116

117

118

diversity in woodlands while Pawson et al. (2010) tied variation in arthropod herbivores to physical habitat characteristics such as light availability and stand structure. Thus it is plausible that changes in arthropod communities observed in this study were influenced in part by changes in the structure of the grassland habitat as well as a shift in microclimatic conditions as a result of R. pseudoacacia invasion. Furthermore, Samways (1990) observed that Orthopterans are more susceptible to cold conditions hence they seek refuge on mountain slopes receiving more sunlight and ruled out vegetation type and cover as determinants of the distribution of this taxa. Similarly, Rada et al. (2015) found a strong correlation between temperature and Acrididae life history traits in central Europe, emphasizing the importance of microclimates on the taxa. While grazing by ungulates has been proven to alter community composition, particularly trophic cascades of grassland arthropods (Farrell et al. 2015), in our study both habitats were equally open to grazing by cattle. Therefore, differences in taxa across habitats could be a result of invasion mediated habitat modifications.

Our results also showed that there were more Coleopterans in invaded habitats than open grassland. This taxon is comprised of a wide range of detritivores, hence, their abundance might have been influenced by the quantity and quality of litter from R. pseudoacacia. In corroboration with these findings, Alerding and Hunter (2013) found that Alliaria petiolata M. Bieb. (Brassicaceae) invasion was associated with an increase in the depth of litter which increased the abundance of detritivores. Although social arthropods such as ants can regulate their internal and surrounding environments through elaborate nest designs and physical mechanisms (Kadochova and Frouz 2014), our study showed that habitat had a significant effect on their abundance. Although there was a possibility of some trapping positions located close to ant nests and foraging grounds, the role of microclimates cannot be ruled out. For example, Silva et al. (2011) reported that the choice of ant nesting sites is also influenced by microclimatic conditions, quality and quantity of leaf litter thereby mediating ant distribution. Even though we did not measure these parameters in our study, there is a possibility that R. pseudoacacia leaf litter makes understory habitats unfavourable for ants.

In conclusion, invasion by *R. pseudoacacia* alters thermal and illumination environments of grassland ecosystems. Through canopy characteristics, microclimatic conditions within tree stands vary significantly from immediate local environments.

Conservation implications

The main goal of tackling biological invasions 'should be the conservation or restoration of ecosystems to preserve or re-establish native biodiversity and functions' (Hulme

Journal of Insect Conservation

2006). Countries are under increasing pressure to mitigate the negative effects of invasive species on ecosystem dynamics. However, in the absence of baseline data on how invasive species are directly or indirectly changing the ecosystems, it is difficult to measure a return to a functioning state following management (Richardson and Van Wilgen 2004; Gallardo et al. 2019). Due to the significant impacts of R. pseudoacacia in South African grasslands (Martin 2019; Chikowore et al. 2021), there is a need for its sustainable management. Motitsoe et al. (2020) showed recovery of an aquatic ecosystem following control of Salvinia molesta D.S. Mitch. (Salviniaceae) through monitoring algae and macroinvertebrate communities. Thus a similar approach might be taken for R. pseudoacacia using arthropod community assembly. While not all arthropod taxa observed in this study were affected by the physical and structural changes induced by the IAP, some showed enough sensitivity to enable their monitoring as indicators. For these taxa, before and after abundances can be used to assess the success of any control programme against R pseudoacacia.

Acknowledgements We acknowledge DEFF-EPWM for funding through the Centre for Biological Control- Rhodes University. We also thank Reyard Mutamiswa for assistance with fieldwork, University of the Free State for administrative and research support, and owners of Clifton and Sunnyside farms for permission to conduct research on their farms.

Funding This study was funded by South Africa's Department of Environmental Forestry and Fisheries- Expanded Public Works Programme (DEFF-EPWP). The funders had no role in the study design, collection, analysis and interpretation of data and writing of the report.

Data availability The authors confirm that the data supporting the findings of this study are available within the article.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare that there are no competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have influenced the work reported in this paper.

References

- Ahn JJ, Son Y, He Y, Lee E, Park Y-L (2016) Effects of temperature on development and voltinism of *Chaetodactylus krombeini* (Acari: Chaetodactylidae): Implications for climate change impacts. PLoS ONE 11(8):e0161319
- Alerding AB, Hunter RM (2013) Increased springtail abundance in a garlic mustard-invaded forest. Northeast Nat (Steuben) 20:275–288
- Andersen EM, Cambrelin MN, Steidl RJ (2019) Responses of grassland arthropods to an invasion by nonnative grasses. Biol Invasions 21:405–441
- Augspurger CK (2011) Frost damage and its cascading negative effects on Aesculus glabra. Plant Ecol 212:1193–1203

- Beck HE, Zimmermann NE, McVicar TR, Vergopolan N, Berg A, Wood EF (2018) Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution. Sci Data 5:180214
- Breshears DD, Nyhan JW, Heil CE, Wilcox BP (1998) Effects of woody plants on microclimate in a semiarid woodland: soil temperature and evaporation in canopy and intercanopy patches. Int J Plant Sci 1 59:1010–1017
- Brown TB, Hultine KR, Steltzer H, Denny EG, Denslow MW, Granados J, Henderson S, Moore D, Nagai S, San Clements M, Sanchez-Azofeifa A, Sonnentag O, Tazik D, Richardson AD (2016) Using phenocams to monitor our changing earth: toward a global phenocam network. Front Ecol Environ 14(2):84–93
- Carbutt C (2012) The emerging invasive alien plants of the Drakensberg Alpine Centre, Southern Africa. Bothalia 42(2):71–85
- Chidawanyika F, Nyamukondiwa C, Strathie L, Fischer K (2017) Effects of thermal regimes, starvation and age on heat tolerance of the Parthenium Beetle Zygogramma bicolorata (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) following dynamic and static protocols. PLoS ONE 12(1):e0169371
- Chidawanyika F, Chikowore G, Mutamiswa R (2020) Thermal tolerance of the biological control agent Neolema abbreviata and its potential geographic distribution together with its host Tradescantia fluminensis in South Africa. Biol Control 149:104315
- Chikowore G, Mutamiswa R, Sutton GF, Chidawanyika F, Martin GD (2021) Reduction of grazing capacity in high elevation rangelands following Black locust invasion in South Africa. Rangel Ecol Manage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2021.02. 006
- Chown SL, Nicolson SW (2004) Insect physiological ecology: mechanisms and patterns. Oxford university, Oxford. https://doi.org/10. 1093/acprof:oso/9780198515494.001.0001
- Chown SL, Terblanche JS (2006) Physiological diversity in insects: ecological and evolutionary contexts. Adv Insect Phys 33:50–152 Cierjacks A, Kowarik I, Joshi J, Hempel S, Ristow M, von der Lippe
- Cierjacks A, Kowarik I, Joshi J, Hempel S, Ristow M, von der Lippe M, Weber E (2013) Biological flora of the British Isles: *Robinia* pseudoacacia. J Ecol 101:1623–1640
- Clusella-Trullas S, Garcia RA (2017) Impacts of invasive plants on animal diversity in South Africa: a synthesis. Bothalia 47(2):a2166
- Davis KT, Dobrowski SZ, Holden ZA, Higuera PE, Abatzoglou JT (2019) Microclimatic buffering in forests of the future: the role of local water balance. Ecography 42:1–11
- Erviner VT, Garbach K, Baty JH, Hoskinson SA (2012) Measuring the effects of invasive plants on ecosystem services: challenges and prospects. Invasive Plant Sci Manage 5:125–136
- Farrell KA, Harpole WS, Stein C, Suding KN, Borer ET (2015) Grassland arthropods are controlled by direct and indirect interactions with cattle but are largely unaffected by plant provenance. PLoS ONE 10(7):e0129823
- Filippa G, Cremonese E, Migliavacca M, Galvagno M, Forkel M, Wingate L, Tomelleri E, di Cella UM, Richardson AD (2016) Phenopix: a R package for image-based vegetation phenology. Agric For Meteorol 220:141–150
- Gallardo B, Bacher S, Bradley B, Comín FA, Gallien L, Jeschke JM, Sorte CJB, Vilà M (2019) InvasiBES: understanding and managing the impacts of Invasive alien species on biodiversity and ecosystem services. NeoBiota 50:109–122
- Gaudio N, Gendre X, Saudreau M, Seigner V, Balandier P (2017) Impact of tree canopy on thermal and radiative microclimates in a mixed temperate forest: a new statistical method to analyse hourly temporal dynamics. Agric For Meteorol. 237–238:71–79 Gerlach J, Samways M, Pryke J (2013) Terrestrial invertebrates as
- Gerlach J, Samways M, Pryke J (2013) Terrestrial invertebrates as bioindicators: an overview of available taxonomic groups. J Insect Conserv 17:831–850
- Gibson MR, Pauw A, Richardson DM (2013) Decreased insect visitation to a native species caused by an invasive tree in the Cape Floristic Region. Biol Conserv 157:196–203

Deringer

- 119
- 120
-

121

- Hejda M, Pysek P, Jarosík V (2009) Impact of invasive plants on the species richness. diversity and composition of invaded communities. J Ecol 97:393–403
- Henderson L, Wilson JRU (2017) Changes in the composition and distribution of alien plants in South Africa: an update from the Southern African Plant Invaders Atlas. Bothalia 47(2):a2172
- Highland SA, Miller JC, Jones JA (2013) Determinants of moth diversity and community in a temperate mountain landscape: vegetation, topography, and seasonality. Ecosphere 4:1–22
- Humphrey L, Fraser G, Martin G (2019) The economic implications of *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. (black locust) on agricultural production in South Africa. Agrekon 58(2):216–228 Jaworski T, Hilszczanski J (2013) The effect of temperature and
- Jaworski T, Hilszczanski J (2013) The effect of temperature and humidity changes on insects development and their impact on forest ecosystems in the context of expected climate change. For Res Pan 74(4):345–355
- Res Pap 74(4):345–355 Johnson NF, Triplehorn CA (2004) Borror and DeLong's introduction to the study of insects, 7th edn. Thomson, Brooks/Cole, Belmont
- Kadlec T, Strobl M, Hanzelka J, Hejda M, Reif J (2018) Differences in the community composition of nocturnal Lepidoptera between native and invaded forests are linked to the habitat structure. Biodivers Conserv 27:2661–3268
- Kadochova S, Frouz J (2014) Thermoregulation strategies in ants in comparison to other social insects, with a focus on red wood ants (Formica rufa group). F1000Research 2:280
- Lazzaro L, Mazza G, d'Errico G, Fabiani A, Giuliani C, Inghilesi AF, Lagomarsino A, Landi S, Lastrucci L, Pastorelli R, Roversi PF, Torrini G, Tricarico E, Foggi B (2018) How ecosystems change following invasion by *Robinia pseudoacacia*: insights from soil chemical properties and soil microbial, nematode, micro-arthropod and plant communities. Sci Total Environ 622:1509–1518
- Le Maitre DC, van Wilgen BW, Gelderblom CM, Bailey C, Chapman RA, Nel JA (2002) Invasive alien trees and water resources in South Africa: case studies of the costs and benefits of management. For Ecol Manage 160(1–3):143–159 Lister BC, Garcia A (2018) Climate-driven declines in arthropod abun-
- Lister BC, Garcia A (2018) Climate-driven declines in arthropod abundance restructure a rainforest food web. PNAS 115(44):201722477
- Marchante E, Kjoller A, Struwe S, Freitas H (2008) Short- and longterm impacts of Acacia longifolia invasion on the belowground processes of a mediterranean coastal dune ecosystem. Appl Soil Ecol 40(2):210–217
- Martin GD (2019) Addressing geographical bias: A review of *Robinia* pseudoacacia (black locust) in the Southern Hemisphere. S Afr J Bot 125:481–492
- Milanovic M, Knapp S, Pysek P, Kuhn I (2020) Trait–environment relationships of plant species at different stages of the introduction process. NeoBiota 58:55–74
- Mooney KA, Gruner DS, Barber NA, Van Bael SA, Philpott SM, Greenberg R (2010) Interactions among predators and the cascading effects of vertebrate insectivores on arthropod communities and plants. PNAS 107:7335–7340
- Motitsee SN, Coetzee JA, Hill JM, Hill MP (2020) Biological control of Salvinia molesta (D.S. Mitchell) drives aquatic ecosystem recovery. Diversity 12:204. https://doi.org/10.3390/d12050204
- Mucina L, Rutherford MC (2006) The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland. Strelitzia 19. South African Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria
- O'Connor TG, van Wilgen BW (2020) The impact of invasive alien plants on rangelands in South Africa. In: van Wilgen B, Measey J, Richardson D, Wilson J, Zengeya T (eds) Biological invasions in South Africa. Springer, Cham, pp 459–487
- Ohler LM, Lechleitner M, Junker RR (2020) Microclimatic effects on alpine plant communities and flower-visitor interactions. Sci Rep 10:1366

- Palmer AR, Ainslie AM (2005) Grasslands of South Africa. In: Suttie JM, Reynolds SG, Batello C (eds) Grasslands of the world. Plant production and protection series no. 34. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 77–120
- Pawson SM, McCarthy JK, Ledgard NJ, Didham RK (2010) Densitydependent impacts of exotic conifer invasion on grassland invertebrate assemblages. J Appl Ecol 47:1053–1062
- Picker M, Griffiths C, Weaving A (2004) Field guide to insects of South Africa. Struik Nature, Cape Town, South Africa, 444 pp
- Pincebourde S, Murdock CC, Vickers M, Sears MW (2016) Fine-scale microclimatic variation can shape the responses of organisms to global change in both natural and urban environments. Integr Comp Biol 56(1):45–61
- R Core Team (2020) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/. Accessed 26 Mar 2020
- Rada S, Stepanova L, Losik J, Sipos J, Holusa J, Kuras T (2015) How does *Oedipoda germanica* (Orthoptera: Acrididae) cope on the northern edge of its distribution? A demographical study of a completely isolated population. Eur L Entomel 11(2):1486–490.
- completely isolated population. Eur J Entomol 112(3):486–492 Richardson AD (2019) Tracking seasonal rhythms of plants in diverse ecosystems with digital camera imagery. New Phytol 222:1742–1750
- Richardson DM, Van Wilgen BW (2004) Invasive alien plants in South Africa: how well do we understand the ecological impacts? S Afr J Sci 100:45–52
- Richardson AD, Braswell BH, Hollinger DY, Jenkins JP, Ollinger SV (2009) Near-surface remote sensing of spatial and temporal variation in canopy phenology. Ecol Appl 19(14):17–28
- Richardson AD, Hufkens K, Milliman T, Aubrecht DM, Chen M, Gray JM, Johnston MR, Keenan TF, Klosterman ST, Kosmala M, Melaas EK, Friedl MA, Frolking S (2018) Tracking vegetation phenology across diverse North American biomes using PhenoCam imagery. Sci Data 5:180028
- Samways MJ (1990) Land forms and winter habitat refugia in the conservation of montane grasshoppers in Southern Africa. Biol Conserv 4(4):375–382
- Schirmel J, Bundschuh M, Entling MH, Kowarik I, Buchholz S (2016) Impacts of invasive plants on resident animals across ecosystems, taxa, and feeding types: a global assessment. Glob Change Biol 22:594–603
- Sendall KM, Reich PB, Zhao C, Jihua H, Wei X, Stefanski A, Rice K, Rich RL, Montgomery RA (2015) Acclimation of photosynthetic temperature optima of temperate and boreal tree species in response to experimental forest warming. Glob Change Biol 21:1342–1357
- Shackleton RT, Shackleton CM, Kull CA (2019) The role of invasive alien species in shaping local livelihoods and human well-being: a review. J Environ Manage 1(229):145–157
- Silva PSD, Bieber AGD, Correa MM, Leal IR (2011) Do leaf-litter attributes affect the richness of leaf-litter ants? Neotrop Entomol 40(5):542–547
- Strobl M, Saska P, Seidl M, Kocian M, Tajovsky K, Rezac M, Skuhrovec J, Marhoul P, Zbuzek B, Jakubec P, Knapp M, Kadlec T (2019) Impact of an invasive tree on arthropod assemblages in woodlots isolated within an intensive agricultural landscape. Divers Distrib 00:1–14
- Suttie JM, Reynolds SG, Batello C (2005) Grasslands of the world. Plant production and protection series no. 34. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome
- Thiébaut G, Tarayre M, Rodríguez-Pérez H (2019) Allelopathic effects of native versus invasive plants on one major invader. Front Plant Sci 10:854
- Van Kleunen M, Weber E, Fischer M (2010) A meta-analysis of trait differences between invasive and non-invasive plant species. Ecol Lett 13:235–245

D Springer

125

- Van Wilgen BW, Reyers B, Le Maitre DC, Richardson DM, Schonegevel L (2008) A biome-scale assessment of the impact of invasive alien plants on ecosystem services in South Africa. J Environ Manage 89(4):336–349
- Van Wilgen B, Measey J, Richardson D, Wilson J, Zengeya T (2020) Biological invasions in South Africa. Springer, Cham Vitkova M, Tonika J, Mullerova J (2015) Black locust—successful
- Vitkova M, Tonika J, Mullerova J (2015) Black locust—successful invader of a wide range of soil conditions. Sci Total Environ 505:315–328
- Von Arx G, Pannatier EG, Thimonier A, Rebetez M (2013) Microclimate in forests with varying leaf area index and soil moisture: potential implications for seedling establishment in a changing climate. J Ecol 101:1201–1213
- Walther G-R (2010) Community and ecosystem responses to recent climate change. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B 365(1549):2019–2024
- Walther G-R, Roques A, Hulme PE, Sykes MT, Pysek P, Kuhn I, Zobel M, Bacher S, Botta-Dukat Z, Bugmann H, Czucz B, Dauber J, Hickler T, Jarosik V, Kenis M, Klotz S, Minchin D, Moora M, Nentwig W, Ott J, Panov VE, Reineking B, Robinet C, Semenchenko V, Solarz W, Thuiller W, Vila M, Vohland K,

Settele J (2009) Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities. Trends Ecol Evol 24(12):687–693 Wang Y, Naumann U, Wright ST, Warton DI (2012) mvabund—an R

- Wang Y, Naumann U, Wright S1, Warton DI (2012) mvabund—an R package for model-based analysis of multivariate abundance data: the mvabund R package. Methods Ecol Evol 3:471–474 Welling H, Urichner CR, Orgody H, (2011) Junging check place nation.
- Watling JI, Hickman CR, Orrock JL (2011) Invasive shrub alters native forest amphibian communities. Biol Conserv 144:2597–2601Wigley BJ, Bond WJ, Hoffman MT (2010) Thicket expansion in a
- South African savanna under divergent land use: local vs. global drivers? Glob Change Biol 16:964–976 Yelenik SG, Stock WD, Richardson DM (2007) Functional group
- Yelenik SG, Stock WD, Richardson DM (2007) Functional group identity does not predict invader impacts: differential effects of nitrogen-fixing exotic plants on ecosystem function. Biol Invasions 9:117–125

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

- 127
- 128
- 129
- 130

Appendix 5 131

Rangeland Ecology & Management 76 (2021) 109-117



Reduction of Grazing Capacity in High-Elevation Rangelands After Black Locust Invasion in South Africa*



Gerald Chikowore^{1,2}, Reyard Mutamiswa¹, Guy F. Sutton², Frank Chidawanyika^{1,*}, Grant D. Martin²

¹University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, 9300, Republic of South Africa
²Centre for Biological Control, Department of Zoology and Entomology, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, 6140, South Africa

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received 25 August 2020 Revised 26 January 2021 Accepted 15 February 2021

Key Words: Afromontane biodiversity biological invasions black locust ecosystem services grazing index seedling recruitment

ABSTRACT

The growing invasion of ecosystems by invasive alien plants (IAPs) has substantially affected biodiversity worldwide, compromising provision of ecosystem services. In this study, we present evidence of the impacts of an IAP, Robinia pseudoacacia L., on native plant diversity in montane rangelands of South Africa and its threats to grazing, an ecosystem service. We assessed stand characteristics, understory vegetation composition and rangeland condition similarities in invaded and uninvaded sites. We observed a shift in grass communities after invasion by *R. pseudoacacia* as invaded communities differed by 96% from uninvaded rangeland. Invaded habitat was dominated by nitrophilous, shade-tolerant alien ruderals that follow the primitive C3 carbon fixation pathway. Nitrogen fixation and light-demanding properties of R. pseudoacacia are likely to be the main factors driving these changes. As a result, range condition was significantly lower in invaded habitats with smaller and dense trees (180 \pm 24.3) (mean \pm standard error) when compared with adjacent uninvaded habitat (401 ± 24.3). These preliminary findings support an urgent need for sustainable control of R. pseudoacacia as an effective approach to stop further reduction in grazing capacity and losses in livestock production.

© 2021 The Society for Range Management. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Despite social and economic benefits, globalization has brought new challenges, notably the proliferation of transboundary movement of invasive species (Pysek and Richardson 2010). Some of the invasive alien species are ecosystem transformers and drivers of environmental change (Rilov et al. 2012), severely disrupting ecosystem integrity and provision of services necessary for hu-man well-being (Pysek and Richardson 2010). For instance, invasive alien plants (IAPs) can substantially impact native vegetation (Hejda et al. 2009; Vitkova et al. 2020), thereby threatening biodiversity (Gaertner et al. 2009).

Upon establishment, IAPs disrupt complex ecosystem interactions, leading to changes in the structure and function of ecosystems (Wardle and Peltzer 2017). Hence, IAPs ultimately lead to shifts in the composition of native communities due to loss of habitats or environmental modifications (Rilov et al. 2012). For example, invasion by nitrogen-fixing trees enriches soil nitrogen levels filtering out non-nitrophilous native plants in historically nutrient-poor ecosystems (Benesperi et al. 2012). This has been shown in South Africa, where Australian acacias have been widely associated with a decline in native vegetation communities due to nitrogen enrichment in nutrient poor soils of the fynbos biome (Witkowski 1991; Musil 1993; Le Maitre et al. 2011).

The high-elevation rangelands of South Africa defined by Mucina et al. (2006) as herbaceous, relatively short and simple structured vegetation are dominated by Poaceae graminoids. This biome is regarded as a key biodiversity hotspot with high plant endemism (Clark et al. 2014). However, biodiversity is increasingly affected by IAPs (Carbutt 2012). Although native species diversity has been identified as a barrier to invasion (Kennedy et al. 2002), rangelands present reduced resistance to invasion by tall woody species, which often dominate and cover native species (Hejda et al. 2009). Van Wilgen et al. (2008) identified the rangelands as one of the terrestrial ecosystems that require alien plant control primarily to conserve biodiversity. The biome is also an important resource supporting livestock production where invasiondriven changes in native flora have in some cases altered the grazing capacity of rangelands (Yapi et al. 2018).

1550-7424/© 2021 The Society for Range Management, Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

132



[°] The Department of Environmental Affairs-Expanded Public Works Programme provided funding through the Centre for Biological Control-Rhodes University but had no role in the study design, collection, analysis, and interpretation of data and writing of the report.

Correspondence and current address: Frank Chidawanvika, International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology, PO Box 30772-00100, Nairobi, Kenya E-mail address: fchidawanyika@icipe.org (F. Chidawanyika).

^{//}doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2021.02.006

Despite an increasing body of knowledge on the impacts of IAPs and their management, (Richardson and van Wilgen 2004; van Wilgen et al. 2012; van Wilgen et al. 2020), the spatial extent of invasion and number of invading plants continues to evolve. One of the emerging IAPs in the high-elevation rangelands of South Africa is *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. (Fabaceae, Papilionoideae) (Henderson 1991; Martin 2019). The tree is native to North America and has now been declared invasive in 21 countries worldwide (CABI 2020). It can proliferate under a variety of environmental conditions (Nicolescu et al. 2018) and transforms the environment through shading (Haerdtle et al. 2003; Cierjacks et al. 2013) and soil nitrogen fixation (Dzwonko and Loster 1997; Vitkova et al. 2017; Campagnaro et al. 2018). Its ability to fix nitrogen often leads to the proliferation of nitrophilous understory vegetation (Benesperi et al. 2012), and as the soil nitrogen increases over time, transient colonization, followed by competitive displacement, occurs (Dzwonko and Loster 1997; Lazzaro et al. 2018), In South Africa, R. pseudoacacia is listed as a category 1b invasive alien plant under the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act (NEM: BA) (DEA 2016). Category 1b invasive alien plants are species whose importation and propagation are prohibited.

Increasing invasion of rangelands by *R. pseudoacacia* in South Africa has the potential to reduce the availability of grazing. Potential economic losses from invasion of rangelands by this IAP in South Africa alone were estimated to be approximately US\$39 million (Humphrey et al. 2019). Woody IAPs create novel conditions in rangelands that are unfavorable for native species (O'Connor and Van Wilgen 2020). This can lead to species displacement and a reduction in the grazing capacity of rangelands, especially when low-palatability forage species take over (Bankovich et al. 2016; O'Connor and Van Wilgen 2020).

The impacts of *R* pseudoacacia on native biodiversity in South Africa remain poorly understood as evidence of its impacts is mainly anecdotal. A paucity of data on the tree was also noted in the southern hemisphere as compared with the northern hemisphere (Martin 2019). However, extrapolation of findings from studies of *R*. pseudoacacia in the northern hemisphere is difficult as there are often variations in the extent of invasion, the environment, and taxonomic groups affected (Clusella-Trullas and Garcia 2017).

To understand and adequately respond to the challenges of IAPs, there is a need to assess impacts on a continuum linking plant traits, ecosystem processes, and services (Walker and Smith 1997; Parker et al. 1999). This is critical in defining management goals that are specific and benchmarking future evaluation of interventions. The present study therefore investigated the impacts of *R. pseudoacacia* on native plant communities and cascading effects on the grazing capacity of montane rangelands in Eastem Free State Province, South Africa. The aims were to determine 1) if *R. pseudoacacia* is driving changes in the richness and composition of grass and forb community dynamics and *R. pseudoacacia* stand characteristics of the invading species, and 3) whether there are any changes in the grazing capacity of rangelands as a result of invasion.

Materials and Methods

Study Site

The study was conducted at Clifton (28°32′ 48.08″S; 28°25′08.91″E) and Sunnyside (28°32′12.87″S; 28°31′59.60″E) properties in the eastern Free State Province, South Africa, between February 2019 and February 2020. This area falls under the subtropical highland climate (Cwb) according to the Köppen-Geiger climate classification with temperatures averaging 13.7°C

135

136

137

138

and an average annual rainfall of 693 mm (Beck et al. 2018). Vegetation in this area is mainly composed of grasses with climax indigenous species such as *Themeda triandra* Forssk. (Poaceae) and *Cymbopogon dieterlenii* Stapf ex Schweick. (Poaceae) dominating (Du Preez and Venter 1992). However, there is an increasing incidence of woody species, most of which are non-native (Carbutt 2012). Agriculture is the primary land use within this region with livestock, cereal, and fruit production as the major enterprises (Hensley et al. 2006).

Robinia pseudoacacia Stand Characteristics

Stand characteristics based on one population parameter, density (trees/hectare), and one plant level measurement, diameter at breast height (DBH), were assessed for four tree stands, two at Clifton and two at Sunnyside properties. Sampling was done within three 10 × 10 m quadrats established 10 m apart along 50-m transects randomly selected within each stand. The number of trees in each quadrat was counted, and the DBH of each tree was measured at approximately 1.3 m from the soil surface using a steel diameter tape (West 2009). For forked trees, measurements were taken just below the fork while for multistemmed trees, the base was measured. To measure variation in light penetration through R. pseudoacacia canopy, hemispherical images were captured from 10 randomly selected locations in each of the four stands. The images were captured using a 170-degree, Voyager Explorer 4K Ultra HD activity camera in February 2020 when *R. pseudoacacia* trees were in full leaf and on a cloudy day to avoid the effects of the sun. The images were then transferred to a Samsung Galaxy J2 Core smartphone for determination of canopy cover indices using the mobile application Gap Light Analysis Mobile Application (GLAMA) (Tichy 2016). The application distinguishes between dark and light pixels from the canopy hemispherical images, classifying them as either vegetation or sky in the process. The Canopy Cover index (CaCo), a projection of canopy cover onto the surface, is then calculated and expressed as a percentage (Tichy 2016).

Understory Vegetation Composition

These surveys were conducted between December 2019 and February 2020, when most of the grasses were flowering, for ease of identification. Sampling was done in two habitats, patches of R. pseudoacacia (n = 3) (hereafter "invaded") and adjacent open rangeland (n = 3) (hereafter "uninvaded"). The fourth site (Sunnyside 4) had no vegetation, so it was excluded from these surveys. Invaded and uninvaded sites 50 m apart were surveyed, while sampling within invaded sites was done at least 5 m from the edge to minimize edge effects. Pairing of sites was done to ensure similar environmental conditions. Although uninvaded sites chosen were used as pasture, care was taken to select areas where there was no history of soil disturbance based on property owners' accounts. Invaded and uninvaded sites were exposed to the same grazing pressure by livestock. The line-point intercept method was used to estimate plant species cover and composition. The method uses a length of nonstretch rope marked at 1-m intervals and a handheld rod. Starting at zero, and working from left to right and on the same side of the line each time, one moved to the first point on the line and dropped a rod from a height of 50 cm without guiding it to the ground. Once the rod reached the ground, all plant species it intercepted in descending order were recorded from top to ground cover (Herrick et al. 2005). Sampling was done at each site along 4 transects, 50 m long and 5 m apart, giving a total of 200 points per site and a total of 1 200 points in both invaded and uninvaded habitats. Plants were grouped into two functional types (i.e., grasses and forbs [nongraminoid herbaceous plants]), and these were identified to species level by taxonomists with the aid of guides by Moffett (1997) and Van Oudtshoorn (1999).

Invaded and Uninvaded Rangeland Condition Similarities

The total number of top canopy strikes for each species was calculated as a percentage of total observations for the species. Grazing index values (GIVs), which range from 0 (low quality) to 10 (high quality), for grasses sampled in this survey were obtained from lists compiled by Esler et al. (2006). Grazing index values were determined using volumes, amount of grazeable dry matter, and chemical composition of the specific species (Du Toit 1995). For species without listed GIVs, the average for two phylogenetically close species was used. Range condition indices were then calculated for both habitats by summing the product of the percentage cover of species and their GIVs (Du Toit 1995).

Statistical Analyses

Data analyses were carried out using STATISTICA, version 7 (TIBCO Software), R software version 3.2.1 (R Development Core Team 2015) and Paleontological Statistics Software Package (PAST) (Hammer et al. 2001). R. pseudoacacia canopy cover, density, and DBH were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance in STATIS-TICA, and Tukey-Kramer post hoc tests were used to separate statistically significant groups. Vegetation data from invaded and uninvaded transects were grouped into two functional groups, grasses and forbs, and tested for sampling saturation using the Mao tau sample-based rarefaction method at 95% confidence interval in PAST. Since the curve for forb sampling did not reach an asymptote and preliminary analyses resulted in a high stress value (> 0.2), the data were not subjected to distance-based analyses (Fig. S1, available online at ...). To visualize the separation of grass communities between invaded and uninvaded plots, nonmetric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) was performed and the Bray-Curtis distance was applied using the "vegan" package (Oksanen et al. 2019) in R. Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) was then used to test for differences in grass community composition between the invaded and uninvaded sites. To explore the contribution of each species to dissimilarity between sites, similarity percentages (SIMPER) were computed also using the Bray-Curtis distance. To test variation in species composition between the two habitats, the data were tested for the assumption of homogeneity of multivariate dispersion (Anderson 2006).

Differences in Range Condition Index were analysed using a lin-ear mixed model (LMM) specified with Gaussian errors and a log link function (Bolker et al. 2009), with site (Clifton/Sunnyside) and habitat (invaded/uninvaded) as fixed effects. Quadrat and transect were included as random effects to account for potential nonindependence between data points (Bolker et al. 2009). A global (maximal) model was specified, including an interaction term between site and habitat and both random effects. The "dredge" function from "MuMIn" R package (Barton 2009), which specifies all possible combinations of fixed effects as possible models, was then used in a model selection framework to assess the importance of predictor variables. Model selection was performed by ranking all candidate models using Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AICc). Moreover, Akaike weights (w_i) were calculated to determine the degree of support for each candidate model being the best model. The sign and magnitude of the effect of each model term on range condition index scores were assessed by semiparametric bootstrapping of parameter estimates, using 999 bootstrap replicates, implemented with the "bootMer" function from the "Ime4" R package (Bates et al. 2015).

Preliminary analyses showed that inclusion of transect as a random effect did not improve model fit when analyzing Shannon-Weiner (H') diversity and percentage grass and forb cover variables. As such, Shannon-Weiner diversity was analyzed using a GLM with Gaussian errors and a log link function, and vegetation cover was analyzed using a logistic GLM with binomial errors and a logi link function. For both models, site (Clifton/Sunnyside) and habitat (invaded/uninvaded) were specified as fixed effects.

Results

Robinia pseudoacacia Population Demographics and Canopy Characteristics

R. pseudoacacia canopy cover varied significantly between stands (Table S1, available online at ...). However, results of post hoc tests showed that there was no significant difference in canopy cover among three stands (Clifton 1, Clifton 2, and Sunnyside 1) while Sunnyside 4 had significantly higher canopy cover (> 60%) (Fig. 1). Similarly, tree densities varied significantly across stands (Table 1). Sunnyside 4 had the highest density of trees while the lowest densities were recorded at Sunnyside 1 (see Fig. 1). DBH varied significantly across sites (see Table 1), and the widest trees stems were found at Sunnyside 1 while stem diameter did not differ significantly at the other three sites (see Fig. 1).

Effects of Invasion on Grass and Forb Species Community Composition

The nMDS plot showed that grass community composition differed between invaded and uninvaded rangeland with no overlaps between the two habitats (Fig. 2). The grass community in uninvaded rangeland was mainly composed of native species (e.g., Tristachya leucothrix and Cymbopogon dieterlienii) while exotic species such as Dactylis glomerata L. (Poaceae) and Bromus catharticus Vahl. (Poaceae) were dominant in habitats invaded by R. pseudoacacia (Fig. 3). There was a significant site (49%) and habitat (36%) effect (P < .001) in explaining the variation in grass community composition between the two vegetation communities (Table S2, available online at ...). Although the grass community in uninvaded habitats seemed to be more dispersed than in invaded habitats. the assumption of homogeneity multivariate dispersion was met (F=1.16, P=.29). The SIMPER analysis further showed that dissimilarity between invaded and uninvaded rangeland was 96%, of which > 50% was due to E. biflora (14.3%), B. catharticus (13.4%), Tristachya leucothrix (12.3%), and Cymbopogon dieterlenii (10.2%) (see Table 1). The two native grasses common to both habitats. C. dieterlienii and T. triandra, contributed significantly to differences in community composition between invaded and uninvaded habitats (P < .05), both being more abundant in uninvaded than invaded plots

Grass species diversity varied significantly between uninvaded and habitats invaded by *R. pseudoacacia* (F=29.41, P < .001), but not sites (F=2.10, P=.152). There was no significant interaction effect between habitat and site (F=1.06, P=.366). Results of post hoc tests showed that grass species diversity was significantly higher in uninvaded rangeland at Clifton (Fig. 4). While grass species diversity at Sunnyside was marginally higher in uninvaded than in invaded sites, the differences were not statistically significant. On the contrary, forb species were more diverse in sites invaded by *R. pseudoacacia* at Clifton than uninvaded and invaded sites at Sunnyside (see Fig. 4). The effect of site contributed significantly to variation in forb diversity (F=11.71, P=.001). All forb species in invaded sites were aculy successional invasive alien species as compared with natives in uninvaded habitats.

- 140
- 141
- . -
- 142



Figure 1. Differences in canopy cover (CaCo) (A), densities (B), and diameter at breast height (DBH) (C) of Robinia pseudoacacia across sites (mean \pm 95% confidence limits). Means with the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

 Table 1

 Similarity percentages for grasses between open rangeland and under Robinia pseudoacacia stands based on Bray-curtis distance

Species	Average	SD	Ratio	Mean Veld	Mean Invaded	Cumulative sum	p -Value
Eragrostis biflora Hack, ex Schinz (Poaceae)	0.14	0.10	1.34	0	10.67	0.14	0.001
Bromus catharticus Vahl. (Poaceae)*	0.13	0.10	1.32	0	10.33	0.28	0.001
Tristachya leucothrix Trin.(Poaceae)	0.12	0.14	0.86	10.08	0	0.40	0.005
Cymbopogon dieterlenii	0.1	0.12	0.80	8.00	0.08	0.50	0.003
Dactylis glomerata L. (Poaceae)*	0.09	0.14	0.66	0	8.25	0.60	0.083
Themeda triandra	0.07	0.06	1.33	6.67	2.17	0.68	0.044
Heteropogon contortus L. (Poaceae)	0.05	0.05	0.90	4.00	0	0.73	0.003
Aristida diffusa Trin. (Poaceae)	0.04	0.07	0.57	3.08	0	0.76	0.018
Brachypogon distachyon (L.) P. Beauv. (Poaceae)*	0.04	0.07	0.54	0	3.17	0.80	0.158
Elionurus muticus (Spreng.) Kuntze. (Poaceae)	0.03	0.06	0.54	2.67	0	0.83	0.012
Helictotrichon turgidulum (Stapf) Schweick.(Poaceae)	0.03	0.02	1.24	2.25	0	0.86	0.001
Eragrostis capensis (Thunb.) Trin. (Poaceae)	0.03	0.04	0.58	2.17	0	0.89	0.005
Aristida adescensionis L(Poaceae)	0.02	0.04	0.62	1.50	0	0.91	0.001
Eragrostis curvula (Schrad.) Nees. (Poaceae)	0.02	0.05	0.42	0	1.42	0.93	0.140
Eragrostis chloromelas Steud. (Poaceae)	0.02	0.03	0.61	1.33	0	0.95	0.031
Harpochloa falx (L.f.) Kuntze. (Poaceae)	0.01	0.02	0.80	0.92	0	0.96	0.001
Setaria pallide-fusca (Schumach.) Stapf and C.E. Hubb. (Poaceae)	0.01	0.03	0.43	0	0.83	0.97	0.364
Miscanthus capensis (Nees) Andersson, (Poaceae	0.01	0.02	0.44	0	0.75	0.98	0.420
Microchloa caffra Nees. (Poaceae)	0.01	0.01	0.37	0.42	0	0.99	0.074
Eragrostis plana Nees, (Poaceae)	0.01	0.01	0.44	0.42	0	0.99	0.088
Penisetum sphacelatum (Nees) T.Durand and Schinz (Poaceae)	0.01	0.01	0.55	0.33	0	1.00	0.001
Paspalum dilatatum Poir. (Poaceae)*	0.00	0.01	0.30	0.17	0	1.00	0.130
Andropogon appendiculatus Nees. (Poaceae)	0.00	0.01	0.30	0.17	0	1.00	0.138

* Non-native grasses

Effects of Invasion on Rangeland Grazing Index Values

Site, habitat, and the interaction between site and habitat were all statistically significant in explaining range condition index values (Table 2). Range condition was significantly lower in invaded habitats (180 \pm 24.3) than uninvaded rangeland (401 \pm 24.3) at Clifton. However, these differences were less noticeable at Sunnyside, where range condition in both invaded (432 \pm 34.4) and uninvaded habitats (450 ± 34.4) was better than both invaded and uninvaded habitats at Clifton. *Dactylis glomerata*, which had the highest grazing index value of 7.59, occurred under *R. pseudoaca*cia at Sunnyside while in all uninvaded sites T. triandra, which was most abundant, had a grazing value of 6.81.

Vegetation (grasses and forbs) cover also followed a similar trend as it was significantly higher in uninvaded than invaded habitat at Clifton while at Sunnyside rangeland had slightly higher



- 144

145



Figure 2. Two-dimensional nonmetric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) plot showing grass species composition in plots invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia and adjacent uninvaded rangeland based on Bray-Curtis distance.



Figure 3. Grass species abundance in uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia in eastern Free State, South Africa.



Figure 4. Differences in grass (A) and forb (B) diversity (Shannon-Weiner index) (mean \pm 95% confidence limits) between uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by Robinia pseudoacacia in eastern Free State, South Africa. Means with the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

Table 2

Linear Mixed Model selection matrix based on semi-parametric bootstrapping of parameter estimates for Veld Condition Index (VCI) values in open rangeland and habitats invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* at Clifton and Sunnyside properties in eastern Free State, South Africa.

Model structure	K	AICc	ΔAICc	LogLik	Wi
Site * Habitat	7	244.7	0.00	-111.85	1.00
Site + Habitat	6	264.1	18.40	-123.58	0.00
Habitat	5	275.0	30.30	-130.83	0.00
Site	5	286.6	41.90	-136.65	0.00
Random effects only	4	297.8	53.10	-143.82	0.00
Null model	2	504.58	39.00	-150.00	0.00

^a Null model = ~ 1 (random intercept model)

but insignificant cover than invaded habitat (Fig. 5). Habitat had a significant influence on grass cover (F = 24.03, P < .001).

Discussion

This study highlights the impact of *R. pseudoacacia* on plant community dynamics in rangelands. There was a reduction in abundance and diversity of native grasses followed by succession by alien grasses and forbs, thereby reducing the grazing capacity of the rangeland. Emergent communities following invasion were dominated by nitrophilous and shade-tolerant species, demonstrating the impact of *R. pseudoacacia* on microclimates. To our knowledge, this is the first study assessing the impacts of this species on native plant community composition and associated ecosystem services in South Africa and the southern hemisphere.

Robinia pseudoacacia Population Demographics and Canopy Characteristics

Overstory vegetation characteristics influence understory vegetation communities (Ali et al. 2019). In this study, we observed an influence of canopy cover on light availability and subsequently understory vegetation communities. Other studies noted the influence of the density of invasive alien species on understory vegetation locally (Ndhlovu et al. 2011; Yapi et al. 2018) and elsewhere (Benesperi et al. 2012). To further affirm this, we did not find any significant undergrowth at Sunnyside 4, which had the highest canopy cover and density, demonstrating the importance of light availability on understory vegetation dynamics. Tree diameter can be used as a proxy for tree age (McElhinny et al. 2005). Hence, we suggest that stand age influences successional dynamics in understory vegetation. Campagnaro et al. (2018) also found an influence of stand successional dynamics and other stand characteristics, such as stand basal area, tree diameter, and stand vertical structure, on understory vegetation communities. It is therefore plausible that vegetation dynamics in our study were a result of invasion.

Effects of R. pseudoacacia Invasion on Grass Species Composition

In the present study, R. pseudoacacia invasion led to a marked reduction in native grass and forb diversity, consistent with studies on the same species in other geographical areas (Benesperi et al. 2012; Sitzia et al. 2012), as well as other invasive alien species (Hejda et al. 2009; Paterson et al. 2011). These changes could be a result of its active nitrogen fixation activity and deposition of nitrogen-rich leaf litter (Cierjacks et al. 2013), which leads to the recruitment of nitrophilous grasses and forbs. In nutrient-poor soils, such nitrogen enrichment gives R. pseudoacacia a competitive advantage over natives adapted to nutrient-poor soils (Rawlik et al. 2018). Indeed, grass species found underneath R. pseudoacacia stands in our study, *D. glomerata*, *B. catharticus*, and *E. biflora*, reportedly have a high affinity for nitrogen (Van Oudtshoorn 1999), underlying its role in understory composition. By contrast, other studies, despite linking R. pseudoacacia to nitrophilous understory vegetation, suggested that the tree contributes to biodiversity after association with equally species-rich vegetation communities (Campagnaro et al. 2018; Slabejova et al. 2019). However, in our study, although understory vegetation at Sunnyside appeared to be as diverse as in uninvaded habitat, it was composed of alien instead of native species.

Our study showed that invasion of rangelands by *R. pseudoacacia* leads to the succession of native grass communities by mainly alien taxa. This indicates that invasive alien species can act as





- 153
- 154



Figure 5. Differences in vegetation cover (mean \pm 95% confidence limits) between uninvaded rangeland and habitats invaded by *Robinia pseudoacacia* in eastern Free State, South Africa. Means with the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

drivers for further invasion by other alien species. Even though the sources of the alien understory vegetation in this biome are not clear, we posit that some of the grasses could have escaped from planted pastures while the rest of the forb species are generally weedy species transported inadvertently through various vectors, primarily birds. Tecco et al. (2006) also recorded higher richness of exotic species under an invasive alien tree, P. anguistifolia, than Condalia montana, a native plant. These results also indicate approximately 100% species turnover due to invasion, and in keeping with this observation. Vitkova et al. (2020) recorded a 20% decline in the frequency of native species under R. pseudoacacia stands in xeric rangelands of southern Europe. Although there may be variations in the composition of understory vegetation, our results are consistent with findings by Sitzia et al. (2018) in Mediterranean lowlands of Europe that generally R. pseudoacacia stands are associated with aliens, ruderals, and habitat specialists. Invasion by R. pseudoacacia therefore creates conditions necessary for the recruitment of these alien species from incoming invaders due to creation of enabling niches. Moreover, there was a shift in composition of grass species that follow the C4 carbon fixation pathway, which are common in this biome as the case with uninvaded plots, to those following the C_3 pathway in this study. C_4 grasses are adapted and highly competitive under high light and temperature intensities and also thrive best in low nitrogen soils (Taylor et al. 2010). All 16 native grasses recorded in this study are adapted to the C_4 pathway while exotic species, found under R. pseudoacacia all follow the C₃ pathway (Milton 2004), suggesting an influence of the tree in the recruitment of species with special adaptions different from natives.

R. pseudoacacia is a light-demanding and fast-growing species that creates light-deficient conditions suitable for the shade-tolerant species in the understory (Cierjacks et al. 2013). It is there-fore possible that shade tolerance could have played a role in the grass assemblages underneath *R. pseudoacacia* in our study. For example, the *D. glomerata* that we recorded was previously associated with shade tolerance in a silvi-pastoral agroecosystem, where its nutritional value increased with shading (Kyriazopoulos

et al. 2012), indicating its adaptation to low-illumination conditions. Shading was also found to shape grass communities underneath another invasive alien plant, *Chromolaena odorata* (Te Beest et al. 2015). Our results therefore suggest that, in all likelihood, the interplay between shading and nitrogen fixation influences the emerging communities underneath *R. pseudoacacia* stands and the reduction of native grass and forb diversity.

Effects of Invasion on Grazing Quality

Invasion of rangelands by alien taxa has been associated with a corresponding reduction in grazing capacities, affecting livestock enterprises, which are largely dependent on rangelands (Palmer and Ainslie 2005; Suttie et al. 2005). In this study, there was a marked reduction in range condition at one of the properties. Consistent with these findings, several studies have linked the reduction in grazing capacity to invasive alien species locally and globally (Duncan et al. 2004; Ndhlovu et al. 2011; Yapi et al. 2018) and potential reduction in gross margins (Humphrey 2019). Through quantification of the increased losses in grazing capacities of the invaded rangelands, our study further demonstrates how invasive species can compromise livestock production. While overstocking can also drive rangeland degradation and alter grass community composition (Van der Merwe et al. 2018), our habitats were subjected to the same grazing intensities. Hence, we suggest that differences in community composition and grazing capacity observed in this study were a result of invasion by R. pseudoacacia. High range condition indices under R. pseudoacacia at Sunnyside were likely influenced by the dominance of D. glomerata, a species with high grazing value, high understory vegetation cover, and low tree densities. However, this good condition might be offset if considered together with Sunnyside 4, one of the invaded sites on the property without understory vegetation possibly due to high tree density and low light penetration. R. pseudoacacia is capable of reducing grazing capacity through alteration of grass communities, takes up grazing space, and is also poisonous to livestock (Humphrey 2019).



- 155
- 156
- 157
- 158

116

Implications

The current study highlights the negative impacts of R. pseudoacacia in rangelands. Invasion-mediated replacement of native grass communities by alien grasses and forbs reduces the grazing capacity of the rangelands. Given these adverse effects, urgent control measures together with ecological restoration are required. With property owner reports indicating failure of chemical and mechanical control due to the vigorous coppicing capabilities of R. pseudoacacia, biological control offers better prospects for successful management of this invasive species. Furthermore, to allow for predictable successional trajectories as suggested by Sheley and Krueger-Mangold (2003), long-term management approaches should be adopted. While integrated approaches that promote desirable species and suppression of the proliferation of undesirable ones are recommended (DiTommaso et al. 2017), there are no prescribed methods that are effective against R. pseudoacacia. Moreover, control of the IAP through utilization as a browse species is curtailed by its toxicity to animals. Elimination of R. pseudoacacia might be possible through aggressive mechanical techniques that involve the complete destruction of the rooting system. However, this form of management, besides its practical limitations at larger scales, introduces further disturbance leading to invasion by secondary weeds. Overall, there is a need to develop a sustainable management regime for R. pseudoacacia and other invasive species with similar functional traits. Meanwhile, rangeland managers should focus on early detection and prevention while those with existing infestations should minimize mechanical disturbance to limit rapid spread.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None

Acknowledgments

We also thank Kim Canavan and Serero Modise for assistance with grass identification, University of the Free State, and owners of Clifton and Sunnyside for permission to conduct research on their properties. Many thanks to Prof. Sue Dean for assistance with grazing index values.

Supplementary materials

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.rama.2021.02.006.

- Anderson, M.J., 2006. Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate disper-
- Finderson, Wg. 2000. Distance teas of nonlogenetry of inflatement disper-sions. Biometrics 62 (1), 245–253.
 Ali, A., Dai, D., Akhtar, K., Teng, M., Yan, Z., Urbina-Cardon, N., Mullerova, J., Zhou, Z., 2019. Response of understroy vegetation, tree regeneration, and soil quality to manipulated stand density in a *Pinus massoniana* plantation. Global Ecology and Grandmitter 20. end/stand.
- manipulated stand density in a *Pinus massoniana* plantation. Global Ecology and Conservation 20, e00775.
 Bankovich, B., Boughton, E., Boughton, R., Avery, M.L., Wisely, S.M., 2016. Plant com-munity shifts caused by feral swine rooting devalue Florida rangeland. Agricul-ture, Ecosystem and the Environment 220, 45–54.
 Barton, K., 2009. Mu-Min: multi-model inference R Package Version 0.12.2/r18.
- Available at: http://R-Forge.R-project.org/projects/mumin/ . Accessed 23 May 2020
- 2020. Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using line4. Journal of Statistical Software 67 (1), 1–48. Beck, H.E., Zimmermann, N.E., McVicar, T.R., Vergopolan, N., Berg, A., Wood, E.F.
- 2018. Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km res-
- 2018. Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution. Scientific Data 5, 180214.
 Benesperi, R., Giuliani, C., Zanetti, S., Gennai, M., Lippi, M.M., Guidi, T., Nascimbene, J., Foggi, B., 2012. Forest plant diversity is threatened by *Robinia pseudoacacia* (black-locust) invasion. Biodiversity and Conservation 21, 3555–3568.
 Bolker, B.M., Brooks, M.E., Clark, C.J., Geange, S.W., Poulsen, J.R., Stevens, M.H.H., White, J.S., 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24 (3), 127–135.

- CABI, 2020. Robinia pseudoacacia. Invasive species compendium. CAB International, Car
- b), duco, nonline ps. wedetexas wedetexas wedetexas and a second seco
- 11, 585–593.
 Carbutt, C., 2012. The emerging invasive alien plants of the Drakensberg Alpine Centre, Southern Africa. Bothalia 42 (2), 71–85.
 Clark, V.R., Dold, A.P., McMaster, C., McGregor, G., Bredenkamp, C., Barker, N.P., 2014.
 Rich sister, poor cousin: plant diversity and endemism in the Great Winterberg-Amatholes (Great Escarpment, Eastern Cape, South Africa). South African Journal of Botany 92, 159–174.
 Cierjacks, A., Kowarik, L., Joshi, J., Hempel, S., Ristow, M., von der Lippe, M., Weber, E., 2013. Biological flora of the British Isles: *Robinia pseudoacacia*. Journal of Ecolory 201, 1623–1640.
- Ecology 101, 1623-1640. Chu
- Ecology 101, 1623–1640.
 Sella-Trullas, S., Garcia, R.A., 2017. Impacts of invasive plants on animal diversity in South Africa: a synthesis. Bothalia 47 (2), a2166.
 Dartment of Environmental Affairs. 2016. National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act. No. 10 of 2004) Alien and invasive species lists. Re-public of South Africa: Government Gazette No. 40166, p. 56.

- public of South Africa: Government Gazette No. 40166. p. 56.
 DiTomaso, J.M., Monaco, T.A., James, J.J., Fim, J. 2017. Invasive plant species and novel rangeland systems. In: Briske, D. (Ed.), Rangeland systems. Springer Se-ries on Environmental Management. Springer, Cham, Switzerland, pp. 429-465.
 Du Preez, P.J.V., Venter, H.J.T. 1992. The classification of the vegetation of Ko-rannaberg, eastern Orange Free State, South Africa. II. Grassland communities, South African Journal of Botany 58 (3), 173-181.
 Du Toit, P.C.V., 1995. The grazing index method of range condition assessment. African Journal of Range and Forage Science 12 (2), 61-67.
 Duncan, C.A., Jachetta, J.J., Brown, M.L., Carrithers, V.F., Clark, J.K., DiTomaso, J.M., Lym, R.G., McDaniel, K.C., Renz, M.J., Rice, P.M., 2004. Assessing the economic, environmental, and societal losses from invasive plants on rangeland and wild-landsAssessing the economic, environmental, and societal losses from invasive plants on rangeland and wildlands. Weed Technology 18 (1), 1411-1416.
 Divenoko, Z., Loster, S., 1997. Effects of dominant trees and anthropogenic distur-
- piants on rangeland and wildiands. Weed Technology 18 (1), 1411–1416. Dzwonko, Z., Loster, S., 1997. Effects of dominant trees and anthropogenic distur-bances on species richness and floristic composition of secondary communities in southern Poland, Journal of Applied Ecology 34 (4), 861–870.
 Esler, K.J., Milton, S.J., Dean, J., W.R., 2006. Karoo Veld–ecology and management. Briza Press, Pretoria, South Africa, p. 224.
 Gaertner, M., Breeyen, A.D., Hui, C., Richardson, D.M., 2009. Impacts of alien plant invasions on species richness in Mediterranean-type ecosystems: a meta-analy-sic Promers in Physical Georanaby 33, 319–338.

- Invasions on Species in Chevis in Wednerfahear-type Cosystems, a mean-analysis. Progress in Physical Geography 33, 319–338.
 Haerdtle, W., von Oheimb, G., Westphal, C., 2003. The effect of light and soil conditions on the species richness of the ground vegetation of deciduous forests in northern. Germany (Schleswig-Holstein), Forest Ecology and Management 182 (1), 327-338.
- er, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D. 2001. PAST: Paleontological statistics software Ham
- Hammer, V., Harper, D.A. I., Kyan, P.D. 2001, PAST: Pareoniological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontologia Electronica 4 (1), 9 9. Hejda, M., Pysek, P., Jarosík, V., 2009, Impact of invasive plants on the species rich-ness. diversity and composition of invaded communities. Journal of Ecology 97, 393–403.
 Henderson, L., 1991. Invasive alien woody plants of the Orange Free State. Bothalia 21 (2), 72 pp.

- Henderson, L., 1991, Invasive alien woody prains of the strength of t
- Detutionaria L. (Datk Tocks) on egitandia productor in sound measure Agrekon 58 (2), 216–228.
 Kennedy, T.A., Nacem, S., Howe, K.M., Knops, J.M.H., Tilman, D., Reich, P., 2002. Bio-diversity as a barrier to ecological invasion. Nature 417, 636–638.
 Kyriazopoulos, A.P., Abraham, E.M., Parissi, Z.M., Koukoura, Z., Nastis, A.S., 2012. For-the source of the source
- age production and nutritive value of Dactylis glomerata and Trifolium subter-raneum mixtures under different shading treatments. Grass and Forage Science Lazz
- raneum mixtures under otherence snowing sectors 68, 72–82. zaro, L., Mazza, G., d'Errico, G., Fabiani, A., Giuliani, C., Inghilesi, A.F., Lago-marsino, A., Landi, S., Lastrucci, L., Pastorelli, R., Roversi, P.F., Torrini, G., Tri-carico, E., Foggi, B., 2018. How ecosystems change following invasion by *Robinia pseudoacaccii*: insights from soil chemical properties and soil microbial, nema-tode, micro-arthropod and plant communities. Science of the Total Environment 622: 1509–1518.
- 622, 1509–1518. Le Maire, D.C., Gaertner, M., Marchante, E., Ens, E., Holmes, P.M., Pauchard, A., O'Farrell, P.J., Rogers, A.M., Blanchard, R., Blignaut, J., Richardson, D.M., 2011. Im-pacts of invasive Australian acacias: implications for management and restora-tion. Diversity and Distribution 17, 1015–1029. Martin, G.D., 2019. Addressing geographical bias: a review of *Robinia pseudoacacia* (black locust) in the Southern Hemisphere. South African Journal of Botany 125, 481–402.
- 481-492
- 401-492. McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., Brack, C., Bauhus, J., 2005. Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: its definition and measurement. Forest Ecology and Man-agement 218, 1–24.
- Milton, S.J., 2004. Grasses as invasive alien plants in South Africa. South African Journal of Science 100, 69–74.

160

161

- Moffett, R., 1997. Grasses of the Eastern Free State: their description and uses. UNQWA, Phuthadithaba, South Africa 288 pp. Mucina, L. Hoare, D. B., Lötter, M. C., du Preez, P. J., Rutherford, M. C., Scott-Shaw, C. R., Bredenkamp, G. J., Powrie, L. W., Scott, L., Camp, K. G. T., Cilliers, S. S., Bezuidenhout, H., Mostert, T. H., Siebert, S. J., Winter, P. J. D., Burrows, J. E., Dobson, L., Ward, R. A., Stalmans, M., Oliver, E. G. H., Siebert, F., Schmidt, E., Kobisi, K., and Kose, L. 2006. Grassland biome. *In:Mucina*, L., Rutherford, M. C. Ledd, Bronit 2011. The Vegetation of South Africa Lestoha and Swaziland Stre-[eds]. Reprint 2011. The Vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland. Stre Keynin 2011. The Vegetation of south Africa, Lesionio and Swazilandi. Stre-lizia 19, Pretoria, South Africa: South African Biodiversity Institute. ISBN: 978-1919976-21-1. p. 351.
 Musil, C.F., 1993. Effect of invasive Australian acacias on the regeneration, growth and nutrient chemistry of South African Iowland fynbos. Journal of Applied Ecology 30, 361-372.
 Ndhlovu, T., Milton, S.J., Esler, K.J., 2011. Impact of Prospis (mesquite) invasion and classing on the accising conserving of computing of computing Compu

- Ndhlovu, J., Milton, S.J., Esler, K.J., 2011. Impact of Prosopis (mesquite) invasion and clearing on the grazing capacity of semiarid Nama Karoo rangeland, South Africa. African Journal of Range and Forage Science 28 (3), 129–137. Nicolescu, V., Hernea, C., Bakti, B., Keseru, Z., Antal, B., Redei, K., 2018. Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia L.*) as a multi-purpose tree species in Hungary and Roma-nia: a review. Journal of Forestry Research 29, 1449–1463. O'Connor, T.G., Van Wilgen, B.W., 2020. The impact of invasive alien plants on range-lands: in swith Africa. In: un publican P. Macaret, I. Bichardtone, D. Wilcon, J.
- O'Connor, L., Van Wingen, B. W. 2020. The impact of invasive altern plants on range-lands in South Africa. In: van Wilgen, B., Measey, J., Richardson, D., Wilson, J., Zengeya, T. (Eds.), Biological invasions in South Africa. Invading nature-springer series in invasion ecology. Springer, Cham, Switzerland, pp. 459–487.
 Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoces, E., Wagner, H., 2019. vegan: Community Ecology Package R package version 2.5-6. Avrilleh at: https://CRMNR.microtecom/package.package.package.pdf 6. Available at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan . Accessed 26 March 2020.
- 2020. Palmer, A.R., Ainslie, A.MFood and Agriculture Organization, 2005. Grasslands of South Africa. Grasslands of the world. Rome, Italy, pp. 77–120. Parker, I.M., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Goodell, K., Wonham, M., Kareiva, P.M., Williamson, M.H., Von Holle, B., Myers, J.E., Coldwasser, L., 1999. Im-pact: towards a framework for understanding the ecological effects of invaders. Patheney and Science a
- Biological Invasions 1, 3–19.
 Paterson, I.D., Coetzee, J.A., Hill, M.P., Downie, D.D., 2011. A pre-release assessment of the relationship between the invasive alien plant, *Pereskia aculeata* Miller (Cactaceae), and native plant biodiversity in South Africa. Biological Control 57, 59-65.
- Pysek, P., Richardson, D.M., 2010. Invasive species. Environmental change and man-agement, and health. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 35, 25-
- 55. Rawlik, M., Kasprowicz, M., Jagodzinski, A.M., Kazmierowski, C., Lukowiak, R., Grze-bisz, W., 2018. Canopy tree species determine herb layer biomass and species composition on a reclaimed mine spoil heap. Science of the Total Environment Cont. 1006, 1014. 635, 1205-1214.
- Richards on, D.M., van Wilgen, B.W., 2004. Invasive alien plants in South Africa: how well do we understand the ecological impacts. South African Journal of Science 100 45-52
- 100, 45–52.
 Rilov, G., Mant, R., Lyons, D.A., Bulleri, F., Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Kotta, J., De Moura Queiros, A., Chatzinikolau, E., Crowe, T.P., Guy-Haim, T., 2012. How strong is the effect of invasive ecosystem engineers on the distribution patterns of local species, the local and regional biodiversity and ecosystem functions? Environmental Evidence 1, 1-10
- R Core Team (2020) R: A language and environment for statistical computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www. R-project.org/. Accessed 26 March 2020
- Sheley, R.L., Krueger-Mangold, J., 2003. Principles for restoring invasive plant-in-fested rangeland. Weed Science 51, 260–265.
- dister ingenant, were determed at 2007 2007.
 Sitzia, T., Campaganaro, T., Kotze, D.J., Nardi, S., Ertani, A., 2018. The invasion of aban-doned fields by a major alien tree filters understory plant traits in novel forest ecosystems. Scientific Reports 8, 8410.

- Sitzia, T., Campagnaro, T., Dainese, M., Cierjacks, A., 2012. Plant species diversity in alien black locust stands: a paired comparison with native stands across a north-Mediterranean range expansion. Forest Ecology and Management 285, 85-91
- 63–91. Slabejova, D., Bacigal, T., Hegedusova, K., Majekova, J., Medvecka, J., Mikulova, K., Sibikova, M., Skodova, I., Zaliberova, M., Jarolimek, I., 2019. Comparison of the understory vegetation of native forests and adjacent *Robinia pseudoacacia* plantations in the Carpathian-Pannonian region. Forest Ecology and Management 439, 28-40.

- 439, 28–40.
 Suttie, J.M., Reynolds, S.G., Batello, C., 2005. Grasslands of the world. Plant Production and Protection Series No. 34. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy 514 pp.
 Taylor, S.H., Hulme, S.P., Rees, M., Ripley, B.S., Woodward, F.I., Osborne, C.P., 2010. Ecophysiological traits in C3 and C4 grasses: a phylogenetically controlled screening experiment. New Phytologist 185, 780–791.
 Beest, Te, M., Esler, J., K., Richardson, D.M., 2015. Linking functional traits to impacts of invasive plant species: a case study. Plant Ecology 216, 293–305.
 Tecco, P.A., Gurvich, D.E., Díaz, S., Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Cabido, M., 2006. Positive interaction between invasive plants: the influence of *Pyracantha argustifolia* on the recruitment of native and exotic woody species. Austral Ecology 31, 293–300. 293-300. Tichy, L. 2016. Field test of canopy cover estimation by hemispherical photographs
- Heng, L. 2015, the last of catalog cover semiation by inclinging that pholographic taken with a smartphone. Journal of Vegetation Science 27 (2), 427–435.
 Van der Merwe, H., Toit, Du, O., J.C., Van den Berg, L., O 'Connor, T.G., 2018, Im-pact of sheep grazing intensity on vegetation at the Arid Karoo Stocking Rate Trial after 27 years, Carnaroon, South African Journal of Arid Environments 155, 36-45. Van Oudtshoorn, F., 1999, Guide to grasses of southern Africa, 1st ed. Briza Publica-

- 30–42.
 Van Oudshoorn, F., 1999. Guide to grasses of southern Africa, 1st ed. Briza Publications, Pretoria, South Africa 287 pp.
 Van Wilgen, B.W., Reyers, B., Le Maitre, D.C., Richardson, D.M., Schonegevel, L., 2008.
 A biome-scale assessment of the impact of invasive alien plants on ecosystem services in South Africa. Journal of Environmental Management 89 (4), 336–349.
 Van Wilgen, B.W., Resyth, G.G., Le Maitre, D.C., Wannenburgh, A., Johann, D.F., Kotze, J.D.F., van den Berg, E., Henderson, L., 2012. An assessment of the effectiveness of a large, national-scale invasive alien plant control strategy in South Africa. Isological Conservation 148, 28–38.
 Van Wigen, B., Measey, J., Richardson, D., Wilson, J., Zengeya, T., 2020. Biological invasions in South Africa. Invading nature–Springer series in invasion ecology. Springer, Cham, Switzerland.
 Vitkova, M., Mullerova, J., Sadlo, J., Pergl, J., Pysek, P., 2017. Black locust (*Robinia pseudoaccia*) beloved and despised: a story of an invasive tree in Central Europe. Forest Ecology and Management 384, 287–302.
 Vitkova, M., Sadlo, J., Necelta, P., Perrik, P., Sitzia, T., Mullerova, J., Pysek, P., 2020. Robinia pseudoaccia-dominated vegreation types of southern Europe species composition, history, distribution and management. Science of the Total Environment 707, 134857.
 Walker, L.R., Smith, S.D., 1997. Impacts of invasive plants on community and ecosys-
- ronment 70, 134857.
 Walker, L.R., Smith, S.D., 1997. Impacts of invasive plants on community and ecosys-tem properties. In: Luken, J.O., Thieret, J.W. (Eds.), Assessment and management of plant invasions. Springer, New York, NY, USA, pp. 69–86 Springer Series on Environmental Management.
 Wardle, D.A., Peltzer, D.A., 2017. Impacts of invasive biota in forest ecosystems in an advancemental variancement destruction Exclusion Evolution.
- above ground-belowground context, Biological Invasions 19, 3301-3316
- above ground-belowground context. Biological Invasions 19, 3301–3316. West, P.W., 2009. Tree and forest management, 2nd ed.. Springer-Verlag, Berlin and Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 11–15. Witkowski, E.T.F, 1991. Effects of invasive alien acacias on nutrient cycling in the coastal lowlands of the Cape fynbos. Journal of Applied Ecology 28, 1–15. Yapi, T.S., O'Farrell, P.J., Dziba, L.E., Esler, K.J., 2018. Alien tree invasion into a South African montane grassland ecosystem: impact of Acacia species on rangeland condition and livestock carrying capacity. International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services and Management 14 (1), 105–116.

163

164

165

 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect
 Biological Control

 Biological Control
 Elsevier.com/locate/ybcon

Biological Control 149 (2020) 104315

Thermal tolerance of the biological control agent *Neolema abbreviata* and its potential geographic distribution together with its host *Tradescantia fluminensis* in South Africa



Frank Chidawanyika^{a,b,1,*}, Gerald Chikowore^{a,1}, Reyard Mutamiswa^{a,1}

^a Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of the Free State, P.O. Box 339, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa ^b Weeds Division, Plant Protection Research Institute, Agricultural Research Council, Private Bag X6006, Hilton 3245, South Africa

ABSTRACT

 Keywords:
 In this era of flip

 Climate change
 their subseque

 Coleoptera
 the predictive

 Commelinaceae
 Tradescantia flip

 Invasive species
 agent Neolema

 Maxent
 mean tempera

 Niche overlap
 whilst tempera

 For heat assa
 43 ± 0.2 °C

In this era of global climate change, understanding how climate influences species distributions together with their subsequent interactions is a major priority for managers of both natural and managed ecosystems. Using the predictive algorithm Maximum Entropy (MaxEnt), we projected the current and potential distribution of *Tradescantia fluminensis* Vell (Commelinaceae) before using thermal tolerance indices of its biological control agent *Neolema abbreviata* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) to simulate its potential distribution in South Africa. The mean temperature in *T. fluminensis* microhabitats, recorded using data loggers, was 24.7 ± 0.1°C (mean ± SE) whilst temperatures ranged from -1 to 29.7 °C. Following 2 h exposure at low temperatures, *N. abbreviata* survival from 0 to 100% fell between -13 and -6 ± 0.2 °C with 50% mortality occurring at -9.8 ± 0.2 °C. For heat assays, temperatures above 45.8 ± 0.2 °C resulted in 100% mortality whilst temperatures below 43 ± 0.2 °C resulted in 100% survival with 50% mortality occurring at 44.2 ± 0.2 °C. The mean critical thermal limits were 1.8 ± 0.4 °C (CT_{min}) and 48.8 ± 1.3 °C (CT_{max}). The derived warm and low temperature tolerance largely matched with current and projected climate in *T. fluminensis* distribution was based on mean Area Under the Curve (AUC), which was 0.85 \pm 0.017, suggesting good prospects for biological control of *T. fluminensis* using *N. abbreviata* in South Africa.

1. Introduction

ARTICLE INFO

Tradescantia fluminensis Vell (Commelinaceae), commonly known as Brazilian spiderwort, is a monocotyledonous groundcover plant with soft hairless leaves and succulent stems. Native to South East Brazil and northern Argentina, it has since naturalised and been declared an environmental weed in many countries including Australia, New Zealand and South Africa (Standish et al., 2001; Standish, 2004; Standish et al., 2004; Fowler et al., 2013). In South Africa, it is largely in its incipient phases of invasion and has been classified as a category 1B invader under the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act (NEMBA). The growth of *T. fluminensis* is largely restricted to forest understory where it forms dense swaths of vegetation smothering any low-lying vegetation. Thus, poor native seedling recruitment, which leads to poor forest regeneration, is the main adverse attribute of *T. fluminensis* invasions (Standish et al., 2001; Standish, 2004; Standish et al., 2004). Mechanical control of large infestations of the plant are difficult as stem fragments can easily develop roots and form new plants. Chemical control is largely unsuitable due to potential non-target effects on sensitive ecosystems such as riparian habitats where *T*. *fluminensis* also grows (Mbande et al., 2019, 2020). Biological control using arthropods and pathogens has therefore been employed as a sustainable measure to combat invasive populations (Fowler et al., 2013).

Despite the prospective benefits of classical biological control of weeds, its success remains sporadic due to a diverse range of operational and non-operational constraints (Schwarzländer et al., 2018). For example, climate incompatibility has been cited as one of the major constraints hampering establishment of insect biological control agents in their introduced range (Chidawanyika et al., 2017; Ramanand et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2017; Paterson et al., 2019), and temperature is often the most important environmental factor determining the activity and

* Corresponding author at: Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of the Free State, P.O. Box 339, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa. *E-mail address:* ChidawanyikaF@ufs.ac.za (F. Chidawanyika).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2020.104315

Received 27 March 2020; Received in revised form 19 May 2020; Accepted 25 May 2020

Available online 27 May 2020 1049-9644/ © 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

168

169

¹Present address: Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of the Free State, P.O. Box 339, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa.

F. Chidawanyika, et al.

geographic distribution of insects (Azrag et al., 2018).

To enhance biological control, species distribution models (SDMs) have been used to determine the potential suitability of biological control agents together with identifying areas for agent collection based on the match in climate between native and introduced ranges (Sun et al., 2017; Muskett et al., 2020). Species distribution models have also been used to project the spatial extent of invasive alien plants (IAPs) (Sun et al., 2017).

Invasive species are projected to extend their geographic ranges in response to climate change due to their superior tolerance to environmental stressors, phenotypic plasticity and rapid adaptive evolutionary responses (Seebacher et al., 2015; Kingsolver and Buckley, 2017 Mutamiswa et al., 2017, 2018, Chidawanyika et al., 2019). Similarly, climate change may have a direct impact on the distribution of biological control agents (Coetzee et al., 2007; Allen et al., 2014). However, the responses of insects and their host plants to climate change in both biogeography and phenology can differ (Forrest, 2016; Lehmann et a 2020) making it difficult to make generalisations about what will happen. SDMs are foreseen as being increasingly important because they can project the potential mismatches between biological control agents and their target weeds under future climate scenarios. In addition, dispersal capacity of biological control agents, depending on environmental variability, can mediate demographic patterns and ultimately population persistence, as high dispersal propensity may be antagonistic to population persistence through depletion of initial metapopulations (Kean and Barlow, 2000a, 2000b; Jonsen et al., 2007). It is therefore important to understand the potential distribution of both the agents and their weeds to better predict their performance under variable environments. This in turn will help managers and policymakers to develop mitigating measures (Kriticos et al., 2003; Wang and Wang, 2006; Allen et al., 2014; Tererai and Wood, 2014).

Neolema abbreviata Lacordaire (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) is native to Brazil and was first used for biological control of T. fluminensis in New Zealand (Fowler et al., 2013). Plant damage by the beetles is inflicted on young shoot-tips and mature leaves by the feeding action of both adults and larvae resulting in stunted plant growth and ultimately death (Fowler et al., 2013; Mbande et al., 2019, 2020). In South Africa, N. abbreviata was first released in 2018 following host range testing. Despite apparent extensive field damage on T. fluminensis, little is known about the beetle and its host's biogeography in introduced habitats such as South Africa despite the implications for the efficacy of biological control in both current and future climate scenarios. To address this, we sought to project the current and potential distribution of T. fluminensis together with its agent N. abbreviata in South Africa. We specifically asked if there was any enemy-free space for the weed in the current and potential distribution of the agent and its weed based on the climatic requirements as indicated by the agent's thermal tolerance and the currently-observed global climate envelope of T. fluminensis habitats.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Test insects and rearing conditions

A founder colony of *N. abbreviata* was obtained from field-collected beetles from Auckland, New Zealand in 2010. The beetles were maintained in mesh-covered, steel-framed cages ($50 \times 50 \times 82$ cm) in a quarantine insectary at the Agricultural Research Council station at Cedara, South Africa. The beetles were maintained for several generations abut were kept in high numbers (~100 per cage) in each cage to promote heterozygosity (Charlesworth and Willis, 2009). Despite being released in the field after completion of host range assessments, a colony of *N. abbevaiata* was retained in quarantine. The entire colony was maintained under controlled conditions, ranging between 25 and 28 °C and 60 to 80% relative humidity (RH). At all times, the beetles were regularly provided with fresh intact *T. fluminensis* plants that were

propagated in plastic pots (18 \times 10 cm) under drip fertigation for ${\sim}5$ weeks before being introduced into the cages. The damaged plants that were replaced following defoliation were held in different cages to allow for adult eclosion from pupae that had accumulated in the soil. Sub samples of these newly-eclosed adults were used for thermal tolerance assays.

2.2. Field microhabitat temperatures

Environmental microhabitat temperatures were recorded using Hygrochron iButton dataloggers (DS1923-F5, \pm 0.5 °C accuracy, Maxim Integrated Products, San José, USA). The iButtons were placed within two *T*: fluminensis sites at Hilton, KwaZulu Natal Province, South Africa. The iButtons (N = 4) were placed on the ground and in the *T*. fluminensis canopy (~40 cm above the ground). After twelve months, the mean, maximum and minimum temperatures were calculated for the entire duration.

2.3. Determination of lethal temperature limits

A programmable Grant TX150 water bath (Grant Instruments, UK) was used to expose N. abbreviata adults to a range of high (42, 43, 44, 45, 46 °C) and low (-4, -6, -8, -10, -12, -14 °C) temperatures for 2 hrs using a direct plunge protocol (e.g. Stotter and Terblanche, 2009; Allen et al., 2014). In all cases, 10 live newly emerged adults were collected from the main culture and placed in five 60 ml screw top polypropylene vials to yield a sample size of N = 50 for each treatment. Lids of the vials were perforated to allow air circulation and moistened strips of filter papers were placed in each vial to maintain RH above 80%. The five vials were then placed in a Ziploc bag (33 \times 38 cm) before immersing in the water bath. A mixture of propylene glycol and water 1:1 was used in the water bath to enable operation at lower temperatures without freezing. In all cases, vials containing the assayed beetles were placed in a 26 °C, 65% RH climate chamber for 24 h before assessing survival. Here, survival was regarded as the ability to respond to stimuli such as mild prodding and resumption of locomotory behaviour (e.g. Stotter and Terblanche, 2009) Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) in R version 3.3.0 (R Development Core Team, 2019) assuming a binomial error distribution (dead/alive) with a logit link function were used to determine the effect of different temperatures on survival.

2.4. Determination of critical thermal limits

Critical thermal maximum (CT_{max}) and minimum (CT_{min}) were assayed using the same water baths following standard protocols (Stotter and Terblanche, 2009; Mutamiswa et al., 2018, 2019). Beetles were individually placed into a series of borosilicate glass tubes in double jacketed Perspex chambers connected to the water bath. Thereafter, temperatures were increased (CT_{max}) or decreased (CT_{min}) starting from 26 [°]C using a pre-determined environmental rate of temperature change of 0.06 [°]C min⁻¹ from microsite data recordings. Critical thermal maximum and CT_{min} were regarded as the upper and lower temperatures, respectively at which the beetles were incapacitated losing any form of coordinated muscle function such as movement of limbs (Stotter and Terblanche, 2009). Chamber temperatures were verified using a type T copper-constantan thermocouple connected to a digital thermometer (Fluke Cooperation, Australia Ltd. Sydney).

2.5. Projected temperature tolerance

Due to limited *N. abbreviata* presence data for use in SDMs, the critical thermal limits (CTLs) were used to determine warming tolerance (WT) and cold tolerance (LTT) as sensitivity of *N. abbreviata* relative to mean environmental temperature of both current and projected future climatic conditions (e.g. Allen et al., 2014). The mean environmental temperature in the warmest and coldest quarter was



- 172
- 173
- 174

F. Chidawanyika, et al.

regarded as Tmax and Tmin, respectively. Thus, the WT was regarded as a measure of the insect s sensitivity to climate warming whilst LTT measured cold tolerance (e.g. Deutsch et al., 2008; Allen et al., 2014).

Temperatures of warmest and coldest quarters for both current and 2050 climate scenarios were downloaded from WorldClim version 2.0 (Fick and Hijmans, 2017) and masked in ArcGIS version 10.3 (ESRI, Redlands, CA, USA) using the national boundary for South Africa. The WT and LTT were calculated using the raster calculator function from ArcToolbox in ArcGIS. The following formulae were used to calculate thermal tolerances:

 $WT = CT \max - T \max$

$LTT = CT\min - T\min$

Thereafter, WTs were mapped onto South African maps for both current and future average temperatures using ArcGIS.

2.6. Plant occurrence data

Over 3000 occurrence records of *T. fluminensis* were downloaded from the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF, http://www. gbif.org/), the Southern African Plant Invaders Atlas (SAPIA) database (Henderson, 2007) and from physical surveys we conducted in South Africa from 2015 to 2019. The data were cleaned thereby avoiding duplicate records and obviously erroneous records before being analyzed for spatial clustering in ArcGIS. Data that fell in managed environments such as botanical gardens were also removed to minimize sampling bias (Elith et al., 2006; Yackulic et al., 2013). Pseudo-replication was avoided by only using one sample per 2.5-min pixel during calibration. The remaining presence locations were used to build the model.

2.7. Model environmental data

Predictor climatic variables, which are based on temperature and precipitation were downloaded from WorldClim at a spatial resolution of 2.5 arc minutes (\sim 5 km). The raster datasets were clipped for South America, the native range of *T. fluminensis* and South Africa, the invaded range, and converted to binary ASCII format using ArcGIS. The 19 variables were analysed for collinearity using Pearson's correlation in R and variables that best described the ecology of *T. fluminensis* were selected from pairs with a correlation coefficient (r) > 0.9. Consequently, only 8 bioclimatic variables and the Digital Elevation Model (DEM) from the NASA Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) (National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 2000) were used to run the model (Table 1).

The same bioclimatic variables selected for current climatic conditions were also downloaded from the Beijing Climate Center Climate System Model (BCC-CSM1-1) Representative Concentration Pathway 6.0 (RCP 6.0) for the 2050 climate change scenario in WorldClim (Wu et al., 2019; Fick and Hijmans, 2017). The RCP 6.0 represents radiative forcing values pathway to 6 W/m² (ca. 850 ppm CO₂) stabilizing

Table 1

Bioclimatic variables used to model areas suitable for Tradescantia fluminensis.

Variable	Name
Bio1	Mean annual temperature
Bio3	Isothermality
Bio7	Temperature annual range
Bio11	Mean Temperature of coldest quarter
Bio12	Annual precipitation
Bio16	Precipitation of wettest quarter
Bio17	Precipitation of driest quarter
Bio18	Precipitation of warmest quarter
Elevation	Height above sea level

without overshoot after 2100 with temperatures predicted to rise by 1.3 \pm 0.5 °C between 2046 and 2065 (van Vuuren et al., 2011; IPCC, 2013). This model was chosen as it is a more realistic representation of the global warming trajectory given on-going efforts to cut back on emissions of greenhouse gases which might result in the gradual stabilization of temperatures by 2100 (Hijjoka et al., 2008).

2.8. Model building

MaxEnt, a machine learning algorithm that applies the principle of maximum entropy to predict the potential distribution of species from presence-only data and environmental variables (Phillips et al., 2006) was used to model potential distribution of *T. fluminensis*. The model was run on South America, the native range of the species and South Africa, the invaded range. Model training was done using 70% of the presence records whilst the remaining 30% were used to test and validate the model through subsampling. Subsampling repeatedly splits presence points into random training and testing subsets. A default background (a sample of points from the landscape) of 10 000 pixels was selected from a bias file created in ArcGIS. To model future distribution under changing climate, a projection file containing predictor variables for the 2050 climate scenario was uploaded. Performance of the model was then assessed using the Receiver Operated Characteristic (ROC) and Area under the Curve (AUC) statistic. The ROC curve is a plot of true positives against false positives with AUC values between 0 and 1. An AUC closer to 1 indicates high predictive capability of the model. The ASCII outputs from Maxent was converted to the GEOTIFF format in ArcGIS and predictive maps depicting projected habitat suitability on an index of 0 (least suitable) to 1 (most suitable).

The maps for current and 2050 distributions were further converted to binary maps using the 10-percentile training presence threshold, which uses suitability associated with the presence record that occurs at the 10th percentile of presence records. The resultant output was a map depicting areas where suitable habitat will be lost and areas which will become suitable with changes in climatic conditions.

3. Results

3.1. Microhabitat environmental temperature

The mean temperature recorded in *T. fluminensis* microhabitats was 24.7 \pm 0.1 °C (mean \pm SE). The maximum and minimum temperatures recorded were 29.7 and -1 °C respectively. These data covered all the months of the year 2017 in Hilton, KwaZulu Natal.

3.2. Lethal temperatures, critical thermal limits

Thermal exposure for 2 hrs at various static temperatures significantly influenced survival at low (LLT: z=10.12~SE=0.13,~p<0.0001) and high temperatures (ULT: z=9.17,~SE=0.31,~p<0.0001). At low temperatures, survival from 0 to 100% ranged between -13 and $-6~\pm~0.2$ °C with 50% mortality occurring at $-9.8~\pm~0.2$ °C (Fig. 1). For heat treatments, temperatures at 43 $\pm~0.2$ °C and below resulted in 100% survival whilst temperatures at 43 $\pm~0.2$ °C resulted in absolute mortality, with 50% mortality (ULT) recorded at 44.2 $\pm~0.2$ °C (Fig. 1). The mean CT_min of the beetles was 1.8 $\pm~0.4$ °C (mean $\pm~SE,~n=30$) and CT_max was 48.8 $\pm~1.3$ °C (n= 30).

3.3. Projected temperature tolerance

Warming tolerance values for *N. abbreviata* ranged from 19 to 46 °C under both current and future climate scenarios (Fig. 2). In the current scenario, WT values between 28 and 32 °C were the most frequent within the geographic range of the host plant. However, the 2050 s future climate scenario showed decline in warming tolerance with the

177

178



Fig. 1. (A) Microhabitat temperatures recorded using Thermocron iButtons (Model DS1923-F5; Maxim Integrated Products, San José, USA) at 1 h sampling frequency on the ground and canopy of *Tradescantia fluminensis* at Hilton KwaZulu Natal Province, South Africa in 2016 (A). Temperature frequency distribution in the same sampling period was plotted where arrows indicate the points and how often temperatures that compromise fitness of *Neolema abbreviata* are reached (B). CTmin and CTmax denote Critical thermal Minima and Critical thermal Maxima, respectively. LLT50 and ULT50 denotes where 50% mortality was realised following 2 h exposure to cold or heat, respectively.

most frequent WT being 24 to 26 °C (Fig. 2). There was an increase in $T_{\rm min}$ between current and projected LTTs with number of sampling points falling below the $CT_{\rm min}$ decreasing (Fig. 3).

3.4. Habitat suitability model

The species distribution model for *T. fluminensis* had an average test AUC of 0.85 \pm 0.017 SD for ten replicate runs. (Fig. 4). This model performance matrix was close to 1, which is an indication that the

model performs better than random (AUC: 0.5). Amongst the nine bioclimatic variables used, temperature annual range (Bio7) had the highest contribution of 38.5% whilst precipitation of wettest quarter had the least contribution of 2.2% (Table 2). A jackknife test of variable importance also indicated that temperature annual range (Bio7), contained the most important information as it had the highest gain when it was used in isolation and the least gain was realized when it was omitted.

A few areas were predicted to be highly suitable with Habitat Suitability Indices (HSI) between 0.8 and 1 under prevailing climatic conditions (Fig. 5). However, the HSI in these areas is expected to decline by 2050, becoming moderately suitable (HSI > 0.5). Some lowly suitable areas are also expected to improve during same period, as the most frequent indices in 2050 s will be ranging between 0.6 and 0.8.

The spatial extent of habitat suitable for T. fluminensis in South Africa was predicted to be approximately 23 900 km² and is expected to expand to about 26 000 km² if temperature increases by 1.3 \pm 0.5 °C by 2050. For that expansion, areas bordering Gauteng, North West and Free State provinces had the highest habitat gain, the Western Cape, KwaZulu Natal and Limpopo provinces were intermediate whilst the Eastern Cape had the least (Fig. 6). The Northern Cape and mainland North West provinces remained unsuitable for T. fluminensis under current and future climate scenarios. During the same period, there was also minimal contraction of suitable habitats in Eastern Cape, Limpopo, Western Cape and KwaZulu Natal provinces (Fig. 6). In terms of land area, this translated to approximately 1800 km² changing from being suitable to unsuitable habitats in all provinces largely remain unchanged (Fig. 6).

3.5. Discussion

Plant and insect geographic distributions are highly responsive to climate variability. In sub-Saharan Africa, temperatures are projected to increase where the southern region will, in all likelihood, experience warmer mean environmental temperature in the warmest quarter due to increased frequency and magnitude of extreme heat events (Kruger and Sekele, 2013; Allen et al., 2014). The range of microhabitat temperatures that were recorded in the patches of *T. fluminensis* were well within the range that is tolerated by *N. abbreviata*. Moreover, prior exposure to sub-lethal temperature can confer resistance to thermal stress in otherwise lethal environments (Stotter and Terblanche, 2009; Mutamiswa et al., 2018) in what is referred to as hardening, for acute exposure and acclimation for relatively longer time scales (Bowler, 2005; Sinclair and Roberts, 2005). This therefore further suggests that the targeted microhabitats provide conditions that ensure population persistence through both non-lethal exposure and sub-lethal exposure.

Our study showed a projected increase in mean temperature in the warmest quarter from current scenario to the 2050 s. This suggests a corresponding decline in warming tolerance for *N. abbreviata* within



Fig. 2. Warming Tolerance (WT) for N. abbreviata under current (a) and 2050 temperatures of the warmest quarter (b).

179

180

181



Fig. 3. Low Temperature Tolerance (LTT) for N. abbreviata under current (a) and 2050 temperatures of the coldest quarter (b).



Fig. 4. ROC curve and AUC of the Maxent model for Tradescantia fluminensis.

 Table 2

 Contribution of environmental variables to the potential distribution of Tradescantia fluminensis Vell (Commelinaceae).

Variable Name	Contribution (%)	Cumulative contribution (%)
Temperature annual range	38.5	38.5
Mean annual Temperature	19.2	57.7
Precipitation of driest quarter	12.7	70.4
Isothermality	8.6	79
Mean Temperature of coldest quarter	5.8	84.8
Height above sea level	5.7	90.5
Annual precipitation	3.7	94.2
Precipitation of warmest quarter	3.6	97.8
Precipitation of wettest quarter	2.2	100

South Africa. There was also an increase in mean temperature in the coldest quarter between current and projected cold tolerance with number of sampling points falling below the CT_{min} . These results

therefore indicate vulnerability of *N. abbreviata* under future climate scenarios. Since we did not investigate the role of phenotypic plasticity in *N. abbreviata* thermal tolerance, the scope of our conclusion is limited to the basal responses to thermal stress in *N. abbreviata*. Although somewhat limited for high temperature tolerance among subtropical ectotherms (Hoffmann and Sgrò, 2011; Araújo et al., 2013; Allen et al., 2014; Gunderson and Stillman, 2015), phenotypic plasticity and evolutionary adaptation is still widely reported to confer resilience to novel climate conditions (Huey et al., 2012; Seebacher et al., 2015; Kingsolver and Buckley, 2017). The net response to the change in climate is however dependent on the relative stability of the environmental selection pressure and the species demographic characteristics such as generation time (Seebacher et al., 2015; Kingsolver and Buckley, 2017).

Our models predicted few areas that are highly suitable for *T. fluminensis* under current climate scenarios. Furthermore, the HSI in these areas was projected to decline by 2050 (HSI > 0.5), thus, becoming moderately suitable with 1800 km² becoming totally unsuitable. However, some currently lowly suitable areas were projected to improve their HSI in the same period with 3900 km² currently unsuitable areas becoming suitable, consequently resulting in a net habitat expansion from 23 900 to 26 000 km²).

These results have several implications on the invasion of *T. fluminensis* and subsequent biological control in South Africa using *N. abbreviata* under both current and future climate scenarios. The current and projected future habitats of *T. fluminensis* largely remain within the fundamental niche of *N. abbreviata* as reflected by the beetles' thermal tolerance. Previous studies have reported how climatic requirements of a biological control agent can pose constraints on the success of a biological control agent (Goolsby et al., 2006; Cowie et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2017). Our niche analyses did not show any mismatches between the species thereby suggesting potential successful biological control of *T. fluminensis* using *N. abbreviata* under current and future climate scenarios.



Fig. 5. Predicted habitat suitability model for T. fluminensis under current (a) and 2050 climate scenarios (b).

5

183 184 185

105



Unsuitable habitat Habitat contraction Habitat expansion Habitat unchanged

Fig. 6. Tradescantia fluminensis suitable habitat shifts due to changing climatic conditions.

Our study also revealed that T. fluminensis distribution in South Africa is highly constrained by climate with limited potential for habitat expansion under climate change. Temperature and precipitation seemed to play a key role in its distribution as indicated by the bioclimatic variables that, in order of importance, mean annual temperature (Bio7), temperature annual range (Bio1) and precipitation in the driest guarter (Bio17) contributed the most on the model (Table 2). Previous reports have indicated that T. fluminensis thrives best in damp habitats in its tropical native region of Brazil (Fowler et al., 2013; Mbande et al., 2019, 2020) even though it also occurs in both tropical and temperate areas in its introduced ranges (Dugdale et al., 2015). It is therefore not surprising that precipitation in the driest quarter was revealed as a limiting factor as the weed will not be able to withstand prolonged dry spells as also supported by contemporary empirical studies (Burns, 2004; Mbande et al., 2019, 2020). Furthermore, T. fluminensis is frost sensitive and thrives best in frost-free areas (Bannister, 1984). This further explains why most areas in South Africa had poor HSI due to harsh winter temperatures that tend to limit T. fluminensis. Moreover, T. fluminensis is sensitive to direct sunlight and requires cool shaded forest habitats making its invasion highly fragmented patches (Standish, 2004; Standish et al., 2004). This therefore suggests that it will require transporting agents for stem fragments, its main propagules, to move from one suitable habitat to another. This effectively eliminates major dispersal agents such as wind and animals (e.g. seed carrying excreta of frugivorous birds) as is the case with several invasive plants (e.g. Schiffman, 1997; Vardien et al., 2012).

Overall, our findings imply that the threat posed by *T. fluminensis* may be highly localised due to limited suitable habitats and capacity to rapidly spread in South Africa. This is of particular importance for policy makers in the prioritisation of resources as weeds that cause severe impact on biodiversity in both spatial and temporal extent including disruption of key ecosystem services may require urgent attention. Here, *T. fluminensis* presents an interesting scenario where potential for spread is limited despite localised major impacts on

biodiversity through its disruption of native seedling recruitment (Standish, 2004; Standish et al., 2004; Mbande et al., 2019, 2020) which may lead to local extinction. For biological control, the major concern is that climate change can have negative impact on the efficacy of control efforts through differential physiological, ecological and evolutionary responses between target weeds and their agents (Sun et al., 2020). By contrast, climate change may also lead to improved biological control of invasive plants. For example, climate warming altered biotic interactions tipping the competition in favour of native species at the expense of non-native species subjected to biological control Lu et al. (2016). In addition, warming can also expand the geographic range of biological control agents leading to improved efficacy against invasive plants in otherwise unsuitable cooler habitats (Lu et al., 2013). Thus, the impacts of climate change on environmental weeds and their biological control agents are multifaceted.

Temperature was the major determinant of the distribution of *T*. *fluminensis* followed by precipitation in the driest quarter which matched with the areas suitable for *N* abbreviata in both current and future climate scenarios. Thus, making biological control a viable management option. However, our insect assays were only based on adult beetles. Yet insect vulnerabilities to thermal stress may be dependent on life-stage (Bowler and Terblanche, 2008; Mutamiswa et al., 2019). We also could not account for humidity and desiccation stress resistance, a major factor mediating insect fitness and performance at various lifestages (Weldon and Taylor, 2010). Future studies should therefore endeavour to account for these physiological aspects in addition to ecological and evolutionary processes for more comprehensive conclusions. Nevertheless, our study still gives important insights into the potential geographic distribution of *T*. *fluminensis* and its agent.

Our study has several implications on the ecology and biological control of IAPs as a whole. We showed that plant invasions are highly responsive to climate and habitat suitability where potential geographic range can be constrained. This implies that, under limited range expansion, the impacts of IAPs may be highly localised. Control measures









F. Chidawanyika, et al.

should therefore be implemented at similar spatial scales despite magnitude of invasion on a national or regional scale relative to other widely prolific invaders. Limited or geographically isolated suitable habitats may lead to fragmented habitats for potential biological control agents. Agent dispersal and abundance may therefore be constrained. In particular, for specialist herbivores such as biological agents where habitat connectivity is associated with abundance and self-dispersal through increased emigration and immigration rates among connected habitats (Hambäck and Göran, 2005; Maguire et al., 2015; Rossetti et al., 2017; Chidawanyika et al., 2019).

Other studies have reported that the limited dispersal among fragmented habitats may lead to intensive plant damage and longer persistence of herbivores on smaller patches (Kean and Barlow, 2000a, 2000b, Hambäck and Göran, 2005; Hines et al., 2005; Jonsen et al., 2007) which could be beneficial for the efficacy of biological control at finer local and shorter time scales. Overtime, this may however lead to population collapse of biological control agents due to density dependent population dynamics under limited resources as posited by the resource concentration hypothesis (Grez and Gonzàlez, 1995) Overall, the impacts of climate and subsequent global change leads to an array of possibilities for the ecology of IAPs and their agents. It is therefore important to understand the role of climate in the biology and ecology of IAPs and their agents in order to predict and enhance the efficacy of biological control under current and future climate scenarios.

Funding

Department of Environmental Affairs Natural Resources Management Program (DEA-NRMP)

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Frank Chidawanyika: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. Gerald Chikowore: Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - review & editing. Reyard Mutamiswa: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

Research funds from the Department of Environmental Affairs Natural Resources Management Program (DEA-NRMP), University of the Free State and National Research Foundation (NRF) to FC are greatly appreciated. Our gratitude also goes to, Milly Gareeb and Samora Mqolombeni for assistance with insect culture maintenance. We are also grateful for comments from two anonymous reviewers that greatly improved the manuscript.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2020.104315.

References

191

192

193

194

Allen, J.L., Clusella Trullas, S., Chown, S.L., 2014, Thermal tolerance of Cvrtobagous salviniae: a biocontrol agent in a changing world. BioControl 59, 357–366. Araújo, M.B., Ferri-Yáñez, F., Bozinovic, F., Marquet, P.A., Valladares, F., Chown, S.L.,

Biological Control 149 (2020) 104315

2013 Heat freezes niche evolution Ecol Lett 16 1206-1219

2013. Heat receives miche evolution. Ecol. Lett. 10, 1200–1219.
Azrag, A.G.A., Pirk, C.W.W., Yusuf, A.A., Pinard, F., Niassy, S., Mosomotai, G., Babin,
2018. Prediction of insect pest distribution as influenced by elevation: Combining
field observations and temperature-dependent development models for the coffee omotai, G., Babin, R. stinkbug, Antestiopsis thunbergii (Gmelin). PLoS One 13, e0199569.

sunkoug, Antestopois thumbergi (Gmelin). PLoS One 13, e0199569.
Bannister, P., 1994. Winter fost reisstance of leaves of some plants from the Three Kings Islands, grown outdoors in Dunedin, New Zealand. N. Z. J. Bot. 22, 303–306.
Bowler, K., 2005. Acclimation, heat shock and hardening. J. Therm. Biol. 30, 125–130.
Bowler, K., Terbhanche, J.S., 2008. Insect thermal tolerance: what is the role of ontogeny, ageing and senescence? Biol. Rev. 83, 339–355.
Burns, J., 2004. A comparison of invasive and noninvasive dayflowers (Commelinaceae) across evenimental nutrient and water oradients. Diver. Distrib. 10, 397–397.

- across experimental nutrient and water gradients. Divers. Distrib. 10, 387–397. Charlesworth, D., Willis, J.H., 2009. The genetics of inbreeding. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10, 783-796
- 783–796. Chidawanyika, F., Mudavanhu, P., Nyamukondiwa, C., 2019. Global climate change as a driver of bottom-up and top-down factors in agricultural landscapes and the fate of host-parasitoid interactions. Front. Ecol. Evol. 7, 80. Chidawanyika, F., Nyamukondiwa, C., Strathie, L., Fischer, K., 2017. Effects of thermal regimes, starvation and age on heat tolerance of the Parthenium beetle Zygogramma interaction and age on heat tolerance of the Parthenium beetle Zygogramma.
- regimes, starvation and age on heat tolerance of the Parthenium beetle Zygogramm bicoloratic following dynamic and static protocols. PLoS One 12, e016937.
 Coetzee, J.A., Byrne, M.J., Hill, M.P., 2007. Predicting the distribution of *Eccritotarsus* catarinensis, a natural enemy released on water hyacinth in South Africa. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 125, 237–247.
 Cowie, B.W., Venturi, G., Byrne, M.J., 2016. Does climate constrain the spread of
- Anthonomus santacruzi, a biological control agent of Solanum mauritianum, in South
- Anthonomus sontacrust, a biological control agent of Solanum mauritanum, in South Africa? Biol. Cont. 101, 1–7.
 Deutsch, C.A., Tewksbury, J.J., Huey, R.B., Sheldon, K.S., Ghalambor, C.K., Haak, D.C., Martin, P.R., 2008. Impacts of climate warming on terrestrial ectotherms across la-titude. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 6668–6672.
 Dugdale, T.M., McLaren, D.A., Conran, J.G., 2015. The biology of Australian weeds 65. Tradescantia fluminensis Vell. Plant Prot. Q. 30, 117–125.
 Bith J. Consum, C.M. Andescen, P.D. Puelle, M. Ereire, S. Cuinen, A. Hiimane, P. J.
- Tradescantia fluminensis Vell, Plant Prot. Q. 30, 117–125.
 Elith, J., Graham, C.H., Anderson, R.P., Dudik, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., Hijmans, R.J., Huettmann, F., Leathwick, J.R., Lehmann, A., Li, J., Lohmann, L.G., Loiselle, B.A., Manion, G., Moritz, C., Nakamura, M., Nakazawa, Y., Overton, J.M.M., Townsend, P.A., Phillips, S.J., Richardson, K., Scacheti-Pereira, R., Schapire, R.E., Soberón, J., Williams, S., Wisz, M.S., Zimmermann, N.E., 2006. Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography 29, 129–151.
 Fick, S.E., Hijmans, R.J., 2017. WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. Int. J. Climatol. 37, 4302–4315.
 Forrest, J.R., 2016. Complex responses of insect phenology to climate change. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 17, 49–54.
 Fowler, S.V., Barreto, R., Dodd, S., Macedo, D.M., Paynter, Q., Pedrosa-Macedo, J.H.,

- insect sci. 17, 49–54.
 Fowler, S.V., Barreto, R., Dodd, S., Macedo, D.M., Paynter, Q., Pedrosa-Macedo, J.H., Pereira, O.L., Peterson, P., Smith, L., Waipara, N., Winks, C.J., 2013. Tradescantia fluminensis, an exotic weed affecting native forest regeneration in New Zealand: Ecological surveys, safety tests and releases of four biocontrol agents from Brazil. Biol. Control 64, 323-329.
- Biol. Control 64, 323–329. Goolsby, J.A., van Klinken, R.D., Palmer, W.A., 2006. Maximising the contribution of native-range studies towards the identification and prioritisation of weed biocontrol agents. Aust. J. Entomol. 45, 276–286. Grez, A.A., González, F.H., 1995. Resource concentration hypothesis: effect of host plant patch size on density of herbivorous insects. Oecologia 103, 471–474.
- patch size on density of herbivorous insects. Oecologia 103, 471–474. Gunderson, A.R., Stillman, J.H., 2015. Phasicity in thermal tolerance has limited po-tential to buffer ectotherms from global warming. Proc. R. Soc. B. 282, 2015040 Hambäck, P.A., Göran, E., 2005. Patch area, population density and the scaling of m gration rates: the resource concentration hypothesis revisited. Ecol. Lett. 8, 1057–1065. 401.
- Henderson, L., 2007. Invasive, naturalized and casual alien plants in so ern Africa:
- summary based on the Southern African Plant Invaders Atlas (SAPIA). Bothalia 37, 215-248
- 215–248. Hiji oka, Y., Matsuoka, Y., Nishimoto, H., Masui, T., Kainuma, M., 2008. Global GHG emission scenarios under GHG concentration stabilization targets. J. Glob. Environ. Eng. 13, 97–108. Hines, J., Lynch, M.E., Denno, R.F., 2005. Sap-feeding insect communities as indicators of habitat fragmentation and nutrient subsidies. J. Insect Conserv. 9, 261–280.
- Hoffmann, A.A., Sgrò, C.M., 2011. Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. Nature 470, 479–485.
- 4/0, 479–465. wr. B., Kearney, M.R., Krockenberger, A., Holtum, J.A.M., Jess, M., Williams, S.E., 2012. Predicting organismal vulnerability to climate warming: roles of behaviour, physiology and adaptation. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B. 367, 1665–1679. regovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCO), 2013. Climate Change 2013: The
- rgovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Working Group 1 contribution to the IPCC 5th Assessment Report (AR5). http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg1/. sen, I.D., Bourchier, R.S., Roland, J., 2007. Influence of dispersal, stochasticity, and an Allee effect on the persistence of weed biological introductions. Ecol. Model. 203, 521–526.
- Kean, J.M., Barlow, N.D., 2000a. Effects of dispersal on local population increase. Ecol. Lett. 3, 479-482.
- Lett. 3, 479–482.
 Kean, J.M., Barlow, N.D., 2000b. The effects of density-dependence and local dispersal in individual-based stochastic metapopulations. Olkos 88, 282–290.
 Kingsolver, J.G., Buckley, L.B., 2017. Evolution of plasticity and adaptive responses to climate change along climate gradients. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 284, 20170386.
 https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0386.
 Kriticos, D., Sutherst, R., Brown, J., Adkins, S., Maywald, G., 2003. Climate change and the potential distribution of an invasive alien plant: Acacia nilotica ssp. indica in America I. Appl. Ecol. 01, 313. 126.
- Australia, J. Appl. Ecol. 40, 111–124. Kruger, A.C., Sekele, S.S., 2013. Trends in extreme temperature indices in South Africa:

7

F. Chidawanyika, et al.

1962-2009 Int J Climatol 33 661-676

- 1962–2009. Int. J. Climatol. 33, 601–670.
 Lehmann, P., Ammunét, T., Barton, M., Battisti, A., Eigenbrode, S.D., Jespen, J.U., Kalinkat, G., Neuvonen, S., Nimelä, P., Terblanche, J.S., Økland, B., Björkman, C., 2020. Complex responses of global insect pests to climate warming. Front. Environ.
- Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2160.
 Lu, X., Siemann, E., Shao, X., Wei, H., Ding, J., 2013. Climate warming affects biological invasions by shifting interactions of plants and herbivores. Global Change Biol. 19, 2020. 2047. 2339-2347
- 2339-2347.
 Lu, X., Siemann, E., He, M., Wei, H., Shao, X., Ding, J., 2016. Warming benefits a native species competing with an invasive congener in the presence of a biocontrol beetle. New Phytol. 211 (1371–1381), 137.
 Maguire, D.Y., James, P.M.A., Buddle, C.M., Bennett, E.M., 2015. Landscape connectivity and insect herbivory: A framework for understanding tradeoffs among ecosystem services. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 4, 73–84.
 Mbande, A., Tedder, M., Chidawanyika, F., 2019. Differential life-history responses in Noolema abbreviata, a biological control agent for Tradescantin fluminensis, under water and nitrogen gradients. Arthropod Plant Interact. 13, 57–70.
 Mbande, A., Tedder, M., Chidawanyika, F., 2020. Offspring diet supersedes the transgenerational effects of parental diet in a specialist herbivore Noolema abbreviatu under

- nerational effects of parental diet in a specialist herbivore Neolema abbreviata under

- nerational effects of parental diet in a specialist herbivore Neolema abbreviata under manipulated foliar nitrogen variability. Insect Sci. 27, 361–374.
 Muskett, P.C., Paterson, I.D., Coetzee, J.A., 2020. Ground-truthing climate-matching predictions in a post-release evaluation. Biol. Control 144, 104217.
 Mutamiswa, R., Chidawanyika, F., Nyamukondiwa, C., 2017. Dominance of spotted stemborer, *Chilo parellus* Swinhoe (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) over indigenous stem-borer species in Africa's changing climates: ecological and thermal biology perspec-tives. Agr. Forest Entomol. 19, 344–356.
 Mutamiswa, R., Chidawanyika, F., Nyamukondiwa, C., 2018. Superior basal and plastic thermal responses to environmental heterogeneity in invasive exotic stemborer *Chilo parellus* Swinhoe over indigenous *Buseola fusca* (Fuller) and *Sesamia calamistis* Hampson: Thermal sensitivity aid *C. partellus* invasiveness. Physiol. Entomol. 43, 108–119. Hampson: 108–119.
- Nutamiswa, R., Machekano, H., Chidawanyika, F., Nyamukondiwa, C., 2019. Life-stage related responses to combined effects of acclimation temperature and humidity on
- related responses to combined effects of acclimation temperature and humidity on the thermal tolerance of *Chilo partellus* (Swinhoe) (Lepidoptera: Crambidae). J. Therm. Biol. 79, 85–94. ional Aeronautics and Space Administration, 2000. Shuttle Radar Topography Mission 1 Arc-Second Global. U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) Center.
- and Science (EROS) Center.
 Paterson, I.D., Coetzee, J.A., Weyl, P., Griffith, T.C., Voogt, N., Hill, M., 2019. Cryptic species of a water hyacinth biological control agent revealed in South Africa: host specificity, impact, and thermal tolerance. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 167, 682–691.
 Phillips, S.J., Anderson, R.P., Schapire, R.E., 2006. Maximum entropy modelling of species geographic distributions. Ecol. Model. 190, 231–259.
 R Development Core Team, 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical com-

- R Development Core Team, 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical com-puting. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
 Ramanand, H., McConachie, A.J., Olckers, T., 2017. Thermal tolerance of *lathrips tractabilis*, a biological control agent of *Campuloclinium macrocephalum* recently es-tablished in South Africa. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 162, 234–242.
 Rossetti, M.R., Tscharntke, T., Aguilar, R., Batáry, P., 2017. Responses of insect

Biological Control 149 (2020) 104315

herbivores and herbivory to habitat fragmentation: a hierarchical meta-analysis.

- Berol, Lett. 20, 264–272.
 Schiffman, P.M., 1997. Animal-mediated dispersal and disturbance: driving forces behind alien plant naturalization. In: Luken, J.O., Thieret, J.W. (Eds.), Assessment and Management of Plant Invasions. Springer Series on Environmental Management. Springer, New York, NY.
- Springer, New York, NY. Schwarzländer, M., Moran, V.C., Raghu, S., 2018. Constraints in weed biological control: contrasting responses by implementing nations. BioControl 63, 313–317. Seebacher, F., White, C.R., Franklin, C.E., 2015. Physiological plasticity increases resi-lience of ectothermic animals to climate change. Nat. Clim. Change 5, 61–66. Sinclair, B.J., Roberts, S.P., 2005. Acclimation, shock and hardening in the cold. J. Therm. Biol. 30, 5557–5562.
- Biol. 30, 5557–5562.
 Standish, R.J., 2004. Impact of an invasive clonal herb on epigaeic invertebrates in forest remnants in New Zealand. Biol. Conserv. 116, 49–58.
 Standish, R.J., Robertson, A.W., Williams, P.A., 2001. The impact of an invasive weed *Tradescantia fluminensis* on native forest regeneration. J. Appl. Ecol. 38, 1253–1263.
 Standish, R.J., Williams, P.A., Robertson, A.W., Scott, N.A., Hedderley, D.J., 2004. Invasion by a perennial herb increases decomposition rate and alters nutrient arealability in scores transactor loadward forest removement. Biol Janedons 6, 71, 81.
- availability in warm temperate lowland forest remnants. Biol. Invasions 6, 71–81, Stotter, R.L., Terblanche, J.S., 2009. Low-temperature tolerance of false codling moth *Thaumatotibia* leacortea (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in South Africa. J.
- Thaumdotikia leucotetta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: 1011), Daspin Joseff 1, 2011, Daspin Jos Sun,
- H., 2017. Climatic suitability ranking of biological control candidates: a biogeo-graphic approach for ragweed management in Europe. Ecosphere 8, e01731.
 Sun, Y., Ding, J., Siemann, E., Keller, S.R., 2020. Biocontrol of invasive weeds under climate change: progress, challenges and management implications. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 38, 72–78.
 Tererai, F., Wood, A.R., 2014. On the present and potential distribution of Ageratina adenophren (Asteracea) in South Africa. S. Afri, J. Bot. 95, 152–158.
 van Vuuren, D.P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., Hurtt, G.C. Kram, T. Krey, V. Lamazure, I.F. Masui, T. Weinchausen M. Nakicenovic N.

- Afri. J. Bot. 81, 81-94.
- Wang, R., Wang, Y., 2006. Invasion dynamics and potential spread of the invasive alien plant species Ageratina adenophora (Asteraceae) in China. Divers. Distrib. 12, 397-408
- veruuon, U.W., Taylor, P.W., 2010. Desiccation resistance of adult Queensland fruit flies Bactrocera tryoni decreases with age. Physiol. Entomol. 35, 385–390.
 Wu, T., Lu, Y., Fang, Y., Xin, X., Li, Li, Li, W., Jie, W., Zhang, J., Liu, Y., Zhang, L., Zhang, F., Zhang, Y., Wu, F., Li, J., Chu, M., Wang, W., Shi, X., Liu, X., Wei, M., Huang, A., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., 2019. The Beijing climate center climate system model (BCC-CSM): the main progress from CMIP5 to CMIP6. Geosci. Model Dev. 12, 1573–1600.
 Yackulic, C.B., Chandler, R., Zipkin, E.F., Royle, J.A., Nichols, J.D., Campbell Grant, E.H., Veran, S., 2013. Presence-only modeling using MAXENT: when can we trust the in-ferences? Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 236–243.